Genetic knockout and pharmacological inhibition of galectin-3 blocks microglia reactivity and protects from retinal degeneration

INAUGURAL-DISSERTATION

Zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln



vorgelegt von

Mona Tabel

aus Dinslaken

Köln 2022

Berichterstatter/in:

Prof. Dr. Thomas Langmann

Prof. Dr. Thorsten Hoppe

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:09.02.2022

For my Family

"Keep away from people who try to belittle your ambitions.

Small people always do that, but the really great make you feel

that you, too, can become great."

— Mark Twain

Table of contents

Table of	of con	itents	I
Zusam	menf	assung	IV
Summa	ary		VI
List of	figur	es	VII
List of	table	s	IX
List of	ohhr	oviotions	VI
	abbr		AI
1.	Int	roduction	1
1.1	The	e retina: structure and function	1
1.2	Age	e-related macular degeneration	4
1.3	Mie	croglia-immune cells of the brain and retina	7
1.3	3.1	Microglia in the central nervous system	7
1.3	3.2	Resting microglia and homeostatic function	9
1.3	3.3	Microglia in retinal damage	11
1.3	3.4	Microglia as a therapeutic target	15
1.4	Gal	ectin-3	16
1.4	4.1	Structure and localization of galectin-3	16
1.4	4.2	Galectin-3 in neurodegenerative diseases	19
1.4	4.3	Galectin-3 as a target for immunomodulation	21
1.5	Ain	n of the study	23
2.	Ma	terial and methods	24
2.1	Ma	terial	24
2.1	1.1	Mouse lines and husbandry	24
2.1	1.2	Devices	24
2.1	1.3	Chemicals and reagents	25
	2.1.3.	1 General Buffers and reagents	
/ 	2.1.3.	2 Chemicals and reagents for molecular biological analysis	
7	2.1.3.	3 Chemicals and reagents for immunhistochemical analysis	
7	2.1.3.4	4 Chemicals and reagents for mouse experiments	
2.1	1.4	Buffers and solutions	

2.1.4	1 Buffers and solutions for molecular biological analysis
2.1.4	2 Buffers and solutions for immunohistochemically analysis
2.1.5	Enzymes
2.1.6	Primer und probes
2.1.7	Antibodies
2.1.8	Kits and software
2.2 Me	sethods
2.2.1	Mouse experiments
2.2.1	1 Mouse husbandry
2.2.1	2 Experimental mouse line
2.2.1	3 Galectin-3 inhibition
2.2.1	4 Experimental design
2.2.1	5 Optical coherence tomography (OCT)
2.2.2	Human donor samples
2.2.3	Molecular biological analysis
2.2.3	1 Isolation of genomic DNA for genotyping
2.2.3	2 Genotyping of <i>Lgals</i> 3-KO
2.2.3	3 RNA isolation and reverse transcription
2.2.3	4 Quantitative real-time PCR
2.2.3	5 In situ hybridization: RNA Scope®
2.2.4	Immunohistological analysis
2.2.4	1 Immunohistochemistry analysis of retinal and RPE flat mounts
2.2.4	2 Immunohistochemistry analysis of cryotome sections
3 Re	sults
3.1 Mi	croglia regulates LGALS3 expression in AMD patients
3.2 Im deg	munological effect of genetic knockout of galectin-3 in light-induced generation model40
3.2.1	The deficiency of galectin-3 in <i>Lgals3</i> -KO mice reduced microglia migration in the ONL
3.2.2	The deficiency of galectin-3 in <i>Lgals</i> 3-KO mice reduces retinal microglia reactivity
3.2.3	The deficiency of galectin-3 in <i>Lgals3</i> -KO mice reduces microglia reactivity in RPE
3.2.4	Retinal degeneration is reduced in <i>Lgals3-KO</i> mice46

3.3	Immunomodulatory effect by galectin-3 inhibition, via TD139, in light- induced degeneration model	
3.3.	1 TD139 inhibition as a potential treatment option for dry AMD48	
3.3.	2 Galectin-3 is upregulated in light induced degeneration model49	
3.3.	3 The inhibition of galectin-3 via TD139 prevents microglia migration in the retina	
3.3.	4 The inhibition of galectin-3 via TD139 reduces retinal microglia reactivity.53	
3.3.	5 Microglia in the OPL remains uninfected by inhibition via TD13955	
3.3.	6 The inhibition of galectin-3 via TD139 reduces microglia reactivity in RPE56	
3.3.	7 TD139-treatment rescued reduction of retinal thickness post light exposure 58	
3.4	Model of galectin-3 inhibition via TD13960	
4.	Discussion61	
4.1	Galectin-3 expression in AMD61	
4.2	4.2 Immunological effect of galectin-3 deficiency and pharmacological inhibition	
	on light-induced degeneration	
4.3	Conclusion	
5.	References	
6.	Danksagung95	
7.	Erklärung96	
8.	Curriculum vitae Fehler! Textmarke nicht definiert.	

Zusammenfassung

Die altersbedingte Makuladegeneration (AMD) ist eine der häufigsten degenerativen Erkrankungen in der Netzhaut in der westlichen Welt. Es handelt sich hierbei um eine komplexe genetische und multifaktorielle degenerative Erkrankung, die bei einem schweren Verlauf zur Erblindung führen kann. Eine fehlerhafte Funktion des angeborenen Immunsystems führt zu einer chronischen Aktivierung von speziellen Gewebsmakrophagen, den Mikrogliazellen, in der Netzhaut. Diese Zellen sind in ihrer ursprünglichen Form für die Aufrechterhaltung der Homöostase essentiell. Eine chronische Aktivierung dieser Zellen führt jedoch durch ihre proinflammatorischen und neurotoxischen Eigenschaften zu einem schnellen Fortschreiten der degenerativen Erkrankung. Ziel vieler Studien ist es daher eine Therapie zu entwickeln, die neurotoxische Eigenschaften der Mikroglia hemmt, jedoch die Fähigkeit die Homöostase aufrechtzuerhalten erhält. Solche immunmodulatorischen Zielstrukturen stellen nicht nur für die AMD eine therapeutische Möglichkeit dar. Eine mögliche Zielstruktur hierfür ist die Modulation des Proteins, Galektin-3, welches ein ß -Galaktose bindendes Protein ist, das in Mikrogliazellen nach Reaktivierung hochreguliert wird. Auch in anderen Krankheiten, wie Alzheimer, Huntington und Parkinson, könnte eine Modulation von Galectin-3 zielführend sein, da dort eine erhöhte Mikrogliaaktivität und zugleich eine verstärkte Galektin-3 Expression festgestellt werden konnte.

Die Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit zeigen, dass Mikroglia bei AMD Patienten ein hohes Maß an Galektin-3 exprimieren, welches in gesunden Menschen nur wenig detektiert werden kann. Mit Hilfe von molekular biologischen Expressionsanalysen konnte festgestellt werden, dass die Galektin-3 Expression mit der für Mikroglia spezifischen Allograft inflammatory factor-1, (AIF-1) Expression kolokalisiert ist. Im Licht-induzierten Degenerationsmodell der Netzhaut, welches ein etabliertes Mausmodell der trockenen AMD darstellt, zeigen die Ergebnisse, das sowohl der Verlust des funktionierenden Genes für Galektin-3 (Lgals3-KO Mäuse) sowie auch die Inhibition mittels eines kleinen chemischen Moleküls, TD139, eine hemmende Wirkung auf residente Mikrogliazellen haben. Analysen zum Migrationsverhalten der Mikrogliazellen deuten darauf hin, dass Galectin-3 die Migration von Mikrogliazellen begünstigt, welches durch eine Inhibition oder einem genetischen Verlust reduziert werden konnte. Zudem wurden die Level proinflammatorischer Zytokine in der Netzhaut und dem retinalen Pigmentepithel, sowie die Degeneration der Netzhaut, inklusive der Photorezeptorzellschicht reduziert.

Zusammenfassend zeigt diese Arbeit einen Zusammenhang der Mikrogliaaktivität und der erhöhten Galectin-3 Expression im Gewebe bei Mäusen im Licht-induzierten Degenerationsmodell, sowie auch in AMD Patienten. Eine Immunmodulation von Galektin-3 mit einem Inhibitor, TD139, stellt somit eine mögliche Zielstruktur für die Therapie neurodegenerativer Erkrankungen, wie AMD, dar.

Summary

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is one of the most common degenerative diseases of the retina in the western world. It is a complex genetic and multifactorial degenerative disease, which can lead to blindness. A dysfunction of the innate immune system leads to a chronic activation of tissue macrophages, microglia, in the retina. These cells are responsible for maintaining homeostasis in healthy tissue. However, chronic activation of these cells leads to rapid progression of degenerative diseases due to their pro- inflammatory and neurotoxic properties. The goal of many studies is to develop a therapy that inhibits the neurotoxic properties of microglia while maintaining their ability for homeostasis. Such immunomodulatory targets represent a therapeutic possibility not only for AMD. One possible target is the modulation of the protein, galectin-3, which is a ß-galactose binding protein that is upregulated in microglia after reactivation. In other diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease, Huntington's disease and Parkinson's disease, modulation of galectin-3 may also be beneficial, in these diseases increased microglia activity and galectin-3 expression have been observed.

The results of this work demonstrate that microglia in AMD patients express a high level of galectin-3, which is not the case in healthy individuals. Using molecular biological expression analysis, galectin-3 expression was found to be co- localized with Allograft inflammatory factor-1, *AIF-1*, expression specific for microglia. In the light induced degeneration model of the retina, which is an established mouse model of dry AMD, the results show that the deficiency of galectin-3 (*Lgals3*-KO) and the inhibition by a small chemical molecule, TD139, have an inhibitory effect on resident microglia cells. Analyses of the migration of microglia suggest that galectin-3 promotes microglia migration, which could be reduced by inhibition or genetic loss of galectin-3. In addition, the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the retina and retinal pigment epithelium was reduced, as well as the degeneration of the retina, including the photoreceptor cell layer.

In conclusion, this study shows a correlation of microglia activity and increased galectin-3 expression in tissues of mice in the light-induced degeneration model, as well as in AMD patients. Thus, immunomodulation of galectin-3 with an inhibitor, TD139, represents a potential target for the therapy of neurodegenerative diseases, such as AMD.

List of figures

Figure 1: Anatomy of the human eye and the retina
Figure 2: Perception of the different stages in AMD patients
Figure 3: Fundus images of AMD patients in different stages
Figure 4: Microglia development in the mouse retina
Figure 5: Spatial distribution of microglia in mouse retina 10
Figure 6: Microglia react to different molecules in their environment, e.g., molecules
released by neurons
Figure 7: Schematic representation of microglial activity in the retina
Figure 8: Schematic representation of the structure of galectins
Figure 9: Gene structure of galectin-3
Figure 10: Genetic background of the Lgals3 knockout mouse
Figure 11: LGALS3 expression in human cryotome sections from healthy donor and
AMD patient
Figure 12: The deficiency of galectin-3 in Lgals3-KO mice reduced migration of Iba-1 ⁺
microglia
Figure 13: Microglia localization and morphology in retinas of Lgals3-KO and WT mice.
Figure 14: Microglia localization and morphology in RPE of Lgals3-KO mice
Figure 15: TD139 prevents light- induced retinal degeneration
Figure 16: Galectin-3 inhibition via TD139 in Lgals3-KO mice
Figure 17: Galectin-3 expression in BALB/cJ 50
Figure 18: Lgals3 expression in murine light-induced degeneration model
Figure 19: Gene expression of galectin-3 52

Figure 20: TD139 treatment dampens microglia migration in light induced degeneration.

Figure 21: Microglia localization and morphology in murine retinas of light exposed
BALB/cJ mice
Figure 22: Morphological changes in OPL of BALB/cJ mice post light exposure
Figure 23: Localization and morphology of microglia in the RPE of BALB/c mice 57
Figure 24: TD139 prevents light- induced retinal degeneration
Figure 25: Schematic representation of the retina under healthy, damaged, and inhibited
conditions 60

List of tables

Table 1: List of mouse lines used in this study	24
Table 2: Equipment for mouse husbandry	24
Table 3: List of devices	24
Table 4: List of general buffers and reagents	25
Table 5: List of chemicals and reagents for genotyping	26
Table 6: List of chemicals and reagents for in situ hybridization	26
Table 7: List of chemicals and reagents for RNA isolation	26
Table 8 : List of chemicals and reagents for immunhistological stainings	27
Table 9: List of chemicals and reagents for anesthesia and optical coherence tomogram	aphy
	27
Table 10: List of chemicals and reagents for pharmacological inhibition	28
Table 11: Recipes for buffers and solutions used for genotyping	28
Table 12: Recipes for buffers and solutions used for in situ hybridization	28
Table 13: Recipes for buffers and solutions used in whole mount staining	29
Table 14: Recipes for buffers and solutions used for cryostaining	29
Table 15: List of enzymes for genotyping	29
Table 16: List of enzymes for cDNA synthesis	29
Table 17: Genotyping primer	30
Table 18: Primer quantitative real-time PCR	30
Table 19: List of probes used for in situ hybridization	30
Table 20: List of primary and secondary antibodies used in this study	31
Table 21: List of kits	31
Table 22: List of software used in this study	31
Table 23: Recipe of galectin-3 genotyping PCR	35

able 24: Galectin-3 PCR temperature profile

List of abbreviations

α	alpha
β	beta
γ	gamma
μm	micrometer
Аβ	amyloid ß
AIF-1	Allograft inflammatory factor-1
AMD	Age-related macular degeneration
AP	Activator protein
ARMS2	Age-related maculopathy susceptibility 2
ATP	Adenosintriphosphate
BBB	Blood brain barrier
BBB BCB	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier
BBB BCB BDNF	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BBB BCB BDNF bHLH	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier brain-derived neurotrophic factor basic helix-loop-helix
BBB BCB BDNF bHLH BM	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier brain-derived neurotrophic factor basic helix-loop-helix Bruch's membrane
BBB BCB BDNF bHLH BM Bp	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier brain-derived neurotrophic factor basic helix-loop-helix Bruch's membrane Base pair
BBB BCB BDNF bHLH BM Bp BRB	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier brain-derived neurotrophic factor basic helix-loop-helix Bruch's membrane Base pair Blood retina barrier
BBB BCB BDNF bHLH BM Bp BRB BSA	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier brain-derived neurotrophic factor basic helix-loop-helix Bruch's membrane Base pair Blood retina barrier Bovine serum albumin
BBB BCB BDNF bHLH BM Bp BRB BSA	Blood brain barrier blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier brain-derived neurotrophic factor basic helix-loop-helix Bruch's membrane Base pair Blood retina barrier Bovine serum albumin

C3 Complement factor 3

C3aR	Complement receptor 3
CCL2	C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 2
CD200	cluster of differentiation-200
CD200R	cluster of differentiation receptor
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CFH	Complement factor H
CNS	Central nervous system
CNV	Choroidal neovascularization
cAMP	Cyclisches Adenosinmonophosphat
CRD	carbohydrate recognition domain
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
CRE-Motif	cAMP-dependent response element
CSFR1	Colony stimulating factor 1 receptor
Cx3cr1	C-X3-C Motif Chemokine Receptor 1
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular patterns
DAP12	DNAX-activating protein of 12 kDa
DBI	Diazepam binding inhibitor protein
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Desoxyribonucleic acid
DOX	Doxorubicin
E	Embryonic day

EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

Ets	Erythroblast Transformation S	Specific
-----	-------------------------------	----------

GA	Geographic	atrophy
	<u> </u>	1 1

- GCL Ganglion cell layer
- GFAP glial fibrillary acidic protein
- GFP green fluorescent protein

Н	Hour
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HTRA1	High temperature requirement A serine peptidase 1

i.p.	Intraperitoneal
IBA-1	Ionizing calcium-binding adaptor molecule-1
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
INL	Inner nuclear layer
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide-synthase
IPL	Inner plexiform layer
IRF8	Interferon regulatory factor 8
IS	Inner segments
IVC	Individual ventilated cages
Kb	kilo base

kDa	Kilodalton

KO Knockout

Lgals3	galectin 3 gene
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
min	Minute
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
NDS	Normal donkey serum
NF-κB	Nuclear factor 'kappa light chain enhancer' of activated B-cells
NO	nitrogen monoxide
NASH	non-alcoholic steatoHepatitis
ONL	Outer nuclear layer
OPL	Outer plexiform layer
OS	Outer segments
Р	Postnatal day
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-L1-	Programmed cell Death protein 1
pН	Potenia Hydrogenii, negative decadic logarithm of the H3O+ concentration
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor

PU box binding 1
Ribonucleic acid
Reactive oxygen species
Retinal pigment epithelium
Room temperature
Seconds
Spectral domain optical coherence tomography
Standard error of the mean
sis-inducible element
Sialic acid binding immunoglobulin type lectin
specificity protein 1
Subretinal space
Tris-borate-EDTA buffer
thio-digalactoside inhibitor
Toll-like receptor
Tumor necrosis factor
Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells 2
Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane
Translocator protein

U Units

UV ultraviolet

V Volt

VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

WT Wild type

1. Introduction

1.1 The retina: structure and function

One of the five sensory organs in the human body is the eye, which enables the perception of the environment. The eye consists of many different components that perform their own tasks (Giblin *et al.*, 2016). Besides the sclera, pupil and iris, which are familiar to most people because they can be seen immediately, there are other parts that are very important for the visual ability. Most of the eye is inconspicuous, but the inner parts of the eye, such as the cornea, lens, aqueous humor, ciliary muscle, rectus medialis muscle, rectus lateralis muscle, vitreous humor, choroid, optic nerve, retinal pigment epithelium, retina and medullary sheath, all have specific functions and are essential for vision (Malhotra *et al.*, 2011). The vitreous fills the center of the eye, and its clear structure allows light to pass unobstructed through the transparent cornea and pupil onto the retina (Fig. 1a). The lens focuses the light that has entered the eye through the pupil and controls the amount of light transmitting to the retina.



Figure 1: Anatomy of the human eye and the retina. a Schematic representation of a human healthy eye. Illustration from Chader *et al.*, 2013 (Chader *et al.*, 2013). b Schematic overview of all cells of the retina in homeostasis state. The mammalian retina is distributed in three cellular layers and two synaptic (plexiform) layers. 1: RPE; 2: outer segment; 3: inner segment; 4: outer nuclear layer; 5: outer plexiform layer; 6: inner nuclear layer; 7: inner plexiform layer; 8: ganglion cell layer. Modified from Karlstetter, Marcus *et al.*, 2010.

The retina plays an important role in the perception of our environment and enables us to see our counterpart. It has a multilayered structure with about 55 different cell types in the retina, and each cell type has a different function (Masland, 2001). The retina lines, the inside of the eye, is covered by the sclera and the choroid (Bhutto et al., 2012; Borrelli et al., 2018). In order for the environment to be perceived, the cornea and lens collect light and focus it to the macula, the center of the retina. In the macula lies the *fovea*, the point of the sharpest vision (Chader et al., 2013). The retina, which is adjacent to the retinal pigment epithelium in the back of the eye, is a very light-sensitive tissue that creates an image, converts that image into electrical signals, and transmits those signals to the brain via the optic nerve (Bhutto et al., 2012; Delgado-Bonal et al., 2016). The retina is part of the central nervous system since it originates from the embryonic diencephalon and has an immune- privilege, because of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCB) and blood-retinal barrier (BRB) (Galea et al., 2007; Wraith et al., 2012). The arrangement of the retina is structured in such a way that light must first pass through the various complex layers of the retina in order to transport the signal from the light-sensitive photoreceptors to the optic nerve (Lamb, 2016). The mammalian retina is composed of different highly specific cells distributed in three cellular layers and two synaptic (plexiform) layers (Godinho et al., 2005; Hoon et al., 2014). The outermost layer of the retina is the photoreceptor layer. There are 5 classes of neurons in the retina: Photoreceptors, horizontal cells, bipolar cells, amacrine cells and retinal ganglion cells (Fig. 1b). There are two different types of photoreceptors in the eye, rods and cones, where the encoding of visual information begins (Ingram et al., 2016). The perception of light energy in photoreceptors leads to changes in membrane potential, which alters the release of neurotransmitters. Both cell types are connected to the outer segment by the connecting cilium and differ in their perception of light (Fain et al., 1973; Horst et al., 1990). Rods are very light-sensitive cells that can detect single photons (Fain et al., 1973). Therefore, these cells enable vision in dim light and at night. Cones handle the perception of bright and colored light. In the human retina, there are about 20 times more rods than cones. However, it is striking that in the center of the sharpest vision, the fovea centralis, an enrichment of cones is characteristic, whereas rods are little represented there. At the point of the sharpest vision, there is one cone per bipolar cell and one ganglion cell, which is crucial for the visual function of this central point of the retina (Provis *et al.*, 2013).

Important for the visual cycle are the so-called opsins, which are enriched in the photoreceptor outer segments (OS). Opsins belong to the family of heptahelical

transmembrane proteins (G-protein coupled receptors) and are considered light-sensitive proteins (Fredriksson et al., 2005; Hur et al., 2002). There are two different groups of opsins; in cones there are mainly opsins of the photopsin group, leading to the capability of color vision. In rods, there are scotopsins, which enable vision in darkness (Ebrey *et al.*, 2001). Absorption of a photon of an opsin pigment in rods leads to a conformational change of chromophore 11-cis-retinal (Chen, P. et al., 2001). The conformational change of opsins in turn leads to subsequent binding of intracellular G protein. Opsins, together with chromophores, form light-sensitive pigment molecules such as rhodopsin, which trigger visual signal transduction (Nickle et al., 2007; Radu et al., 2008). This signal from the outer plexiform layer (OPL) is transduced through the dendrites of bipolar cells and horizontal cells in the inner nuclear layer (IPL) (Wässle, 2004). Horizontal cells are neurons that control lateral interactions within the retina (Schubert *et al.*, 2010). The bipolar cells then transmit the signal via their dendrites to another type of neuron, the amacrine cells; they belong to the interneurons, in the inner plexiform layer to the ganglion cell layer (Purves et al., 2001). Whereby the ganglion cells transmit the signal via their axons to the optic nerve though the signal reaches the brain (Dhande et al., 2014; Tian, N. et al., 2003).

In addition to the five major groups of neurons that structure the different layers of the retina, the retina has other essential cells that maintain and function the retina (Masland, 2001). In the mammalian retina there are among others the glial cells, which include Müller glia cells, astroglia cells and microglia cells (Vecino et al., 2016). Müller glia cells, along with neurons, are the most abundant cell types in the retina. They are elongated, slightly branched cells that extend from the inner to the outer retina and contribute to the boundary of the retina. In addition to providing stability to the retina, Müller cells are also responsible for supplying the ganglion cells and removing excess metabolites. Müller cells are thought to have lightconducting functions as well, allowing light to pass through unobstructed (Bringmann et al., 2006; Newman, E. et al., 1996; Vecino et al., 2016). Microglia are probably the most abundant glial cells in the mammalian retina. Mainly, these cells are located in the nerve fiber layers and are involved in supplying neurons via blood vessels (De Hoz et al., 2016; Vecino *et al.*, 2016). Mostly, microglia are directly connected to neurons, assume the fluid regulation of the brain and are significantly involved in the development of the blood-retinal barrier (Nickle et al., 2007; Vecino et al., 2016). Microglia are the smallest group of glial cells, accounting for approximately 20% of all glial cells. As cells of the central nervous system, microglia undertake phagocytosis, antigen presentation and have an impact on

embryonic development. They possess highly branches with which they scan their environment (Langmann, 2007; Silverman *et al.*, 2018).

1.2 Age-related macular degeneration

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD), the most common chronic eye disease in the western world, predominantly affects people over 55 years and impairs vision (Congdon *et al.*, 2004). Around 50% of age-related blindness is due to AMD. Worldwide, it affects about 170 million people (Pennington *et al.*, 2016). First signs of the disease can be detected by optical coherence tomography (OCT) even before there are limitations in vision (Cicinelli *et al.*, 2018). However, if both eyes are affected, there are often severe limitations in central vision (Coleman *et al.*, 2008). As the name implies, this eye disease affects the macula, which is the point of the sharpest vision in the retina (Fig. 2). The cells in the macula affects the central vision, that enables face recognition and the ability to read books (Mitchell *et al.*, 2018). In AMD, faces are perceived more and more distorted and the ability to see colors and contrasts are impaired, until finally the impairment is significant that only a black spot can be perceived in the central field of vision (Komatsu, 2006).



Figure 2: Perception of the different stages in AMD patients. At the beginning of AMD, early AMD, images/faces are often perceived distorted. In the further course, intermediate AMD, blind spots appear and colors are no longer recognized. The late AMD is characterized by loss of vision in the central area.

There are two different forms of AMD, wet and dry AMD, but even within the forms are distinguished among different levels. Characteristic for dry AMD, which occurs most

frequently, are deposits of metabolic products also called drusen, locating directly under the macula. Drusen contain proteins, lipids and other cellular components (Johnson et al., 2001; Mullins et al., 2001). The presence of drusen alone rarely affects vision initially, is asymptomatic, and is common in the population (Cohen et al., 2007; Fritsche et al., 2014; Klein et al., 1992). In the case of AMD, these drusen become more frequent and increase in size during the course of the disease, leading to an undersupply of the retinal center by this the cells of the retina can no longer be adequately supplied (Green et al., 1985). Progressively, dry AMD leads to a loss of function in the macula and slowly destroys vision in the central visual field. This is a result of degeneration of photoreceptor cells and choriocapillaris, as well as loss of RPE cells (Mcleod et al., 2009). The advanced form of dry AMD is also known as geographic atrophy (GA), progresses very slowly, and affects approximately 90% of all AMD patients (Danis et al., 2015; Mcleod et al., 2009). Wet AMD is less common than dry AMD, but it progresses more rapidly. This form is characterized by choroidal neovascularization (CNV). There is pathological ingrowth of blood vessels from the choriocapillaris through Bruch's membrane into the subretinal space of the retina. Leaky blood vessels lead to accumulation of vascular fluids or hemorrhage, causing swelling and scarring in the retinal area, which can quickly lead to distorted vision and blind spots in the visual field (Colijn et al., 2017; Mcleod et al., 2009). Although both forms of AMD have a very different clinical presentation, it can not be ruled out that they occur bilaterally (Joachim et al., 2017).



Figure 3: Fundus images of AMD patients in different stages. **a** Fundus image of a healthy macula. Fovea is marked with an arrowhead. **b** Fundus image of a patient in the intermediate stage of dry AMD. Arrowhead points to druse, arrow to RPE hyperpigmentation. **c** Fundus image of geographic atrophy (GA). Arrowheads point to GA. **d** Outline of neovascular AMD. Arrowheads indicate choroidal neovascularization. Images from Handa *et al.*, 2019.

A therapy exists so far only for the advanced stage of the wet AMD. With a timely diagnosis and the right therapy, the progression of the disease can be slowed or even stopped. Therapy options such as intravascular administration of anti-vascular endothelial growth factor A (anti- VEGF-A) slow down the pathological ingrowth of blood vessels in many patients (Freund et al., 2015; Kozhevnikova et al., 2018). In contrast, there are no approved treatment options for dry AMD to date, which is why early detection to avoid risk factors is particularly important. Risk factors include smoking, sun exposure, UV light and diet (Armstrong et al., 2015). These factors can be positively influenced and reduce the risk of developing AMD or living with a progressive form. Smoking is one of the biggest risk factors to be influenced. Depending on the frequency and intensity of smoking, smokers additionally increase their risk, as increased smoking increases oxidative stress and decreases the antioxidant response of immune cells. This results in smokers being up to two to three times more likely to be affected by AMD than non-smokers (Armstrong et al., 2015; Espinosa-Heidmann et al., 2006; Khan et al., 2006). Excessive exposure of UV light should also be avoided, as this can damage not only the skin but also the retina, including the macula. A balanced healthy diet is also essential as well as a healthy weight, also taking supplements can affect the progression of AMD if micronutrients are deficient (Andriessen et al., 2016; Parekh et al., 2009; Schmidl et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2017). Diseases such as hypertension and diabetes mellitus are often associated with eye diseases, including AMD. For this reason, it is necessary to minimize the effects of the diseases. Well-controlled patients significantly reduce their risk of developing eye disease (Chakravarthy et al., 2010; Chen, X. et al., 2014; Joslin et al., 2017). It is important to minimize these factors, as there are also some risk factors that cannot be controlled. These include genetic makeup, age, gender, skin and eye color. The genetic makeup plays a key role in the susceptibility to AMD. It is known that changes on the long (q) arm of chromosome 10, in the region 10q26, where the genes ARMS2 and HTRA1 are encoded, result in an increased risk of AMD. It is unclear whether both genes are related to the onset of the disease or only one of the two genes, as they are so close to each other that this has not yet been clearly established. These two genes are only a small part of the 52 known gene variations that have been linked to AMD. Most known genes that are related to retinal homeostasis, are involved in the formation of complement components, or are involved in inflammatory processes (Deangelis et al., 2017; Francis et al., 2009; Fritsche et al., 2016; Fritsche et al., 2008; Thakkinstian et al., 2008). Crucially, the regulation of the innate immune response is also controlled by the complement system. The innate immune response, in addition to the adaptive immune response, is designed to respond to organisms and substances classified as foreign antigen. This can be achieved by a rapid and efficient engagement of a range of soluble factors and cell types against the foreign bodies. Dysregulation/overreaction of this immune response leads to an excessive

response of immune cells, such as microglial cells, and the complement system (Fritsche *et al.*, 2014; Gupta, N. *et al.*, 2003). With aging, the risk of developing AMD increases, approximately 20% of all 65- to 74- years- olds suffer from an early form of AMD. By the age of 75 to 84 years, 84% of these are also affected by more severe forms of AMD (Armstrong *et al.*, 2015; Klein *et al.*, 1992). This can be explained by increasing age, oxidative stress is increased and the function of photoreceptors and RPE cells disturbed, making the retina more susceptible to injury and often degeneration (Beatty *et al.*, 2000; Winkler *et al.*, 1999). Women are more likely to develop AMD than men; they have a 1.3-fold increased risk of developing AMD. Likewise, ethnic origin plays a decisive role, as light-skinned people and people with blue eyes are more susceptible than dark-skinned people with dark eyes (Beatty *et al.*, 2000; Winkler *et al.*, 1999).

1.3 Microglia-immune cells of the brain and retina

1.3.1 Microglia in the central nervous system

Microglia cells are resident immune cells of the central nervous system (CNS) and represent the endogenous distribution network and immune system of the brain and retina. In addition to their role in the immune defense of the brain, they are also essential for various homeostatic functions, such as the development and maintenance of functional neural networks. In prenatal development, microglia control development of neural progenitor cells in the cerebral cortex and their degradation during neurogenesis, as well as for the connectivity of the forebrain. Postnatal, they are responsible for the formation and elimination of synaptic contacts and dendritic projections (Wake *et al.*, 2013; Wu *et al.*, 2015).

The BBB normally prevents immune system cells from entering the central nervous system. It precisely regulates the exchange of ions, molecules and cells between the blood and brain, protecting the CNS from toxins and pathogens (Daneman *et al.*, 2015). However, in case of blood vessel injuries and severe diseases, immune cells reach the CNS (brain and spinal cord). The brain and spinal cord are nevertheless protected from pathogens all the time, by a certain type of glial cell, the microglia, which take over the role of immune cells in the central nervous system (Ginhoux *et al.*, 2010; Streit *et al.*, 2005). These cells perform the same function as macrophages, which belong to the leukocytes and are also called

phagocytes, in the immune system. Their task is to recognize and absorb pathogens and dead cells (Ajami *et al.*, 2007; Persidsky *et al.*, 1999).

Initially, they were associated with phagocytes in the blood, but it has been found that they differ in origin and development (Kierdorf et al., 2013). Microglia develop very early in embryonic development from embryonic stem cells, whereas phagocytes (white blood cells) develop from bone marrow stem cells (Nayak et al., 2014). These cells are therefore referred to as a separate cell class (Kierdorf *et al.*, 2013) and are derived from primitive yolk sac macrophages migrating into the brain (Ginhoux et al., 2016; Hoeffel et al., 2012). The precursor cells from the yolk sac pass the blood-brain barrier on embryonic day (E) 8.5-9.5 before the BBB is fully developed, and from E 11.5 microglia are found in the retina. (Fig. 4) (Ginhoux et al., 2010; Li et al., 2019). After immigration, the microglia remain in the tissue for the rest of their lives, where they maintain the population by means of self-control (Hashimoto et al., 2013). However, not all microglia have the ability of self-control in the brain, as new microglia are produced from non-microglia precursor cells. In the retina, there are also only a few microglia that have the ability of expansion and renewal. Although, microglia from the postnatal (P) 0 time point migrate from the optic nerve into the retina and take over the function of previously duplicated microglia (Fig. 4) (Elmore et al., 2014; Huang, Y. et al., 2018). Furthermore, the development of microglia is dependent on several factors such as the key transcription factor of the erythroblast transformation specific (Ets) family, PU-Box-Binding -1 (PU.1) (Rosenbauer et al., 2007), the interferon-regulator 8 (Irf8) (Kierdorf et al., 2013; Minten et al., 2012) and transcription factor Runt-related transcription factor 1 (Runx1) (Zusso et al., 2012), which influences the differentiation of microglia. In addition, CSF1R seems to be important for the architecture of the brain, as embryos from knockout (KO) mice show deficits in brain development. (Erblich et al., 2011).



Figure 4: Microglia development in the mouse retina. Microglia develop in the yolk sac from primary yolk sac precursor cells and enter the CNS via the blood circulation and thus the brain and retina. First microglia are already found from E11.5 in the retina, where they organize themselves within the different layers of the retina. From P0 onwards, microglia migrate exclusively via the optic nerve. Image from Li *et al.*, 2019.

1.3.2 Resting microglia and homeostatic function

In the healthy brain, there are hundreds of thousands of microglia in the retina, 5-20% of all glial cells are microglia and stay in a ramified form under physiological conditions (Langmann, 2007; Pelvig *et al.*, 2008; Rathnasamy *et al.*, 2019). This form is characterized by a small cell body and numerous small flexible branches extending in different directions. The cell bodies remain largely in one place, with only the branching extensions of the microglia moving and continuously scanning the surrounding tissue (Huang, T. *et al.*, 2012; Langmann, 2007). These are flexible, and the branches move forward unless they hit a synapse where they linger for a while before moving on. A microglia cell controls a large area (Marinelli *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, this cell type forms an effective distribution network, which recognizes small changes within the shortest time and tries to eliminate them.

During development, in the still-maturing retina, microglia are responsible for phagocytosis of cell debris, control developmental apoptosis, and formation of neuronal connections (Marín-Teva et al., 2004; Sierra et al., 2010). Moreover, microglia are not only essential in neuronal development and population of the retina, but also in the formation of new neuronal circuits (Bialas et al., 2013; Schafer et al., 2012). This is already being studied by Paolicelli and colleagues, showing that the development of new synapses is underdeveloped in mice that do not express C-X3-C Motif Chemokine Receptor 1 (fractalkine receptor) (CX3CR1) (Paolicelli et al., 2011). Microglia eliminates unnecessary synaptic connections. But this function is dependent on several factors. Furthermore, complement regulators such as complement component 1q (C1q) secreted by retinal ganglion cells activate the classical complement cascade, causing complement factor 3 (C3) to bind with complement receptor 3 (C3aR) and trigger phagocytosis (Bialas *et al.*, 2013; Schafer *et al.*, 2012). It is thought to be associated with the orientation of primary retinal vessel growth (Provis, 2001; Schafer et al., 2012). Microglia colonize the retina before vessel formation begins and are associated with endothelial cells at the vessel front, resulting in interactions between these cells and promoting vessel growth (Checchin et al., 2006; Rymo et al., 2011). Moreover, studies have shown that the absence of microglia has a negative effect on CNS vascularity, but can be remedied by replenishing microglia through intravitreal injections (Arnold et al., 2013; Checchin et al., 2006).



Figure 5: Spatial distribution of microglia in mouse retina. a Representative cross-sections of mouse retina in CX3CR1^{GFP/+} mice. Microglia are labeled with GFP so that staining is no longer necessary. Microglia are located here in the IPL, OPL and in the GCL. Scale bar 50 μ m. b Microglia morphology in retinal flat mount preparations of CX3CR1^{GFP/+} mice. Scale bar 50 μ m. c Representation of a single microglia reconstructions from whole mount. Scale bar: 10 μ m. Image from Li *et al.*, 2019.

In the healthy adult retina, microglia are located in the plexiform layers (Fig. 5a) from where they monitor the retina. The cells are evenly distributed and do not overlap (Hume *et al.*, 1983; Karlstetter, M. et al., 2015). Under homeostatic conditions, microglia remain in these layers, display a ramified morphology (Fig. 5b, c) and exclusively move their extensions to scan the environment (Damani et al., 2011; Hume et al., 1983; Langmann, 2007). This dynamic movement serves to maintain various processes, including homeostatic regulation of neuronal activity, removal of cellular debris and metabolic waste products (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2016). Microglia regulate cytokines, chemokines, complement regulators, antibodies and detect cell changes by means of their surface proteins (Karlstetter, M. et al., 2015; Kierdorf et al., 2013). Since there are many factors that reactivate microglia, it is important that mechanisms exist that regulate microglia activation. One essential inhibitory receptor is the microglia-specific receptor cluster of differentiation-200 receptor (CD200R), which retains microglia in the resting state by binding to the transmembrane glycoprotein cluster of differentiation-200 (CD200) (Broderick et al., 2002; Deckert et al., 2006; Nathan *et al.*, 2001). In addition, binding causes an inhibitory intracellular signaling cascade to be triggered, preventing a conformational change in microglia and the associated pro- inflammatory immune response (Hoek et al., 2000). Another inhibitory regulator is fractalkine (CX3CL1) which is released from neurons and endothelial cells and thereby inhibits neurotoxicity of microglia (Cardona et al., 2006). As well as binding of translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO) with its endogenous ligand diazepam binding inhibitor (DBI) also limits microglia activity (Karlstetter, M. et al., 2014; Scholz et al., 2015a).

1.3.3 Microglia in retinal damage

The immune system of the retina is strictly regulated and largely isolated from the rest of the body. The immune privilege of the eye, created by the existing blood-retinal barrier, makes it difficult for pathogens and other immune cells to invade (Carson *et al.*, 2006). If the surrounding tissue is injured or another type of damage is present, the innate immune system, microglia and complement system, of the retina responds (Chen, M. *et al.*, 2019; Xu *et al.*, 2009). Importantly, microglia activation is tightly regulated and highly complex with many receptors mediating the signals.

In general, these signals are divided into "Off" and "On" signals (Biber *et al.*, 2007). "Off" signals favor the activation of the cell by absent substances. Here, a substance that is actually

present in the tissue is either reduced in concentration or no longer present. If the substrate is present, this conveys a signal to the microglia that it can remain inactive (Deckert *et al.*, 2006; Hoek *et al.*, 2000; Karlstetter, M. *et al.*, 2015). "On" signals are signals that were not there before or are suddenly present in a greatly increased concentration. Using various pattern recognition receptors (PRR), which includes toll-like receptors (TLR), microglia recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). This leads to microglia activation and trigger an immune response (Hickman *et al.*, 2013) which include cell wall components of bacteria such as lipopolysaccharides (Arioz *et al.*, 2019; Orihuela *et al.*, 2016). As well as other molecules that trigger chemotactic movement including adenosine triphosphate (ATP), chemokines, cannabinoids, and bradykinin (Badimon *et al.*, 2020; Inoue, 2006). In addition, microglia possess purinergic receptors that respond to nucleotides released by neurons (Burnstock *et al.*, 2011; Calovi *et al.*, 2019; Illes *et al.*, 2020).

Once microglia perceive damage, they leave their site of origin and change their shape from ramified to amoeboid. The cells almost completely retract their extensions, become round cells, and begin to secrete a series of molecules (Fig. 6) (Jurgens et al., 2012). Amoeboid cells are flexible and can easily move around in the tissue. Microglia migrate to an injured site, germs or pathogens. In the case of photoreceptor damage, microglia travel to the ONL and subretinal space (Karlstetter, M. et al., 2015; Lew et al., 2020). At the lesion side, these cells can either activate and attract other cells through signaling or phagocytose dead cells, cellular debris, pathological protein aggregates, and bacterial and viral pathogens (Jurgens et al., 2012; Karlstetter, M. et al., 2015). In addition, these cells can even destroy bacteria and other invaders through the release of immune mediations, such as oxygen and nitrogen radicals and cytokines (Jurgens et al., 2012). Reactivated amoeboid microglia secrete proinflammatory cytokines in large quantities. These cytokines include tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-a), interleukin 1 beta (II-1ß), and chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (Ccl2) (Balzano et al., 2020; Cherry et al., 2020; Scholz et al., 2015a; Swaroop et al., 2018). Ccl2 is a chemokine that not only promotes the release of other molecules, but also activates microglia and attracts them to the site of damage (Ferreira et al., 2012; Hinojosa et al., 2011). The release of oxygen radicals from microglia leads to neuronal damage and death (Park et al., 2015; Simpson et al., 2020).



Figure 6: Microglia react to different molecules in their environment, e.g., molecules released by neurons. Anti-inflammatory molecules are CX3CL1, CD200, glutamate, ATP and TGF- β , which signal to the microglia that everything is fine and let them stay in homeostasis. In this state, microglia secrete TNF- α , IL-1 β , IFN and BDNF, among others. In a damaged state, there is a release of ATP, glutamate, threat-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), and amyloid-beta proteins that cause microglia to reactivate and release pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-4, ROS, NO, IL-8, and MMP. If this state persists for a prolonged period, it promotes toxicity, neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. (Augusto-Oliveira et al., 2019)

In addition to their activity in maintaining retinal homeostasis, microglia are particularly important in aging. During aging, changes in the immune system occurs, leading to increased tissue stress and damage. Aging or degenerative diseases may lead to a dysregulation and

chronical activation of microglia. Compared to naïve microglia, aged microglia eventually transition from a balanced activation state to a hyperreactive state, which may persist for an extended period of time and cause damage (Buchanan *et al.*, 2008; Chen, M. *et al.*, 2019; Sierra *et al.*, 2007; Xu *et al.*, 2009). If this state persists, greater amounts of proinflammatory mediators are released, exacerbating diseases (Karlstetter, M. *et al.*, 2015). In the case of AMD, activated microglia have been associated with the formation of drusen in the early AMD stage (Killingsworth *et al.*, 1990). Interestingly, the drusen components provide a chemotactic stimulus, causing microglia to become increasingly activated and migrate to the site of the drusen accumulation. Therefore, in patients with geographic atrophy, many amoeboid microglia are also found in the granular layers and subretinal space (Fig. 7) (Gupta, N. *et al.*, 2003; Penfold *et al.*, 2001). Microglia in the ONL usually phagocytose apoptotic photoreceptors, but dysfunction and chronical activation also kills surrounding healthy but stressed photoreceptors (Zhao *et al.*, 2015). However, transcriptional analysis has shown that AMD patients have elevated chemokine levels and an excess of complement regulators and inflammatory genes (Newman, A. M. *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 7: Schematic representation of microglial activity in the retina. **a** Under homeostatic conditions in retina, resident microglia mainly occupy the plexiform layers (IPL and OPL). With

their extensions, they scan the surrounding tissue, pick up cell debris, and secrete a variety of supporting mediators, including neurotrophins. **b** Stimuli in the other cell layers, here RPE, OS, and GCL, lead to activation of resident microglia. **c** Retinal microglia and recruited progenitor cells migrate to the damage site and develop into amoeboid phagocytes. RPE: retinal pigment epithelium; OS: outer segment; IS: inner segment; ONL: outer nuclear layer; OPL: outer plexiform layer; INL: inner nuclear layer; IPL: inner plexiform layer; GCL: ganglion cell layer. Image from Karlstetter *et al.*, 2010 (Karlstetter, Marcus *et al.*, 2010).

1.3.4 Microglia as a therapeutic target

Excessive reactivity of microglia and associated immune activation is a common phenomenon in neurodegenerative diseases. Few retinal diseases have an exclusively genetic trigger, so modulation of microglia activity could be a targeted therapy option for retinal diseases (Amor et al., 2014; Karlstetter, M. et al., 2015; Langmann, 2007; Scholz et al., 2015b). Early targeted therapy that inhibits microglia activity could decrease the progression of some degenerative diseases. Several studies are known to deplete microglia via CSF1R inhibition, thereby reducing neuroinflammation in numerous retinal diseases. When microglia are eliminated using CSF1R inhibitor, PLX5622, fewer plaques can be detected in Alzheimer's disease mouse models (Spangenberg et al., 2019). Increased proliferation of microglia and the associated increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines were also detected in Parkinson's disease patients and mouse models. Inhibition of CSF1R, with GW2580, also shows a decrease in pro-inflammatory cytokines in mouse models (Neal et al., 2020). However, CSF1R inhibition is mostly specific to microglia and also affects other macrophages. Depletion from these cells has a major impact on homeostasis (Lei et al., 2020) and, when inhibited during embryonic development, affects the behavior of female adult mice (Rosin et al., 2018). Furthermore, depletion of microglia can lead to transient immune deficiency and degeneration of synapses (Parkhurst et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2016). According to these reasons, immunomodulation of existing microglia is often targeted rather than microglia depletion. Microglia are attempted to be modulated in such a way that the immune response is reduced, but their homeostatic properties remain present. More and more therapeutic options are being explored, with injected molecules designed to inhibit activating signaling pathways or in case that signal cells return to their resting initial position (Akhtar-Schäfer et al., 2018; Rashid et al., 2018). Minocycline, which blocks the TLR-2 and TLR-4 signaling pathways, has been shown an immune inhibitory effect on microglia (Hu *et al.*, 2014; Teng *et al.*, 2004). This drug is already used as an antibiotic in acne and arthritis (Garrido-Mesa *et al.*, 2013), with the ability to cross both the BBB and the BRB (Domercq *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, it has been shown to inhibit the release of pro- inflammatory cytokines to microglia proliferation and migration (Teng *et al.*, 2004). While docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), a plasma membrane phospholipid, decreases microglia activity, it has been shown to significantly reduce retinal degeneration in a mouse model of X-linked retinoschisis (Bazan *et al.*, 2010; Ebert *et al.*, 2009; Karlstetter, M. *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, the administration of TSPO-ligands serves as a potential therapeutic option. The binding of TSPO to its ligand signals the cell that activation is not necessary and prevents an immune response (Karlstetter, M. *et al.*, 2014; Wolf *et al.*, 2020). Moreover, the application of exogenous II-1 β results in a reduction of microglia activation, whereby blocking the signaling pathway reduces the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (François *et al.*, 2013; Shi *et al.*, 2012).

1.4 Galectin-3

1.4.1 Structure and localization of galectin-3

Galectin-3 belongs to the group of galectins. This group is part of the protein family animal lectins, which are equipped by means of a highly conserved carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). This CRD is specific for β-galactose containing oligosaccharides (Barondes *et al.*, 1994; Cooper, Douglas N.W. *et al.*, 1999; Rabinovich, Gabriel A. *et al.*, 2002). The CRDs usually contain 130 amino acids, which are responsible for carbohydrate bonds (Cooper, Douglas N. W., 2002). So far, 15 galectins are known in mammals, possessing a CRD. Some galectins, galectin-4, -6, -8, -9 and -12, have a second homologous CRD. There, both domains are separated in a single polypeptide chain only by a linker consisting of 70 amino acids. Among the galectins that have only one CRD (galectin-1, -2, -3, -5, -7, -10, -11, -13, -14 and -15), galectin-3 is unique in having a 120 amino acid sequence long N-terminal region (Brinchmann *et al.*, 2018). The N-terminal domain of galectin-3 is associated with the CRD, thus the only chimera is considered to be galectin in vertebrates (Fig. 8) (Barondes *et al.*, 1994; Di Lella *et al.*, 2011). Although it is usually present as a monomer, it can form a pentamer (oligomer) with other galectin-3 proteins in association with the N-

terminal domain (Kasai *et al.*, 1996). But even as a monomer, it has multivalent binding properties (Knibbs *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 8: Schematic representation of the structure of galectins. Galectins are classified into three structural types: Members of the galectin family are divided into three types: 1. The prototype, which includes galectin-1, -2, -7, -10, -11, -11, -13 and -14. This type has a single carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). 2. The tandem repeat type, to which galectin-4, -6, -8, -9 and -12 belong, is characterized by 2 CRDs connected by a linker. 3. The chimeric type, exhibited by only one galectin, galectin-3, with one CRD and one N-terminal domain. Some galectins have the ability to assemble into dimers or oligomers. Illustration from Sciacchitano *et al.* 2018 (Sciacchitano *et al.*, 2018)

Galectin-3 is a 29-35 kDa protein that is also known as Mac-2, ɛBP, RL-29, HL-29, L-34, LBP, or CBP-35 (De Boer *et al.*, 2009). Human galectin-3, (*LGALS3*) is localized on chromosome 14 locus 21-22 (Raimond *et al.*, 1997). The mouse gene (Lgals3) has the same structure and is 6.4 kb long (Fig. 9). The gene has six exons and five introns, of which exon 1 and 2 encode for the 5'untranslated region (UTR) of the mRNA. Exon 3 is responsible for encoding the N-terminal domain and exon 4 for the CRD. (Kadrofske *et al.*, 1998). *LGALS3* gene in humans contains several regulatory elements: five putative Sp1 binding sites (GC
boxes), five cAMP-dependent response element (CRE-motifs), four AP-1 and one AP-4-like site, two NF- κ B-like sites, one sis-inducible (SIE) element, and one consensus basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) core sequence (Dumic *et al.*, 2006; Kadrofske *et al.*, 1998). It has two antiparallel β -sheets consisting of five or six β -strands. With a sequence similarity of 20-25%, galectin-3 resembles the homodimer galectin-1 and -2 (Seetharaman *et al.*, 1998).



Figure 9: Gene structure of galectin-3. The mouse gene, *Lgals3*, is about 6.4 kb long, is characterized by five introns and six exons (black boxes). UTR: 5'untranslated region; WT: wild type.

The ability to bind carbohydrate is also present in galectin-3. The preferred ligand of galectin-3 is N-acetyllactosamine (LacNAc, Gal β 1,4(3)GlcNAc) (Dumic *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, galectin-3 has the ability to incorporate oligosaccharides as well as polylactosaminoglycans through an extended binding site (Seetharaman *et al.*, 1998; Vlassara *et al.*, 1995). In addition, galectin-3 binds to TLR4, triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2), desialylated neurons, which it opsonizes via Mer tyrosine kinase for phagocytosis (Puigdellívol *et al.*, 2020). It is formed by reactivated microglia and it also activates microglia (feedback loop) (Puigdellívol *et al.*, 2020; Stapleton *et al.*, 2012).

In adult tissues, galectin-3 expression was detected predominantly in epithelial cells and myeloid cells. In numerous epithelial cells, such as in numerous epithelial cells, such as: epithelial cells of the small and large intestine, cornea and conjunctiva, kidney, lung, thymus, breast and prostate (Castronovo *et al.*, 1996; Dumic *et al.*, 2006; Flotte *et al.*, 1983; Gupta, S. K. *et al.*, 1997; Kasper *et al.*, 1996; Lotz *et al.*, 1993). Moreover, galectin-3 has been associated with immune cells. Neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, Langerhans cells, dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages in various tissues express galectin-3 (Dietz *et al.*, 2000; Flotte *et al.*, 1983; Frigeri *et al.*, 1993; Kasper *et al.*, 1996; Liu *et al.*, 1993; Maeda *et al.*, 2003; Saada *et al.*, 1996; Smetana *et al.*, 1999; Truong *et al.*, 1993a;

Truong *et al.*, 1993b; Wollenberg *et al.*, 1993). Disease-related expression can also be initiated in lymphocytes, as well as in tumor cells (Danguy *et al.*, 2002; Van Den Brûle, F. *et al.*, 2002). During mouse embryogenesis, tissue and time-dependent expression was detected. The expression already starts at the E 4 (Poirier *et al.*, 1993). Notochord, galectin-3 is expressed at day E 8.5 to E 11.5 (Fowlis *et al.*, 1995) and later in the vertebrae, ribs and facial bones, epidermis, endodermis, and esophagus. In addition, punctate expressions were detected in liver and lung, which could be associated with macrophages (Dumic *et al.*, 2006; Van Den Brûle, F. A. *et al.*, 1997).

LGALS3 is synthesized at free ribosomes in the cytoplasm and is found in many different areas of the cell. It has been detected in the nucleus as well as on cell surfaces and in the extracellular space (Dumic *et al.*, 2006; Krześlak *et al.*, 2004). The exact transport away from the intracellular to the extracellular space has not yet been clarified, but it is known that this does not occur via the endoplasmic reticulum and the golgi apparatus. Since the protein lacks signal sequences for transfer via the golgi apparatus and the endoplasmic reticulum as well as for entry into the classical signaling pathway, it is not possible to determine the exact pathway (Menon *et al.*, 1999). Lactose-dependent endocytosis is thought to facilitate transport from the extracellular space to the intracellular space (Furtak *et al.*, 2001). However, the transport away from the cell nucleus has also not yet been clarified.

1.4.2 Galectin-3 in neurodegenerative diseases

When neurons lose function or structure, this is called neurodegeneration, which is a pathological condition of the nervous system. This condition favors the development of diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, AMD, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Chen, W. W. *et al.*, 2016; Dorothée, 2018). The exact causes of neurodegeneration are not understood. Among the factors that promote neurodegenerative diseases are prolonged inflammatory reactions, genetic factors, mitochondrial stress and oxidative stress (Amor *et al.*, 2010). Inflammatory responses are caused by noxious stimuli that cause activation of glial cells (astrocytes and microglia). These cells try to eliminate and reduce structural damage and loss of function of neurons (Amor *et al.*, 2010). Regulation functions until acute inflammation becomes chronic and dysregulation and overreaction of glial cells leads to the development of neurodegenerative diseases (Glass *et al.*, 2010; Ramírez Hernández *et al.*, 2020). It was found that during neurodegeneration, glycan

expression in neurons is altered, which is why protein-glycan interactions are thought to be involved in the pathological condition (Espinosa *et al.*, 2001; Ramos-Martinez *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, proteins that interact with glycans are thought to have effects on neurodegenerative diseases. Proteins such as lectins, to which galectins also belong, interact with glycans (Cerliani *et al.*, 2017; Liu *et al.*, 2012; Rabinovich, G. A. *et al.*, 2009). The 15 galectins of the galectin family show different immunomodulatory functions in various neurodegenerative disorders, in which they act as regulators and enable the remodeling of damaged tissues (Burguillos *et al.*, 2015; Starossom *et al.*, 2012). The proteins differ in their affinity to bind carbohydrate and also the structure influences the ability to bind ligands (Di Lella *et al.*, 2011; Rabinovich, G. A. *et al.*, 2012). Due to the unique chimeric structure of galectin-3, it is known to modulate microglia and astrocytes through its lectin-glycan interaction, thus contributing to the maintenance of homeostasis under normal conditions (Dhirapong *et al.*, 2009; Liu *et al.*, 2010).

The regulation of galectin-3 expression, in immune cells such as astrocytes, macrophages, microglia, dendritic cells, eosinophils, mast cells, Natural killer cell (NK cells), and activated T and B cells is not yet known. However, because the gene has five CRE motifs and two NF-kB-like sites, regulation is thought to be related to cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) or the transcription factor NF-kB (Dumic et al., 2006; Kadrofske et al., 1998). In chronic neurodegeneration, the release of interferon (IFN) γ promotes microglia activation and thus secretion of pro- inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. The strength of the response depends on the JAK/STAT signaling pathway and the expression of MHC II, CD86, and iNOS (Jeon et al., 2010; Shin, 2013). The increase in galectin-3 expression mediated by IFN- γ , suggests that galectin-3 is an important component of the inflammatory response cascade. In brain injury models in mice, ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (Iba-1) positive cells, microglia, and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-positive cells, astrocytes, could be co-stained with galectin-3. This co-expression indicates that galectin-3 influences the development of the inflammatory response, proliferation and apoptosis (Burguillos et al., 2015; Sirko et al., 2015; Yan et al., 2009). Expression levels of galectin-3 increase in glial cells with aggravated inflammatory response (Dhirapong et al., 2009). In Alzheimer's disease, depleting galectin-3 in the mouse model for Alzheimer's disease (5xFAD mice) was shown to result in a weaker microglia response. This reduced the amyloid-beta (AB) load and improved the cognitive behavior of the mice. Depletion of galectin-3 was associated with TLR and TREM2/DAP12 signaling pathway in these models (Boza-Serrano et al., 2019). Detection of galectin-3 in blood serum could be associated with Parkinson's disease (Cengiz *et al.*, 2019). In cell cultures, the absence of galectin-3 was shown to attenuate peripheral inflammation in Parkinson's disease (Espinosa-Oliva *et al.*, 2021). A proteomic study in AMD patients also shows upregulation of galectin-3 in most forms of AMD. Galectin-3 is most elevated in patients with advanced dry AMD (Yuan *et al.*, 2010). Also, in Huntington patients and in mouse models of this disease, the level of galectin-3 in plasma correlates with the severity of the disease. Mice with elevated galectin-3 shown motor impairments (Siew *et al.*, 2019).

1.4.3 Galectin-3 as a target for immunomodulation

Increased expression of galectin-3 has been frequently associated with the acute course of neurodegenerative diseases. Therefore, galectin-3 may be important as a target for immunomodulation as a therapeutic target. Several studies have demonstrated that loss of galectin-3 reduces disease progression in neurodegenerative diseases. Furthermore, the study of Boza-Serrano, who investigated galectin-3 in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, has shown that the loss of galectin-3 slows down the development of the disease (Boza-Serrano *et al.*, 2019). Also, other studies showed a lower deposition of A β - plaques in this disease, the increased galectin-3 expression was associated with microglia. Galectin-3 and Iba-1 protein staining co- localization could be detected, these signals partially overlapped with those of amyloid- β - plaques (Tao *et al.*, 2020). In galectin-3 KO mice, in addition to the reduction of amyloid- β - plaques, an increased neprilysin concentration was detected (Tao *et al.*, 2020). Neprilysin is a zinc-dependent endopeptidase that is involved in the degradation of amyloid- β -peptide together with other peptidases (Bayes-Genis *et al.*, 2016; Malfroy *et al.*, 1978).

Unfortunately, knockout is not a viable therapeutic option, so many studies are already using inhibitors that prevent the binding of free galectin-3 to its ligands. This would be a choice for example in diseases with desialylation of neurons. Indirectly, galectin-3 has an effect on the desialylation of neurons because activated microglia have sialidases activity. Galectin-3 is not only produced by microglia but also activates them by binding to Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), TREM2, desialylated neurons and opsonizing them via Mer tyrosine kinase for phagocytosis (Boza-Serrano *et al.*, 2019; Burguillos *et al.*, 2015; Caberoy *et al.*, 2012; Nomura *et al.*, 2017; Tao *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, this means that if more galectin-3 is secreted, more microglia will be reactivated and initiate desialylation (Chen, H. L. *et al.*,

2014; Puigdellívol *et al.*, 2020; Shin, 2013). Desialylation can be inhibited in microglia with binding of activating sialic acid receptors (Siglecs) to their ligands. In wet AMD models, a polysialic acid ligand has been shown to inhibit microglial reactivity in the retina (Karlstetter, M. *et al.*, 2017). In section 1.3.5 it was described how microglia react in AMD and that dysfunction of microglia can be expected to play an important role in the progression of AMD. Since it is possible that galectin-3 is an antagonist of the Siglec ligands, it is possible that a therapy with galectin-3 inhibitors can stop the desialylation and positively influence the course of AMD.

Known inhibitors include belapectin (GR-MD-02), GB1107, TD139 (33DFTG), and G3-C12 (TFA). The effect of galectin-3 inhibition has been demonstrated in several disease models. Moreover, the inhibitor belapectin (GR-MD-02) reduces liver fibrosis and hypertension in rats and has already been tested in clinical studies in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients and patients with hypertension. (Chalasani et al., 2020). Unfortunately, an improvement could not be observed in NASH patients (Harrison et al., 2016). Other studies with belapectin in combination with pembrolizumab, a PD-L1 inhibitor, however, yielded promising results in tumor cell apoptosis (Curti et al., 2021). Another promising inhibitor is TD139, a thio- digalactoside galectin-3 inhibitor that has also been tested in clinical trials for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (St-Gelais et al., 2020). This inhibitor also shows in mouse models that activation by galectin-3 in liver progenitor cells is reduced after administration of the inhibitor (Yang, F. et al., 2020). Therefore, TD139 is not only known for its high affinity to human galectin-3, but also for its affinity to rat and mouse galectin-3 (Kumar et al., 2021). In T cells, administration of TD139 reduces NK cells dependent-hepatitis as well as the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Volarevic et al., 2015). Comparing the two inhibitors, GB-1107 and TD139, both show an inhibitory effect on cell coherence and decrease both migration and phosphorylation. Evidence is accumulating that galectin-3 is a histological marker for thyroid cancer. However, the lectinbased pharmacological approach has not been well studied. In the present study, we aimed to investigate the therapeutic potential of novel galectin-3 inhibitors by treating thyroid cancer cells with different concentrations of GB1107 or TD139. However, TD139 also initiates apoptosis of thyroid cancer cells, which GB1107 did not show (Lee et al., 2021). G3-C12 is also binds specifically to the CRD of galectin-3 and showed anti-tumorpromoting effect in nude mice (Yang, Y. et al., 2012).

Taken together, the results show that knockout of galectin-3, as well as modulation of the protein, can reduce or slow neurodegenerative diseases and thus represent a good immunomodulatory target.

1.5 Aim of the study

Microglia are immune cells of the CNS, and key factors in tissues such as the retina and regulate homeostasis. When microglia are reactivated, these cells promote apoptosis of damaged cells, such as neurons, and phagocytose cell debris so that inflammation cannot occur. In neurodegenerative diseases, there is often a dysregulation/overreaction of microglia, which accelerates disease progression and worsens disease symptoms. Furthermore, chronic activation of microglia in the retina favors the development of age-related macular degeneration. Therefore, immunomodulatory targets are being investigated and the impact of the loss of such a target on neurodegenerative diseases is being explored.

One promising target structure is the protein, galectin-3, which plays an important role in the activation of microglia. Loss or inhibition of galectin-3 has been shown to inhibit the microglial response and reduce the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Modulation or loss of this protein has not been adequately studied in the retina, and the mechanism behind it remains largely unexplained. In the present study, we investigated the effect of galectin-3 expression on retinal degeneration in a light-induced degeneration model. This mouse model is an established model for the study of dry AMD, for which there is currently no potential treatment option. The study allows to investigate the immunomodulatory properties and the protective effect of galectin-3 inhibition.

2. Material and methods

2.1 Material

2.1.1 Mouse lines and husbandry

Table 1: List of mouse lines used in this study

Line	Original name	Genotype	Background
Lgals3-	B6.Cg-Lgals3 ^{tm1Poi} /J	Homozygous knockout of galectin-	BALB/cJ x
KO	Jackson laboratory	3	C57BL/6J
Lgals3	WT littermates of	WT gene for galectin-3	BALB/cJ x
WT	Lgals3-KO		C57BL/6J
BALB/cJ	BALB/cJ	WT gene for galectin-3	BALB/cJ
	Charles River		

Table 2: Equipment for mouse husbandry

Equipment	Manufacturer
Individually ventilated cages	Tecniplast Greenline®
Litter, spruce granules	Rettenmaier und Söhne® FS14
wooden sticks for gnawing	Labodia
cardboard house	Plexx®
Chow (11 % fat, 24 % protein and 65 %	Lage, GER #1324
carbohydrates)	

2.1.2 Devices

Table 3: List of devices

Device	Manufacturer
Adventurer Pro balance	Ohaus®
BlueMarineTM 200 Electrophoresis unit	SERVA Electrophoresis GmbH

Centrifuge 5415 R	Eppendorf
Centrifuge Mini Star	VWR International
Cryostat CM3050	Leica
Explorer R Ex 124 balance	Ohaus®
HB-1000 Hybridizer	UVP
Heraeus Megafuge 40R Centrifuge	Thermo Scientific
HybEZ TM II Oven	ACD bio-techne®
Intas Gel iX20 Imager	Intas
LightCycler® 480 Instrument II	Roche Applied Science
MatrixTM Multichannel Pipette	Thermo Scientific
NanoDrop 2000 Spectrophotometer	Thermo Scientific
PeqSTAR 2x cycler	Peqlab
See-saw rocker SSL4	Stuart®
SpectralisTM HRA+OCT	Heidelberg Engineering
Thermomixer compact	Eppendorf
Vibracell 75115 Sonicator	Fisher Bioblock Scientific
Vortex-GenieTM	Scientific IndustriesTM
Zeiss Stemi 508 Stereo microscope	Zeiss

2.1.3 Chemicals and reagents

2.1.3.1 General Buffers and reagents

Fable 4: List of	f general	buffers and	reagents
-------------------------	-----------	-------------	----------

Buffer / reagents	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
DPBS (1x)	Gibco, 14190
Ethanol	Applichem, #A3678
PBS (10x)	Lonza, #51226
RNase away	Molecular Biopro., #70003

2.1.3.2 Chemicals and reagents for molecular biological analysis

Chemical/ reagent	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
Agarose	Biozym, #84004
Boric acid	Sigma-Albrich, #B6768
Ethidium bromide	
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)	Sigma-Aldrich, E9884
GeneRuler 100 bp plus	Thermo Scienttific, #SM0332
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Merck, #1.06462
Tris	Roth, #4855.3

 Table 5: List of chemicals and reagents for genotyping

Table 6: List of chemicals and reagents for *in situ* hybridization

Chemical/ reagent	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
ImmEdge [®] Hydrophobic Barrier Pen	ACD bio-techne®, # 310018
Opal 520	Akoya Biosciences, PN FP1487001KT
Opal 570	Akoya Biosciences, PN FP1488001KT
Opal 690	Akoya Biosciences, PN FP1497001KT
RNAscope 3-plex negative control probes	ACD bio-techne®, #320871
RNAscope 3-plex positive control probes	ACD bio-techne®, #320871
RNAscope H202 and Protease Reagents	ACD bio-techne®, #PN 322381
RNAscope Multiplex Fluorescent	ACD bio-techne®, #PN 323110
Detection	
RNAscope Target Retrieval reagents	ACD bio-techne®, #322000
TSA buffer	ACD bio-techne®, #PN 322809
RNAscope Wash Buffer	ACD bio-techne®, #PN 310091

Table 7: List of chemicals and reagents for RNA isolation

Chemical/ reagent	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
ß-Mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich, #M-7154
Ethanol 70%	Applichem, #A2192

Ethidium bromide	
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)	Sigma-Aldrich, E9884
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Merck, #1.06462
Tris	Roth, #4855.3

2.1.3.3 Chemicals and reagents for immunhistochemical analysis

Chemical/ reagent	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)	Sigma-Aldrich, #A9418
Normal donkey serum (NDS)	Linaris, #ADI-NDKS-10
Fluorescence Mounting Medium	Dako, #S3023
Fluoromount- G^{TM} , with Dapi	Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific,
	#00-4959-52
Milk powder	Roth, #T145.3
Roti Histofix 4 %	Roth, #P087.4
Sucrose	Roth, #4621.1
Tissue- Tek	Sakura, #1913602823
Triton X-100	Sigma-Aldrich, #X100
Tween 20	Sigma-Aldrich, #P1379
Vectashield [®] HardSet TM	Mounting Medium Vectashield®, H1400

Table 8 : List of chemicals and reagents for immunhistological stainings

2.1.3.4 Chemicals and reagents for mouse experiments

Table 9: List of chemicals	and reagents for anesthesia	and optical coherence	e tomography
----------------------------	-----------------------------	-----------------------	--------------

Chemical/ reagent	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
Ketaset 100 mg/ml	Zoetis, PZN #12467832
Phenylephrine 2.5 % / Tropicamide 0.5 %	University Hospital Cologne
Rompun 2 % (Xylazine)	Bayer, PZN #1320422
Sodium Chloride 0.9 %, injection	Fresenius Kabi, PZN #06605514

Chemical/ reagent	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
33DFTG	AOBIOUS, #AOB 37408
Dimethylsulfoxid (DMSO)	Sigma-Aldrich, #D5879
TD139	MedChem Express, #HY- 19940

Table 10: List of chemicals and reagents for pharmacological inhibition

2.1.4 Buffers and solutions

2.1.4.1 Buffers and solutions for molecular biological analysis

Table 11:	Recipes for	buffers and	solutions	used for	genotyping
-----------	--------------------	-------------	-----------	----------	------------

Buffer/solution	Chemical composition
Agarose gel 1%	1% Agarose
	$0.5 \ \mu l/ml$ Ethidium bromide in TBE
Alkaline lysis buffer	25 mM NaOH 200 mM
	EDTA pH 12 in ddH2O
Neutralization buffer	40 mM TRIS-HCl pH 5 in ddH2O

Table 12: Recipes for buffers and solutions used for in situ hybridization

Buffer/solution	Chemical composition
RNAscope Target retrieval reagents (1x)	10x Target retrieval reagents in ddH ₂ O
Saline- sodium citrate (SSC) buffer	20x SSD: NaCl (M:58.4 g/mol) 175.3g-
	3M
	Sodium Citrate (M: 258g/mol) 77.4g-0.3M
	In 1 liter dH2O – pH=7
Wash buffer (1)	20x Wash buffer in ddH ₂ O

2.1.4.2 Buffers and solutions for immunohistochemically analysis

Buffer /solution	Chemical composition
PBS (1x)	10x PBS in ddH ₂ O
PBST-X	0.3 % Triton X-100 in PBS
Perm/ Block buffer	5 % NDS
	0.2 % BSA
	0.3 % Triton X-100 in 1x PBS

Table 13: Recipes for buffers and solutions used in whole mount staining

Table 14: Recipes for buffers and solutions used for cryostaining

Buffer /solution	Chemical composition
Antibody solution	2 % BSA
	0.1 % Triton X-100
Blotto	1 % Milk powder
	0.03 % Triton X-100 in PBS
PBS (1x)	10x PBS in ddH ₂ O

2.1.5 Enzymes

Table 15: List of enzymes for genotyping

Enzyme	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
Taq Polymerase	Genoxxon, #M3001
10x Reaction buffer	Genaxxon, #M3454

Table 16: List of enzymes for cDNA synthesis

Enzyme	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
RevertAit H minus Reverse Transcriptase	ThermoFischer Scientific Kit # K1622
10x Reaction buffer	ThermoFischer Scientific Kit # K1622

2.1.6 Primer und probes

Genotyping and quantitative real-time Primer were purchased from IDT (table 16 and 17). The probes for all the experiments were designed and produced by ACD Bio-techne®.

Table 17: Genotyping primer

Target	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Orientation
	Lgals3_WT/Mut_f	GAC TGG AAT TGC CCA TGA AC	forward
Lgals3	Lgals3_WT_r	GAG GAG GGT CAA AGG GAA AG	reverse
	Lgals3_Mut_r	TCG CCT TCT TGA CGA GTT CT	reverse

Table 18: Primer quantitative real-time PCR

Gene	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')	UPL
			Probe
Atp5b	GGCACAATGCAGGAAAGG	TCAGCAGGCACATAGATAGCC	77
Ccl2	CATCCACGTTGGCTCA	GATCATCTTGCTGGTGAATGAGT	62
Casp-	GAGGCTGACTTCCTGTATGCTT	AACCACGACCCGTCCTT	80
3			
Lgals3	GCCTACCCCAGTGCTCCT	GGTCATAGGGCACCGTCA	18
Il-6	GCTACCAAACTGGATATAATCAGGA	CCAGGTAGCTATGGTACTCCAGAA	6
iNos	CTTTGCCACGGACGAGAC	TCATTGTACTCGAGGGCTGA	13

Table 19: List of probes used for in situ hybridization

Gene	Species	Accession No.	Target region	Cat. No.
HS-LGALS3-C1	Human	NM_002306.3	53 - 995	#477839
HS-AIF1-C3	Human	NM_032955.1	8 - 468	#433128-C3
mm-Lgals3-C1	Mouse	NM_001145953.1	55 - 1045	#461471
mm-Aif1-C3	Mouse	NM_019467.2	31 - 866	# 422741-C3

2.1.7 Antibodies

Antibodies	Species	Dilution	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
/Stains			
Anti-Iba-1	Rabbit, Polyclonal	1:500	Wako, #019-19741
Alexa Fluor® 488	Donkey anti-rabbit	1:1000	Invitrogen, #A21206
	IgG		
Alexa Fluor® 647	Donkey anti-rabbit	1:1000	Invitrogen, #A-31573
	IgG		

Table 20: List of primary and secondary antibodies used in this study

2.1.8 Kits and software

Table 21: List of kits

Kit	Manufacturer, Cat. No.
LightCycler ® 480 Probes Master	Roche Applied Science, #04707494001
RevertAid RT Kit	Thermo Scientific, #K1691
RNeasy® Micro Kit	Qiagen, #74004
RNAscope Multiplex Fluorescent Reagent	ACD bio-techne®, #323100
Kit v2	
Takyon TM No ROX Probe MasterMix blue	Eurogentec, #UF-NPMT-B0701
dTTP	
Taq-S PCR Kit Genaxxon	Bioscience, #M3313

Table 22: List of software used in this study

Software	Manufacturer
Adobe creative suite	Adobe system
EndNote 20	EndNote
FIJI/ Image J (V2.10/1.53c)	Wayne Rasband, NIH

GraphPad Prism 7 (V7.05)	Graphpad Software, Inc.	
Heidelberg Eye Explorer (HEYEX)	Heidelberg Engineering	
Intas Gel Documentation Software (V3.39)	Intas Science Imaging	
LightCycler® 480 Software (V1.5.1)	Roche Applied Science	
Microsoft Office 365 pro plus	Microsoft Corporation	
Nanodrop 2000/2000c Software	Thermo Scientific	
Zen blue 2012 (V3.1.0.00002)	Zeiss	

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Mouse experiments

2.2.1.1 Mouse husbandry

Mice were housed in individually ventilated cages under specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions. Maximum five adult mice were kept in one cage, equipped with litter, cotton wool, wooden sticks for gnawing and cardboard house. The mice are kept in a 12 h/ 12 h light/ dark rhythm; the temperature is 22 ± 2 °C and 45- 65 % air humidity (air exchange rate 8/ h). Mice were fed with animal flour and low in nitrosamine-free standard diet (1324: 11 % fat, 24 % protein and 65 % carbohydrates) and acidified water ad libitum.

2.2.1.2 Experimental mouse line

B6.Cg-Lgals3^{tm1Poi}/J mice and BALB/cJ mice, acquired at the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, US) were crossed to B6.Cg-Lgals3^{tm1Poi}/ BALB/cJ mice (*Lgals3*-KO). For the experiments 8-10 weeks old *Lgals3*^{tm1Poi}/ BALB/cJ mice with light sensitive RPE, inactive tyrosine and homozygote galectin- 3 knockout and corresponding wild type mice with intact galectin- 3 were used. BALB/cJ WT mice were also used for inhibition studies. All tests and protocols were carried out according to the German animal protection agency (Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz Nordrhein- Westfalen: approval no. §81-02.04.2018.A303).

2.2.1.3 Galectin-3 inhibition

The pharmacological inhibitor TD139 (HY- 19940), was obtained by MedChem Express (NJ, US) and later von AOBIOUS (33DFTG; AOB 37408). It was dissolved in DMSO and stored -20°C (solved and powder). 8-10 weeks old BALB/cJ mice received daily intraperitoneal injections of 15 mg/kg body weight dissolved TD139. The vehicle control group received injections of DMSO. Injections started one day before light exposure. The inhibitor was incubated 10 min under shaking at 37 °C before use.

2.2.1.4 Experimental design

The light- induced degeneration model is a well-established mouse model (Scholz *et al.*, 2015b). To induce retinal degeneration in 8-10 weeks old BALB/cJ and *Lgals3*-KO mice, mice were dark adapted for 16 h before light exposure. Afterwards their pupils were dilated with eye drops (0.5 % tropicamide and 2.5 % phenylephrine) under dim red light and mice were exposed to bright white light with an intensity of 15,000 lux for 1 h respectively. The remaining experimental period the animals were housed under normal light conditions.

2.2.1.5 Optical coherence tomography (OCT)

For image acquisition mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of Rompun (5 mg/ kg body weight, 2 % Rompun) and Ketamine HCl (100 mg/ kg body weight) diluted in 0.9 % NaCl. The pupils were dilated by 0.5 % tropicamide and 2.5 % phenylephrine 5- 10 minutes before imaging with SpectralisTM HRA/OCT (Heidelberg Engineering). At day one, three and four post light exposure spectral-domain OCT (SD-OCT) was performed to analyze post light-induced the retinal thickness. To measure the retinal thickness, two circular rings cantered 3 and 6mm around the optic nerve were scanned. The thickness (µm) was calculated by the mean of four fields in each circular ring using the Heidelberg Eye Explorer Software.

2.2.2 Human donor samples

Retinal donor samples were collected from volunteer registered donors and obtained from the Eye Bank of the center of Ophthalmology at the University of Cologne. The study was performed in accordance with the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act (WHO) and was approved by the local ethics committee of the University.

2.2.3 Molecular biological analysis

2.2.3.1 Isolation of genomic DNA for genotyping

Ear biopsies, 1 to 2 mm sample, from 21-day-old mice were used for the isolation of genomic DNA. The isolation was performed using the HotSHOT method. Samples were incubated with 75 μ l alkaline lysis buffer (table 11.) in thermocycler at 95°C for 15-20 min, until the fragments are completely submerged. Followed by 5 min on ice before 75 μ l of neutralization buffer (table 1.) was added to stop the reaction. The container vortexed and centrifuged.

2.2.3.2 Genotyping of Lgals3-KO

The genotype of the mice was examined by PCR, primers were generated covering the coding region of the protein (table 17). The reverse primer for the WT variant of the gene binds directly upstream of the exon 2 and the translated region then corresponds to a size of 224 bp (Fig.10). The primer designed for the knockout binds to the neomycin caste of the mutant. The neomycin caste replaces the region important for the gene and shortens the gene. Thus, the band of the mutant is only 150 bp in size and can be easily distinguished from the WT band on an agarose gel. The PCR is performed using the Genaxxon kit and a thermocycler PCR instrument. The PCR kit has a reaction volume of 25 μ l and contains 50 ng DNA. The mix is composed of 1x reaction buffer, 0.2 μ M dNTPs, 1.25 U/ μ l Taq S, 0.2 μ M primer each and the remaining volume ddH2O (table 22.). The PCR program starts with initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 min, followed by 35 cycles consisting of 30 sec

denaturation again at 94°C, 30 sec annealing at 50 °C and an elongation step of 30 sec at 72°C follow. Finally, a final elongation step follows for 2 min at 72°C (table 23.). After cooling of the PCR product, it is applied to a 1 % agarose gel and separated by gel electrophoresis at 120 mV and analyzed after approximately 20- 30 min.



Figure 10: Genetic background of the Lgals3-knockout mouse. Mice with C57BL/6J

background have a neomycin cassette inserted in the gene coding for galectin-3 in the region of chromosome 14, whereby exons 2, 3 and 4 can no longer be transcribed and the expression of galectin-3 is no longer possible.

Reaction component	Amount	Concentration
10x Reaction buffer S (15mM MgCl ₂)	2.5 μl	1x
Lgals3_WT/Mut_f	0.5 µl	0.2 μΜ
Lgals3_WT_r	0.5 µl	0.2 µM
Lgals3_Mut_r	0.5 µl	0.2 µM
dNTPs	0.5 µl	0.2 µM
Taq S (5 U/µl)	0.25 µl	1.25 U/µl
Genomic DNA	2 µl	50 ng
ddH ₂ O	18.25 µl	

Table 23: Recipe of galectin-3 genotyping PCR

Step		Temperature	Time
Initial denaturation		94°C	3 min
	Denaturation	94°C	30 sec
35 cycles	Annealing	50°C	30 sec
	Elongation	72°C	30 sec
Final extension		72°C	2 min
Hold		8°C	∞

Table 24: Galectin-3 PCR temperature profile

2.2.3.3 RNA isolation and reverse transcription.

Total RNA was isolated from murine retina and RPE tissue using the RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instruction. RNA was quantified spectrophotometrically with a NanoDrop 2000. First-strand cDNA was synthesized from total mRNA using RevertAidTM H Minus First-strand cDNA Synthesis kit (Thermo Scientific).

2.2.3.4 Quantitative real-time PCR

Transcript levels from different genes were analyzed by quantitative real- time PCR performed in LightCycler® 480 II from Roche with probe based (LightCycler 480 Probe Master Roche) detection, according to the manufacturer's instructions. To measure the gene transcription levels Atp5b, were used as housekeeping gene. Measurements were performed in technical duplicates, Atp5b expression was used as reference gene, and results were analyzed with the LightCycler 480 Software using delta delta CT threshold calculation for quantification.

2.2.3.5 In situ hybridization: RNA Scope®

In situ hypridization by ACD Biotechne is a method that allows to visualize mRNA transcripts under the light of a microscope. This imaging technique can be used for molecular biology purposes. RNA Scope® ISH was performed with the RNAScope® Multiplex Fluorescent Reagent Kit v2, according to the information's of the manufactures, with some modifications. In brief, fresh frozen ten micrometer sections were baked for 1 h at 60°C. After hybridization and washing according to the manufacture instructions, the mouse slides stays 5 min and human slides 10 min in 1x Target retrieval reagents heated on 95°C. All washing steps following the probe application are 5 min at room temperature (RT). The following probes were used for these studies: HS-LGALS3 C1, ACD 477839; HS-AIF1 C3, ACD 433128; Mm-Aif C3, ACD 319141; Mm-Lgals3 C1, ACD 461471. The probes were labeled with TSA® Plus Fluorophore cyanine 3 and Fluorescein. The sections were mounted in mounting medium (Dako, Fluorescence Mounting Medium). For localization of the galectin- 3 expression, we performed a co-immunohistochemical staining with Iba-1 polyclonal antibody 1: 500, secondary antibody AF 647 (A-31573 invitrogen). The same immunohistochemistry protocol was used for this, except that all steps are carried out protected from light. For analysis images were taken with a Zeiss Imager.M2 equipped with an ApoTome.2 and quantification were performed with ImageJ.

2.2.4 Immunohistological analysis

2.2.4.1 Immunohistochemistry analysis of retinal and RPE flat mounts

The analysis was done at day one, three and four days post light exposure. The mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation and the eyes enucleated. After fixation with 4 % Roti Histo fix (paraformaldehyde) for 3h at RT, retinal and RPE flat mounts were dissected from each other and incubated in Perm/Block buffer (table 13.) for permeabilization and blocking, overnight at 4°C. The flat mounts were incubated with primary antibodies diluted in Perm/Block buffer (table 20) for 48 h at 4°C. Subsequently, three washing steps with PBST-X are followed by the incubation with the secondary antibody diluted in PBST-X for one hour (table 20). After three washing steps with PBST-X for 15 minutes follows a washing step overnight before the retina and RPE were mounted on a microscope slide and embedded

with fluorescence mounting medium (Vectorshied HardSet). Images were taken with a Zeiss Imager.M2 equipped with an ApoTome.2.

2.2.4.2 Immunohistochemistry analysis of cryotome sections

The staining of the cryostat sections was also performed on eyes that have been fixed for 3h. For this purpose, the fixed eyes were dehydrated in 30 % sucrose until the eyes sunk to the ground and afterwards embedded in Tissue-Tek. After freezing on dry ice, the eyes were cut in ten micrometer sections. The sections were rehydrated with 1x PBS and blocked with dried milk solution for 30 min (table 13). Subsequently, followed by the incubation of the primary antibody, diluted in antibody solution, overnight at 4°C. After three washing steps with 1x PBS, the secondary antibody diluted in 1x PBS was added for 1h, which is followed by four more washing steps for 10 min. Further, the sections were mounted in mounting medium plus Dapi (Fluoromount- GTM). Images were also taken with a Zeiss Imager.M2 equipped with an ApoTome.2.

3 Results

3.1 Microglia regulates *LGALS3* expression in AMD patients

It is known that the protein, galectin-3, is being secreted by microglia. Further, studies showed an upregulation of galectin-3 in stimulated microglia cell line (Nomura et al., 2017). A recent review indicated the involvement of galectin-3 in the development and pathogenesis of different eye diseases (Caridi et al., 2021). Under demanding conditions, the protein production is increased by microglia and other cells. In the research paper of Yuan and colleagues using proteomic data, it was shown that patients with AMD had an upregulated expression of galectin-3 (Yuan et al., 2010). Since it is known that other cells also express galectin-3, we sought to prove that this expression originated from microglial cells in the retina. Using in situ hybridization, the expression of mRNA transcripts in healthy retinas and in retinas of AMD patients can be detected and visualized. Probes labeling human LGALS3 and human Allograft inflammatory factor (AIF-1) were used. The LGALS3 probe encoded the expression of galectin-3, whereas AIF-1 is encoded the expression of the protein IBA-1 produced by microglia. We were able to confirm the results of the proteomic analysis. In healthy human retinas, only a very small amount of *LGALS3* is expressed (Fig. 11a). In contrast, this expression was strongly upregulated in AMD patients (Fig. 11b). The coexpression of AIF-1 and LGALS3 confirmed that in AMD microglia also take over the expression of LGALS3 in the retinal tissue.



Figure 11: LGALS3 expression in human cryotome sections from healthy donor and AMD patient. a An in situ hybridization shows a very low expression of *LGALS3* (red) and rather a defused localization of *AIF-1* (white) in the healthy human control. **b** the donor of the AMD patient, on the other hand, shows an upregulated expression of *AIF* in the nuclei and a distinct upregulation of *LGALS3*. ONL: Outer nuclear layer; INL: inner nuclear layer. Scale bar: 50 µm.

3.2 Immunological effect of genetic knockout of galectin-3 in lightinduced degeneration model

3.2.1 The deficiency of galectin-3 in *Lgals*3-KO mice reduced microglia migration in the ONL

The mechanism of upregulation of galectin-3 and the associated reactivity in microglial cells is largely unexplained. To explore whether the inhibition of galectin-3 represents a promising treatment option for dry AMD, a light-induced model for retinal degeneration was performed. This light damage model mimics several features of dry AMD, including immune activation and apoptosis of photoreceptor cells (Grimm *et al.*, 2000). However, light damage occurs when dark-adapted enriched rhodopsin is bleached by bright white light. As a result, neurotransmitters are secreted from damaged cells and surrounding cells are alerted.

Within a few days, damaged photoreceptors are phagocytosed by microglial cells and the retina begins to degenerate (Scholz et al., 2015b). First, the immune-related effect of the loss of galectin-3 in light induced degeneration model was investigated. In these mice, a 3.7 kb sequence was replaced by a neomycin cassette. The replaced region contains important coding features, including exon two, three and four (https://www.jax.org/strain/006338). The mice used in the first experiments were crossed with BALB/cJ mice to render this mouse strain sensitive to light damage. Mice on C57BL/6J background typically have methionine at position 450 in the RPE 65 protein, which makes these animals relatively insensitive to acute light damage. BALB/cJ mice have leucine-variants at this position of the RPE 65 protein. Furthermore, BALB/cJ mice have an inactive tyrosine gene and are therefore not pigmented. These two genes were decisive for our backcrossing. The experiments were also performed with wild type (WT) littermates for comparability. Therefore, the experiments were performed with 8- 10 weeks old Lgals3-KO mice, which were dark adapted for 16h and exposed to bright white light with an intensity of 15,000 lux for 1 hour (Fig. 12a). To test the effect of galectin-3 deficiency on microglia migration, the microglia population was examined in sections of healthy naïve Lgals3-KO and WT mice and compared with the microglia population one, three, and four days after light exposure. Under healthy conditions, without light exposure, microglia were found in the plexiform layers (OPL outer plexiform layer and IPL - inner plexiform layer) and ganglion cell layer (GCL) (Fig. 12b).

When microglia perceive a stimulus, such as a light induction, they migrate to the site of the lesion and change their morphology. This migration can easily be identified in cryostat sections labeled with the microglia and macrophages marker Iba-1 after light exposure (Fig. 12b). Microglia in WT mice formed more branches in the nuclear layers and moved toward photoreceptors as early as one day after light exposure. The movement was more strongly induced in a time-dependent manner from one to four days after light exposure. Further, nuclear layers (INL- inner nuclear layer and ONL- outer nuclear layer) have been colonized by many Iba-1⁺ cells three days after light exposure and these cells appear to have changed their morphology. They exhibit a more rounded (amoeboid) morphology and hardly any filopodia were visible. In contrast, migration of Iba-1⁺ cells in the ONL appears to be reduced in *Lgals3*-KO mice. Quantification of the number of Iba-1⁺ cells in the ONL showed a significantly increased number of microglia in the ONL already on the first day post light exposure in *Lgals3*-KO mice. However, the number of Iba-1⁺ cells was significantly reduced in *Lgals3*-KO mice.

KO mice compared with WT mice (Fig. 12c). Next, the expression of *Lgals3* in the retina and RPE was measured by qRT-PCR. The expression of *Lgals3* increases in a time-dependent manner from one to four days post light exposure (Fig. 12d, e). Since the expression of *Lgals3* was increased in the light induced degeneration model, *Lgals3* could be a potential marker for the reactivity of microglia.



Figure 12: The deficiency of galectin-3 in *Lgals*3-KO mice reduced migration of Iba-1⁺ microglia. a Experimental strategy of light induced degeneration model in Lgals3-KO mice and complementary WT littermates. b Representative images of Iba-1⁺ phagocyte migration into the ONL in light exposed Lgals3 and WT mice one, three and four days post light damage. Scale bar: 50 μ m. c Quantification of Iba-1⁺ cells in the ONL in time dependent fashion from one to four days post light exposure (WT/ Lgals3-KO n= 15 eyes) d Relative mRNA expression of Lgals3 in retina and e RPE analyzed by qRT-PCR. ONL: Outer nuclear layer; INL: inner nuclear layer; GCL: Ganglion cell layer. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.2.2 The deficiency of galectin-3 in *Lgals*3-KO mice reduces retinal microglia reactivity

The number of microglia in subretinal space and RPE correlates with the reduction of photoreceptor cells. Microglia in these layers are mostly amoeboid and reactivated. To analyze the morphology and migration of microglia in subretinal space, flat mounts were stained with anti- Iba-1 antibody. Here, images of retinal flat mounts from WT mice revealed a strong accumulation of reactive amoeboid Iba-1⁺ cells in the subretinal space three days post light exposure. In light-exposed *Lgals3*-KO mice, the number of Iba-1⁺ cells also increased in the subretinal space, but the number was less than the number of cells in WT retinas and these cells mainly exhibited a more branched morphology (Fig. 13a). Quantification described a significantly higher amount of Iba-1⁺ area in WT mice three and four days after light exposure, whereas the area was only very slightly increased in *Lgals3-KO* mice (Fig. 13b). The area at one day post light exposure was not significantly increased in any mouse model. In addition, the number of Iba-1⁺ cells were significantly increased in both mouse strains, which were significantly impaired by the absence of galectin-3 (Fig. 13c).

Subsequently, mRNA expression of pro- inflammatory microglia markers were analyzed by qRT-PCR. Markers such as inducible *nitric oxide synthase* (*iNos*), *interleukin* (II)- 6, *caspase* 3 (*Casp*3) and *CC- chemokine- ligand-* 2 (*Ccl2*) were examined at all three analysis time points. RNA levels were normalized to *Atp5b* (ATP synthase), and induction was calculated compared with untreated healthy naïve WT mice. Normalized quantification of mRNA levels of *iNos*, *Il-6* and *Ccl2* showed a strong increase on the first day post light expression in WT mice. This expression decreased after the first day but remained significant until day three (Fig. 13d). The mRNA expression of *iNos* remained elevated on the fourth day post light exposure in WT mice compared to the naïve mice four days post light exposure. In contrast, the expression of *iNos* was reduced in *Lgals3* mice, despite a slight increase compared to naïve mice, there was no significantly increased expression. The strong increase of *iNos* in WT mice on the first day post light exposure is significantly reduced by the absence of galectin-3 in the *Lgals3*-KO mice.

Furthermore, the expression levels of *Il-6* were significantly reduced in *Lgals3*-KO compared to light exposed WT mice four and three days post light exposure. The expression level of *Ccl2* could be attenuated significantly at day one post light damage by the lack of



Lgals3 in mice. In contrast, the expression level of *Casp3* remained unchanged compared to naïve mice, regardless of the time point or mouse genotype (Fig. 13d).

Figure 13: Microglia localization and morphology in retinas of *Lgals3*-KO and WT mice. a Immunofluorescence analysis of Iba-1⁺ cells in subretinal space of retinal flat mounts from light exposed *Lgals3*-KO and WT without light exposure, one, three and four days post light exposure. Scale bar: 50 µm. **b** Quantification of Iba1⁺ area in 0.045 mm² of the retina. (WT/ *Lgals3*-KO n= 15). **c** Number of microglia in the subretinal space. (WT/ *Lgals3*-KO n= 15). **d** Quantification of relative mRNA expression. *iNos*, *Il*-6, *Casp3* and *Ccl2* (WT/ *Lgals3*-KO n= 6, retinas from individual mice). Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.2.3 The deficiency of galectin-3 in *Lgals*3-KO mice reduces microglia reactivity in RPE

We further performed an immunohistochemical staining with microglia marker Iba-1 in the outermost layer, the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), flat mounts from WT and *Lgals3*-KO mice one, three and four days post light exposure (Fig. 14a). The Iba-1⁺ microglia demonstrated a more amoeboid shape in the RPE of WT mice one day post light damage but the Iba-1⁺ area did not change at this time point, in contrast the number of Iba-1⁺ cells was

slightly higher compared to naïve mice (Fig. 14b, c). The Iba-1⁺ area and the number of microglia cells were significantly increased three and four days post light exposure in WT mice compared to control. The number of microglia in *Lgals3*-KO mice is also significantly advanced compared to naïve mice at day three and four post light exposure, as well as the Iba-1⁺ area four days post light exposure. Nevertheless, the reactivation of microglia could be attenuated by the deficiency of galectin-3 in *Lgals3*-KO mice (Fig. 14b, c). The quantification of normalized *iNos*, *Il-6*, *Casp 3* and *Ccl2* expression levels in the RPE implied a similar pattern to the levels in the retina. The highest expression of *iNos*, *Il-6* and *Ccl2* take place on day one post light exposure, whereas the expression of *Casp3* did not change in our model of light- induced degeneration (Fig 14d). In the RPE, it is noticeable that the expression levels of all genes were reduced compared to the expression levels in the retina (Fig. 13d/ Fig. 14d). However, the expression of *iNos*, *Il-6* and *Ccl2* was reduced with deficiency of galectin-3 in *Lgals3*-KO mice.



Figure 14: Microglia localization and morphology in RPE of *Lgals3*-KO mice. a Representative images of Iba-1⁺ cells in RPE from light exposed *Lgals3*-KO and WT mice. Scale bar: 50 µm. **b** Quantification of Iba1⁺ area in 0.045 mm² in the RPE. (WT/ *Lgals3*-KO n= 15). **c** Number of Iba-1⁺ cells in the RPE (WT/ *Lgals3-KO* n= 15). **c** Iba-1⁺ area in 0.045 mm² of the RPE. **d** Quantification of relative mRNA expression of *iNos*, *IL-6*, *Casp3* and *CCL2* (WT/ *Lgals3*-KO n= 6, RPEs from individual mice). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.2.4 Retinal degeneration is reduced in *Lgals3-KO* mice

This light damage model mimics several features of dry AMD, including the degeneration of the photoreceptor cells. Thus, we performed *in vivo* optical coherence tomography (OCT) of mice to detect structural changes of the retina after light exposure in WT and *Lgals3*-KO mice (Fig. 15a). The OCT images showed clear changes in ONL reflectance in retinas of light- exposed animals, indicating a strong degeneration of the photoreceptor layer in animals with an intact galectin-3 gene (WT). The represented heat maps of WT and *Lgals3*-KO mice showed degeneration of the retina (Fig. 15a). Quantification of the retinal thickness in all analyzed animals demonstrated a significant reduction in the outer nuclear lay was after light exposure on day one, three and four in WT mice, which could be rescued by the knockout of galectin-3 (Fig 15b). The thinning of the retina was also significant in the central area and there the thickness is generally a little less. Moreover, the attenuated retinal thickness in WT mice post light exposure was significantly reduced in *Lgals3* mice at all measured time points.



Figure 15: TD139 prevents light- induced retinal degeneration. a SD-OCT was performed in naïve mice, one, three and four days post light-exposure to analyze changes in retinal structure. Represented heat maps show the average retinal thickness light exposed vehicle and TD139 treated mice one, three and four days post light exposure. b Quantification of the averaged thickness of the outer (6 mm) retina and c inner (3 mm) retina. (WT/ *Lgals3*-KO; naïve n= 20; 1d n= 15/19; 3d n= 18/20; 4d n= 19/20.) Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.3 Immunomodulatory effect by galectin-3 inhibition, via TD139, in light-induced degeneration model

3.3.1 TD139 inhibition as a potential treatment option for dry AMD

In the model of light induced degeneration, we were able to determine that the absence of galectin-3 reduces the degeneration. Since a knockout is out of question as a treatment method in human, we were looking for a suitable inhibitor of galectin-3. TD139 has already been tested in several studies and is therefore a potential galectin-3 inhibitor (Hirani *et al.*, 2021). However, to see whether TD139 has no influence on other regulatory proteins in the eye, we first analyzed the effect of TD139 inhibition in *Lgals3*-KO mice in our light- induced degeneration model. We performed a small study with *Lgals3*-KO mice that received daily injections of TD139 (Figure 16a). This data demonstrates that the TD139 treatment has no influence on the veneration of the retina in *Lgals3*-KO mice post light exposure (Fig. 16). Thus, the retinal degeneration was unaffected in TD139-treated *Lgals3*-KO mice, suggesting that TD139 binds specifically to galectin-3 in the eye and therefore TD139 is a good potential option to inhibit galectin-3 in further studies.



Figure 16: Galectin-3 inhibition via TD139 in *Lgals3*-KO mice. a Experimental strategy of light induced degeneration model in *Lgals3*-KO mice treated with TD139. b Quantification of the averaged thickness of the outer (6 mm) retina and c inner (3 mm) retina of *Lgals3*-KO mice with vehicle and TD139 treatment. (Vehicle/ TD139 naïve n= 5; 1d n= 4; 3d n= 4; 4d n=5). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.3.2 Galectin-3 is upregulated in light induced degeneration model

To investigate the expression of galectin-3 in the model of light induced degeneration, we performed *in situ* hybridization of *Lgals3* (gene that is responsible for the protein gal-3) and *Allograft inflammatory factor* (*Aif*)-1. Iba-1 is expressed by microglia and is encoded by *Aif*-1. The specificity of the *Aif*-1- probe was demonstrated by an *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemical co-staining (Fig. 17). In animal models of healthy, untreated mice, the expression of galectin-3 was very low (Fig. 18a). To validate the results of the genetic loss of galectin-3 and find a potential treatment option for dry AMD, we used the chemical inhibitor TD139 in light- induced BALB/cJ mice. Therefore, 8- 10 weeks old BALB/cJ mice were dark adapted and analyzed according to the same experimental strategy as the other

mice before, the mice were treated with daily intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections of TD139 or vehicle (Fig. 18b).



Figure 17: *Aif-1* **expression in BALB/cJ. a** In situ hybridization of *Aif-1* with Immunofluorescence staining of Iba-1 four days post light exposure. ONL: Outer nuclear layer; INL: inner nuclear layer. Scale bar: 50 μm.

Representative images of cryotome sections from vehicle- treated mice revealed an increased expression of *Lgals3* and *Aif*-1 in the sections, compared to TD139-treated mice (Fig. 18c, d). The pixel intensity of *Lgals3*, *Aif*-1 and the merge of both are increased in a time-dependent fashion from one to four days post light exposure, whereas sections from TD139-treated mice had less *Lgals3* and *Aif*-1, expression (Fig. 18e, f). The expression of *Lgals3* was significantly higher in vehicle group, three and four days post light exposure, compared to TD139-treated group. The ratio of *Aif*-1 and co-expression was also significantly reduced after inhibition of the binding potential of galectin-3. To validate the effect of the expression level of *Lgals3* after pharmacological inhibition via TD139, the mRNA expression of *Lgals3* in the retina and RPE were quantified (Figure 19). Indeed, *Lgals3* transcription levels were reduced in TD139-treated mice. However, the low expression of *Lgals3* in control mice was upregulated post light exposure and could be reduced by inhibiting the binding potential of galectin-3 with TD 139.



Figure 18: *Lgals3* **expression in murine light-induced degeneration model. a** In situ hybridization of *Aif-1*(white) and *Lgals3* (red) in sections of naïve mice. Scale bar: 50 µm. **b** Experimental design for light induced degeneration model and treatment strategy in BALB/cJ mice. **c** Expression of *Aif-1* and *Lgals3* in light exposed mice one, three and four days post light damage with vehicle and **d** TD139 treatment. Scale bar: 50 µm. **e** Quantification of *Aif-1* and *Lgals3* expression in light-exposed BALB/cJ mice one, three and four days post light damage. **f** Quantification of *Aif-1* and *Lgals3* co-expression using pixel intensity (Vehicle/ TD139 naïve n= 6; 1d n=5/6; 3d n= 6/5; 4d n= 7 sections). ONL: Outer nuclear layer; INL: inner nuclear layer; GCL: Ganglion cell layer. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.



Figure 19: Gene expression of galectin-3 in the a retina and b RPE in naïve mice and one, three and four days post light exposure. (Vehicle/ TD139 n=9; naïve n= 8 eyes) Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P \leq 0.001.

3.3.3 The inhibition of galectin-3 via TD139 prevents microglia migration in the retina

To test the effect of the inhibition of galectin-3 by TD139 on microglia migration in the damaged retina, we further analyzed the localization of microglia in cryotome sections of naïve BALB/cJ mice and mice with light exposure and vehicle or TD139- treatment one, three and four days post light exposure (Fig. 20a, b). The ONL of light- exposed mice from vehicle- group was much thinner and demonstrate an accumulation of amoeboid shaped microglia. Retinal immunolabeling with the microglia marker Iba-1 demonstrate microglia in the nuclear layers three and four days post light exposure. BALB/cJ mice of vehicle- group showed Iba-1⁺ cells in the degenerating photoreceptor layer and subretinal space. This degeneration of the photoreceptor layer and migration of microglia in retinal cryotome sections displayed a reduced number of microglia in the ONL in TD139 treated mice, compared to vehicle-group (Fig. 20c). Thus, the treatment with TD139 prevented the migration of microglia to the ONL and subretinal space.



Figure 20: TD139 treatment dampens microglia migration in light induced degeneration. Representative images of Iba-1⁺ cells migration into the ONL in **a** naïve mice and **b** in light exposed mice one, three and four days post light damage with vehicle and TD139 treatment. Scale bar: 50 μ m. **c** Quantification of Iba-1⁺ cells in the ONL in time-dependent fashion from one to four days post light exposure (Vehicle/TD139 n= 15 sections). ONL: Outer nuclear layer; INL: inner nuclear layer; GCL: Ganglion cell layer. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.3.4 The inhibition of galectin-3 via TD139 reduces retinal microglia reactivity

We already showed that the lack of galectin-3 reduced the number of microglia in the subretinal space and the RPE. Retina and RPE flat mounts were also stained with Iba-1 in treated BALB/cJ mice. Images of retinal flat mounts from vehicle- treated mice revealed an increased number of Iba-1⁺ reactivated cells in the subretinal space three days post light exposure. The induction was more strongly after four days, whereas the amount of Iba-1⁺ cells in the retinas from TD139- treated mice was lower and these cells appeared mainly more ramified (Fig. 21 a- d). Moreover, TD139 treatment significantly reduced the induction of reactivated microglia in the subretinal space post light exposure.
mRNA expression of pro- inflammatory microglia marker. Inducible *iNos*, *Il-6*, *Casp3* and *Ccl2* on three different time points. RNA levels were normalized to *Atp5b* (ATP synthase) and the induction was calculated by comparison to naïve controls. The expression levels of *iNos*, *Il-6* and *Ccl2* were increased in retinal tissue of light exposed mice, whereas levels of *Casp3* did not change (Fig. 21e). One day post light exposure, the expression of *iNos*, *Il-6* and *Ccl2* has reached the highest level. Three days post light exposure, the expression is rapidly decreasing. From the beginning, the expression of *iNos* much higher in the vehicle group compared to TD139-treated group, so that the increase in the treated group was no longer significant on day four. The ratio of *iNos* expression between vehicle and TD139-treated group was only significant on day one. In addition, the *Il-6* and *Ccl2* expression three and four days post light exposure were also not increased in the same amount, TD139-injected mice had strongly attenuated expression levels comparable to vehicle group (Fig. 21e).



Figure 21: Microglia localization and morphology in murine retinas of light exposed BALB/cJ mice. Immunofluorescence analysis of Iba-1⁺ cells in subretinal space of retinal flat mounts from a naïve and b light exposed BALB/cJ mice with TD139- or vehicle treatment without light exposure, one, three and four days post light exposure. Scale bar: $50 \,\mu\text{m}$. c Quantification of Iba1⁺ area in 0.045 mm² of the Retina. (Vehicle/ TD139 n= 15). d Number of Iba-1⁺ cells in the subretinal space.

(Vehicle/ TD139 n= 15). e Quantification of relative mRNA expression. *iNos*, *Il-6*, *Casp*3 and *Ccl*2 (Vehicle/ TD139 n= 6, retinas from individual mice). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.3.5 Microglia in the OPL remains uninfected by inhibition via TD139

To investigate the function of the inhibitor in more detail and its influence on the structural changes of the microglia, the morphological changes of the OPL cells were also analyzed using MotiQ. Immunohistochemical staining in the OPL showed large changes after light damage in both the TD139-treated group and the vehicle control. The images clearly showed already one day after the light damage the microglia branches retract and the cells become rounder, similar to the subretinal space. However, there is no difference between the TD139 and the vehicle group. During the morphological examinations with MotiQ analysis, the impression of the representative images was confirmed. Although the area on the first day post light exposure differs significantly between TD139- and vehicle-treated animals. However, the area remains significantly lower all the time in TD139-treated mice and vehicle group compared with naïve animals. Also in the spanning outline, a small difference is seen one day post light exposure, but this is cancelled on day 3 post light exposure. All other OPL examinations are consistently significantly reduced compared to naïve mice. Not only the area, and the spanning outlines, but also the spanned area and the outlines. The total tree length and the ramification index are also lower compared to the naïve control, and increase again equally in both groups. This suggests that TD139 has no effect on the microglial cells in the OPL.



Figure 22: Morphological changes in OPL of BALB/cJ mice post light exposure. a Representative images of the OPL from naïve mice and **b** TD139 and vehicle treated mice. **c** Morphological analysis by MotiQ, including area (μ m²), spanned area (μ m²), spanned outline (μ m), ramification index (μ m), outline (μ m) and total tree length (μ m), in the OPL of mice post light exposure. (Vehicle/ TD139 naïve n= 145; 1d n=212/151; 3d n= 224/205; 4d n= 189/225 Iba-1⁺ cells). Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001.

3.3.6 The inhibition of galectin-3 via TD139 reduces microglia reactivity in RPE

In addition, immunohistochemical staining of Iba-1 in RPE in naïve and light damaged mice were performed. It could be demonstrated Iba1⁺ cells in an amoeboid shape from day three

post light damage, in vehicle and TD139-treated mice (Fig. 23a, b). The inhibition of galectin-3 via TD139 resulted significantly the reactivity and migration of Iba-1⁺ cells in RPE compared to vehicle group. Nevertheless, there is a significant induction of reactivated microglia in the RPE in TD139-treated mice three and four day post light exposure compared to naïve mice (Fig. 23c, d). We next analyzed the expression level of *iNos*, *Il-6*, *Casp3* and *Ccl2* in RPE. Similarly, as in the retina, expression levels of *iNos*, *Il-6* and *Casp3* increased in the RPE in a time- dependent fashion from one to four days post light exposure and the TD139 treatment reduced this expression (Fig. 23e). It is noticeable that the expression of *iNos* and *Ccl2* reduced compared to the expression in the retina. Collectively, these data indicate that an inhibition via TD139 reduced migration of Iba-1⁺ microglia in the subretinal space and RPE and attenuated the expression of pro- inflammatory marker *iNos*, *Il-6* and *Ccl2*. The expression level of *Casp3* did not change in retina and RPE.



Figure 23: Localization and morphology of microglia in the RPE of BALB/c mice. Representative images of Iba-1⁺ cells in RPE from a naïve and b light-exposed BALB/cJ mice with Vehicle and TD139 treatment. Scale bar: 50 µm. c Quantification of Iba1⁺ area in 0.045 mm² in the RPE (Vehicle/ TD139 n= 15). d Number of microglia in the RPE. (Vehicle/ TD139 n= 15). e Quantification of relative mRNA expression. *iNos*, *Il-6*, *Casp3* and *Ccl2* (Vehicle/TD139 n= 6, RPEs from individual mice). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.3.7 TD139-treatment rescued reduction of retinal thickness post light exposure

Subsequently, we performed *in vivo* optical coherence tomography (OCT) with vehicle and TD139- treated mice to detect structural changes of the retina post light exposure (1h, 15000 lux) (Fig. 24a, b). Already one day post light exposure, there was a significant thinning of the retina in the vehicle group compared to naïve mice detectable, indicating a strong degeneration of the photoreceptor layer in these mice. The thinning of the retina increased clearly from day one to day four post light exposure. In contrast, TD139-treated mice displayed a normal hyperreflective photoreceptor layer similar to that of non-light-exposed naïve mice, one day post light exposure. But TD139- treated mice also implied an attenuated thickness of the retina three and four days post light exposure compared to naïve mice. In the outer and central area around the optic nerve (Fig. 24c, d). However, volume scans revealed a severe thinning of the retina, especially in the central area around the optic nerve head (Fig. 24d) post light exposure in vehicle-group, which was significantly reduced in the TD139-treated groups (Fig. 24a-d). These indicate a strong neuroprotective effect of galectin- 3 inhibition via TD139 in conditions of acute light damage.



Figure 24: TD139 prevents light- induced retinal degeneration. a Representative heat maps of naïve mice. Scale bar: 200 μ m. b SD-OCT was performed one, three and four days post light exposure to analyze changes in retinal structure. Represented heat maps show the average retinal thickness light exposed vehicle and TD139 treated mice one, three and four days post light exposure. Scale bar: 200 μ m. c Quantification of the averaged thickness of the inner (3 mm) retina and d outer (6 mm) retina. (Vehicle/ TD139 naïve n= 20; 1d n= 19/20; 3d n= 20; 4d n= 19/20.) Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Linear mixed model was used for statistical analyses; * P< 0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P≤0.001.

3.4 Model of galectin-3 inhibition via TD139

Based on the data presented in this thesis, we described that the migration of microglia is initiated by galectin-3. As well as the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and degeneration of the retina. Targeting galectin-3 by gene knockout or using a specific galectin-3 inhibitor the reactivation of microglia is reduced. In response to a light-induced damage, resident microglia starts to change their morphology and migrate to the lesion site of the damage. The reactivated microglia cells phagocytose death photoreceptor cells and the degeneration of the photoreceptor layer begins. The dysregulation and chronical activation of microglia is responsible for phagocytoses of healthy photoreceptor cells. The deficiency and inhibition of galectin-3 with TD139 decreased the reactivation of microglia and reduced the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, thereby limits it the photoreceptor cell death (Fig. 25).



Figure 25: Schematic representation of the retina under healthy, damaged, and inhibited conditions. a Schematic overview of microglia in homeostasis state, **b** in damaged retina and **c** in retina treated with TD139. **d** Represents an activated microglia cell with galectin-3 (dark blue) expression extra- and intracellular **e** demonstrate a typical microglia in light-induced degeneration model treated with TD139 (light blue) which bind galctin-3 and inhibits the immunoreaction caused by galectin-3. The mammalian retina is distributed in three cellular layers and two synaptic (plexiform) layers. 1: RPE; 2: outer segment; 3: inner segment; 4: outer nuclear layer; 5: outer plexiform layer; 6: inner nuclear layer; 7: inner plexiform layer; 8: ganglion cell layer. Modified from Karlstetter, Marcus *et al.*, 2010 and Wolf *et al.*, 2020.

4. Discussion

4.1 Galectin-3 expression in AMD

The innate immune system is one of the relevant mechanisms in the development and progression of neurodegenerative diseases, such as age-related macular degeneration (AMD). Chronically activated microglia and their dysfunctional regulatory system contribute to neurodegenerative retinal diseases (Gupta, N. et al., 2003). Therefore, the regulation of the immune system, including reactivated microglia, represents promising target structures for new therapeutic options of AMD (Karlstetter, Marcus et al., 2010). Neurodegenerative diseases were often associated with increased expression of galectin-3 (Ashraf et al., 2018; Caridi et al., 2021; Trompet et al., 2012; Yazar et al., 2021; Yip et al., 2017). Its expression is increased in glial cells during an inflammatory response and regulates migration by promoting extracellular matrix adhesion and cell survival (Dhirapong et al., 2009; Dumic et al., 2006; Sirko et al., 2015). The exact mechanism of galectin-3 regulation has not yet been explored and is not elucidated in this study. Since there is no treatment option for dry AMD available, it is essential to do research on this field. In the present study, we have shown that galectin-3 is increasingly expressed in the retina from AMD patients. In the healthy retina, galectin-3 is also expressed, but only in small amounts. This is in line with proteomics analyses from 2012, where it was shown that galectin-3 is expressed in AMD patients dependently of the developed form the patients are affected. However, the expression is highest in patients with geographic atrophy, which is the worst form of dry AMD (Fleckenstein et al., 2018; Yuan et al., 2010). Considering, AMD patients with choroidal neovascularization (NCV) also shown two to three times higher galectin-3 expression in the RPE compared to donors of the same age (An et al., 2006). Another study investigating human and mouse brain samples of Alzheimer's disease displayed galectin-3 expression in Iba-1⁺ cells around AB- plaques (Boza-Serrano et al., 2019). Consistent with this, we demonstrated that the expression of galectin-3 is produced by microglia, using in situ hybridization of cryotome sections from an AMD patient. Remarkably, although galectin-3 is expressed by microglia, some neurons, particularly in the ganglion cell layer, also express galectin-3 (Yoo et al., 2017).

4.2 Immunological effect of galectin-3 deficiency and pharmacological inhibition on light-induced degeneration

In this study, the function of galectin-3 was investigated in the light-induced degeneration model of the retina. This model is an established animal model for dry AMD because it reflects different points of AMD (Grimm et al., 2000; Wenzel et al., 2005). In the lightinduced degeneration model in mice, as in human AMD, a reactivity of microglia in the ONL and subretinal space can be observed as well as the death of photoreceptors. (Grimm et al., 2000). In many studies this model has already been applied and the comparability is given (Scholz et al., 2015b; Wenzel et al., 2005). Nevertheless, there are clear differences to the disease in humans, which differ in the formation of a macula and drusen in comparison to mice. In the present study, the effects of genetic deficiency of galectin-3 and the pharmacologic inhibition of this protein were investigated. The microglia reactivation is dependent on various factors (Biber et al., 2007; Chen, M. et al., 2019; Hickman et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2009). Photoreceptor cell degeneration is promoted by dysregulated and chronical activated microglia. Photoreceptors are often stressed by dying cells in their immediate environment and microglia phagocytose the stressed but healthy photoreceptors (Zhao et al., 2015). It has been reported that microglia increase galectin-3 expression, particularly under stressful conditions (Lalancette-Hébert et al., 2012). Therefore, microglia were stimulated in cell culture and shown strong gene expression and secretion of galectin-3 (Cockram et al., 2019). This could also be demonstrated in mouse models (Siew et al., 2019; Yip et al., 2017). Using the mouse model of light-induced retinal degeneration, we also found an increase in gene expression of galectin-3 in WT mice after light exposure.

Here, two mouse lines were used, the first experiments were performed with galectin-3 knockout (*Lgals3*-KO) mice. Using this mouse line, we were able to determine the influence of a loss of galectin-3 in mice in our model of dry AMD. Furthermore, it is investigated that galectin-3 deficiency in the whole body of the animals shows some differences between *Lgals3*-KO and WT mice. On the one hand, there is the assumption that galectin-3 deficient animals be obese (Pang *et al.*, 2013; Pejnovic *et al.*, 2013). This could cause an increased light damage in our light induced degeneration model, because obesity is a risk for a more severe progression of AMD (Fritsche *et al.*, 2014; Parekh *et al.*, 2009). On the other hand, studies show that weight gain is reduced in galectin-3 deficient animals compared to WT mice (Pejnovic *et al.*, 2013). However, galectin-3 is also secreted more in mouse models with a high fat diet (Yilmaz *et al.*, 2015). Another important point is that galectin-3 plays an

essential role of the immune system and controls many functions of immune cells. It is essential for cell-cell and cell-matrix interaction (Delacour et al., 2008; Jiang et al., 2014). Furthermore, it is involved in cell growth, proliferation, differentiation and inflammatory processes (Nakahara et al., 2005; Panjwani, 2014; Ruvolo, 2016; Sciacchitano et al., 2018). In the second part of the experiment, we were able to investigate a promising inhibitor targeting galectin-3, which could be administered directly in case of disease. Galectin-3 is defined as a target molecule for various diseases (Burguillos et al., 2015; Dhirapong et al., 2009) and new immunomodulatory molecules against galectin-3 were constantly being developed. Other studies are crucial to the development of such immunomodulatory inhibitors against galectin-3. The inhibition of galectin-3 is already described to reduced fibrosis in the lung and decreases cardiac function in the doxorubicin (DOX)-induced cardiac function model in rats (Hirani et al., 2021; Mackinnon et al., 2012; Tian, Y. et al., 2020). There are a several galectin-3 inhibitors identified. Some of these inhibitors are already in clinical trials (Chalasani et al., 2020; Curti et al., 2021; Harrison et al., 2016; St-Gelais et al., 2020). TD139, which binds to the CRD of the galectin-3 protein and is in clinical trial for the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, is one of these promising candidates (Chan et al., 2018). Additionally, it is described that TD139 binds mouse galectin-3 (Kumar et al., 2021), which leads to the decision to perform our experiments with this inhibitor.

In this study, galectin-3-deficient (Lgals3-KO) mice and those with pharmacological inhibition of the protein were exposed to a bright white light with an intensity of 15,000 lux. This allowed us to trigger an immune response very similar to dry AMD (Grimm et al., 2000; Scholz et al., 2015b). In response to this light, microglia migrate to the nucleolar layers of the retina and the RPE (Karlstetter, M. et al., 2015; Langmann, 2007; Nowak, 2006; Scholz et al., 2015b). The effect of the loss of galectin-3 in Lgals3-KO mice already led to a reduction of the immune response of the microglia in previous studies (Yin et al., 2020). The deficiency of galectin-3 may reduce the number of proliferating microglia cells in the ischemic brain (Lalancette-Hébert et al., 2012) and reduces the Alzheimer's disease phenotype by making galectin-3 responsible for the reactivity of microglia in Aß plaques (Boza-Serrano et al., 2019). By the absence or inhibition of galectin-3, we demonstrated that microglia reactivity and migration in the lesion area of the retina and RPE was significantly decreased post light exposure compared to WT and vehicle treated mice. Nevertheless, microglia continue to migrate in the subretinal space and RPE, and the migration is not completely stopped. Microglia not only respond to galectin-3 secreted by themselves, the activation of microglia is very complex and is influenced by many different components. Membrane associated and cytosolic receptors interacts with classes of PAMPs or DAMPs in the environment of microglia and promote the reactivation (Colton, 2009; Lively *et al.*, 2013; Luo *et al.*, 2012). One of the prominent pathways to induce a microglia response is probably the signal pathway of TLR-4 and Nf- κ B. In cell culture experiments, BV-2 microglia cells were stimulated with PBS and microglia directly starts with inflammatory response (Meng *et al.*, 2020). This stimulation leads to activate the Nf- κ B- pathway (Bao *et al.*, 2019). It is known that galectin-3 as a ligand of TLR-4 influences the activation of the cells via the Nf- κ B-pathway (Zhou *et al.*, 2018). However, galectin-3 is not the only ligand of TLR-4 and reactivation of microglia still occurs (Eisenstein, 2019; Zusso *et al.*, 2019). Interestingly, a study with primary microglia showed that knockdown of galectin-3 led to an almost complete transformation of microglia morphology from an amoeboid to a branched state (Reichert et al., 2019).

Surprisingly, in our mouse model, even a daily intraperitoneal injection of this inhibitor leads to reduced migration of microglia. Previously, it was only shown that systemic inhibition affects galectin-3 binding in the liver region (Yu *et al.*, 2021). In human tissue studies, the application is via the medium directly to the tissue (Shochet *et al.*, 2020). An injection straight into the eye would possibly result in an even better effect. Due to the solubility of the inhibitor TD139, dissolved in DMSO, it is not possible. However, one possibility would be to try another inhibitor (GR-MD-02) which is soluble in water (Chalasani *et al.*, 2020) and has so far only been tested in other diseases, such as NASH (Harrison *et al.*, 2016), to investigate a local effect.

Reactivation of microglia not only leads to migration and morphological change of these cells. The production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines begins with reactivation more strongly (Scholz *et al.*, 2015a; Yoshimura *et al.*, 2009). According to previous studies, we have shown that the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines was reduced in galectin-3 deficient mice (*Lgals3*-KO). Studies have shown that galectin-3 increases oxidative stress and pro-inflammatory cytokine production in cell culture experiments (Yin *et al.*, 2020). This also confirms treatments with galectin-3 resulting in increased cytokine secretion of Tnf- α , Il- 1 β , Il-6, and Inf- γ (Jeon *et al.*, 2010; Lalancette-Hébert *et al.*, 2012). Consistent with this, other studies reported that epithelial cell-associated galectin-3 activates dendritic cells to produce Tnf- α and Il-6, resulting in the increase of the expression of activation markers (Schroeder *et al.*, 2020) and induces the expression of JAK/STAT1 and other (Nita-Lazar *et al.*, 2015). In AMD, increased microglia activity is

associated with faster disease progression (Wolf *et al.*, 2020). Cytokine expression of the pro inflammatory markers *iNos*, *Il-6*, and *Ccl2* is reduced in galectin-3 deficient mice compared with WT mice. This is also be observed in other studies, showing that have shown that iNos is increased in stressed and reactivated microglia cells (Alliot *et al.*, 1999; Santos *et al.*, 2008). Experimental data show a correlation of IL-6 in AMD patients and the severity of AMD. Thus, patients in the early AMD stage show only a slightly increased production of IL-6, but patients with GA show a strong induction of IL-6 (Nahavandipour *et al.*, 2020). However, we could observe the highest *Il-6* expression on day 1 post light damage, which may cause due to the design of the model. AMD does not usually develop from one day to the next. In our mouse model, we induce light damage within a very short time, so the response is much faster. Other studies show that the Ccl2 level may be directly related to AMD (Ambati *et al.*, 2003; Combadière *et al.*, 2007; Fujimura *et al.*, 2012). Thus, reduction of Ccl2 levels by loss of galectin-3 may lead to a reduction of damage in AMD patients. We could also confirm the reduced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines with our second study in Balb/cJ mice receiving the inhibitor.

Besides the positive effect on microglia reactivation, reduced migration and decreased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, the deficiency of galectin-3 and the pharmacological inhibition also affects retinal degeneration. Therefore, we demonstrated that retinal degeneration measured by OCT appears more slowly in galectin-3 knockout mice and TD139-treated BALB/cJ mice. This could have a positive impact on vision. Degeneration of photoreceptors is a hallmark of AMD disease (Curcio, 2001; Curcio *et al.*, 1996). Consistent with previous studies, a lower immune response of microglia affects the development of retinal degeneration (Scholz *et al.*, 2015b). This is confirmed with other ocular studies show that inhibition of galectin-3 by a small chemical inhibitor reduces pathologic corneal neovascularization and fibrosis (Blanda *et al.*, 2020; Chen, W. S. *et al.*, 2017).

Thus, our data demonstrated that galectin-3 is a potential starting point for therapy in AMD patients because whole-body knockout of galectin-3 significantly reduced the retinal innate immune response, number of reactivated microglia in the subretinal space and RPE of light-exposed mice, and inhibited photoreceptor degeneration. The same could be determined in the second part of our mouse studies. Our study also revealed that inhibition of galectin-3 reduced the microglia-reactivation, pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and retinal degeneration in the model of light-induced degeneration.

65

4.3 Conclusion

In this study, we investigated the effects of genetic knockout of galectin-3 and immunomodulation by pharmacological inhibition on microglia-induced retinal degeneration in the light-induced degeneration model of dry AMD. There we could determine that microglia in AMD patients represent the major part of galectin-3 production, which occur in a lower level in a healthy retina. Furthermore, using our mouse models, we could observe that galectin-3 is a key factor in the reactivation of microglia. Loss or inhibition of this protein leads to reduced migration of microglia and lower production of pro- inflammatory cytokines due to attenuated activation compared to control animals. At the same time, light-induced retinal degeneration was attenuated. Overall, this work reflects that galectin-3 plays an important role in retinal microglial activity and confirms that inhibition of this protein is a potential immunomodulatory target for therapy against AMD.

5. References

- Ajami, B., Bennett, J. L., Krieger, C., Tetzlaff, W., & Rossi, F. M. (2007). Local self-renewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. *Nat Neurosci*, 10(12), 1538-1543. doi:10.1038/nn2014
- Akhtar-Schäfer, I., Wang, L., Krohne, T. U., Xu, H., & Langmann, T. (2018). Modulation of three key innate immune pathways for the most common retinal degenerative diseases. *EMBO Mol Med*, *10*(10). doi:10.15252/emmm.201708259
- Alliot, F., Godin, I., & Pessac, B. (1999). Microglia derive from progenitors, originating from the yolk sac, and which proliferate in the brain. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res*, 117(2), 145-152. doi:10.1016/s0165-3806(99)00113-3
- Ambati, J., Anand, A., Fernandez, S., Sakurai, E., Lynn, B. C., Kuziel, W. A., ... Ambati, B. K. (2003). An animal model of age-related macular degeneration in senescent Ccl-2- or Ccr-2-deficient mice. *Nat Med*, *9*(11), 1390-1397. doi:10.1038/nm950
- Amor, S., Peferoen, L. A., Vogel, D. Y., Breur, M., van der Valk, P., Baker, D., & van Noort, J. M. (2014). Inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases--an update. *Immunology*, 142(2), 151-166. doi:10.1111/imm.12233
- Amor, S., Puentes, F., Baker, D., & van der Valk, P. (2010). Inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. *Immunology*, 129(2), 154-169. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03225.x
- An, E., Lu, X., Flippin, J., Devaney, J. M., Halligan, B., Hoffman, E. P., . . . Hathout, Y. (2006). Secreted proteome profiling in human RPE cell cultures derived from donors with age related macular degeneration and age matched healthy donors. *J Proteome Res*, 5(10), 2599-2610. doi:10.1021/pr060121j
- Andriessen, E. M., Wilson, A. M., Mawambo, G., Dejda, A., Miloudi, K., Sennlaub, F., & Sapieha, P. (2016). Gut microbiota influences pathological angiogenesis in obesitydriven choroidal neovascularization. *EMBO Mol Med*, 8(12), 1366-1379. doi:10.15252/emmm.201606531
- Arioz, B. I., Tastan, B., Tarakcioglu, E., Tufekci, K. U., Olcum, M., Ersoy, N., . . . Genc, S. (2019). Melatonin Attenuates LPS-Induced Acute Depressive-Like Behaviors and Microglial NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation Through the SIRT1/Nrf2 Pathway. *Front Immunol*, 10, 1511. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.01511
- Armstrong, R. A., & Mousavi, M. (2015). Overview of Risk Factors for Age-Related Macular Degeneration (AMD). *J Stem Cells*, *10*(3), 171-191.

- Arnold, T., & Betsholtz, C. (2013). The importance of microglia in the development of the vasculature in the central nervous system. *Vasc Cell*, 5(1), 4. doi:10.1186/2045-824x-5-4
- Ashraf, G. M., & Baeesa, S. S. (2018). Investigation of Gal-3 Expression Pattern in Serum and Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients Suffering From Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Front Neurosci*, 12, 430. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00430
- Augusto-Oliveira, M., Arrifano, G. P., Lopes-Araújo, A., Santos-Sacramento, L., Takeda, P.
 Y., Anthony, D. C., ... Crespo-Lopez, M. E. (2019). What Do Microglia Really Do in Healthy Adult Brain? *Cells*, 8(10). doi:10.3390/cells8101293
- Badimon, A., Strasburger, H. J., Ayata, P., Chen, X., Nair, A., Ikegami, A., . . . Schaefer, A. (2020). Negative feedback control of neuronal activity by microglia. *Nature*, 586(7829), 417-423. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2777-8
- Balzano, T., Arenas, Y. M., Dadsetan, S., Forteza, J., Gil-Perotin, S., Cubas-Nuñez, L., . . .
 Felipo, V. (2020). Sustained hyperammonemia induces TNF-a IN Purkinje neurons by activating the TNFR1-NF-κB pathway. *J Neuroinflammation*, 17(1), 70. doi:10.1186/s12974-020-01746-z
- Bao, Y., Zhu, Y., He, G., Ni, H., Liu, C., Ma, L., . . . Shi, D. (2019). Dexmedetomidine Attenuates Neuroinflammation In LPS-Stimulated BV2 Microglia Cells Through Upregulation Of miR-340. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 13, 3465-3475. doi:10.2147/dddt.S210511
- Barondes, S. H., Castronovo, V., Cooper, D. N., Cummings, R. D., Drickamer, K., Feizi, T., ... et al. (1994). Galectins: a family of animal beta-galactoside-binding lectins. *Cell*, 76(4), 597-598. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90498-7
- Bayes-Genis, A., Barallat, J., & Richards, A. M. (2016). A Test in Context: Neprilysin: Function, Inhibition, and Biomarker. J Am Coll Cardiol, 68(6), 639-653. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.04.060
- Bazan, N. G., Calandria, J. M., & Serhan, C. N. (2010). Rescue and repair during photoreceptor cell renewal mediated by docosahexaenoic acid-derived neuroprotectin D1. *J Lipid Res*, 51(8), 2018-2031. doi:10.1194/jlr.R001131
- Beatty, S., Koh, H., Phil, M., Henson, D., & Boulton, M. (2000). The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of age-related macular degeneration. *Surv Ophthalmol*, 45(2), 115-134. doi:10.1016/s0039-6257(00)00140-5
- Bhutto, I., & Lutty, G. (2012). Understanding age-related macular degeneration (AMD): Relationships between the photoreceptor/retinal pigment epithelium/Bruch's

membrane/choriocapillaris complex. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 33(4), 295-317. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2012.04.005

- Bialas, A. R., & Stevens, B. (2013). TGF-β signaling regulates neuronal C1q expression and developmental synaptic refinement. *Nat Neurosci, 16*(12), 1773-1782. doi:10.1038/nn.3560
- Biber, K., Neumann, H., Inoue, K., & Boddeke, H. W. (2007). Neuronal 'On' and 'Off' signals control microglia. *Trends Neurosci*, 30(11), 596-602. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2007.08.007
- Blanda, V., Bracale, U. M., Di Taranto, M. D., & Fortunato, G. (2020). Galectin-3 in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Int J Mol Sci*, 21(23). doi:10.3390/ijms21239232
- Borrelli, E., Sarraf, D., Freund, K. B., & Sadda, S. R. (2018). OCT angiography and evaluation of the choroid and choroidal vascular disorders. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 67, 30-55. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2018.07.002
- Boza-Serrano, A., Ruiz, R., Sanchez-Varo, R., García-Revilla, J., Yang, Y., Jimenez-Ferrer, I., . . Deierborg, T. (2019). Galectin-3, a novel endogenous TREM2 ligand, detrimentally regulates inflammatory response in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol*, 138(2), 251-273. doi:10.1007/s00401-019-02013-z
- Brinchmann, M. F., Patel, D. M., & Iversen, M. H. (2018). The Role of Galectins as Modulators of Metabolism and Inflammation. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2018, 9186940. doi:10.1155/2018/9186940
- Bringmann, A., Pannicke, T., Grosche, J., Francke, M., Wiedemann, P., Skatchkov, S. N., .
 . Reichenbach, A. (2006). Müller cells in the healthy and diseased retina. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 25(4), 397-424. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2006.05.003
- Broderick, C., Hoek, R. M., Forrester, J. V., Liversidge, J., Sedgwick, J. D., & Dick, A. D. (2002). Constitutive retinal CD200 expression regulates resident microglia and activation state of inflammatory cells during experimental autoimmune uveoretinitis. *Am J Pathol*, 161(5), 1669-1677. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)64444-6
- Buchanan, J. B., Sparkman, N. L., Chen, J., & Johnson, R. W. (2008). Cognitive and neuroinflammatory consequences of mild repeated stress are exacerbated in aged mice. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 33(6), 755-765. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.02.013
- Burguillos, Miguel A., Svensson, M., Schulte, T., Boza-Serrano, A., Garcia-Quintanilla, A., Kavanagh, E., . . . Deierborg, T. (2015). Microglia-Secreted Galectin-3 Acts as a Toll-like Receptor 4 Ligand and Contributes to Microglial Activation. *Cell Reports, 10*(9), 1626-1638. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.02.012

- Burnstock, G., Krügel, U., Abbracchio, M. P., & Illes, P. (2011). Purinergic signalling: from normal behaviour to pathological brain function. *Prog Neurobiol*, 95(2), 229-274. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.08.006
- Caberoy, N. B., Alvarado, G., Bigcas, J. L., & Li, W. (2012). Galectin-3 is a new MerTK-specific eat-me signal. *J Cell Physiol*, 227(2), 401-407. doi:10.1002/jcp.22955
- Calovi, S., Mut-Arbona, P., & Sperlágh, B. (2019). Microglia and the Purinergic Signaling System. *Neuroscience*, 405, 137-147. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.12.021
- Cardona, A. E., Pioro, E. P., Sasse, M. E., Kostenko, V., Cardona, S. M., Dijkstra, I. M., . .
 Ransohoff, R. M. (2006). Control of microglial neurotoxicity by the fractalkine receptor. *Nat Neurosci*, 9(7), 917-924. doi:10.1038/nn1715
- Caridi, B., Doncheva, D., Sivaprasad, S., & Turowski, P. (2021). Galectins in the Pathogenesis of Common Retinal Disease. *Front Pharmacol*, 12, 687495. doi:10.3389/fphar.2021.687495
- Carson, M. J., Doose, J. M., Melchior, B., Schmid, C. D., & Ploix, C. C. (2006). CNS immune privilege: hiding in plain sight. *Immunol Rev, 213*, 48-65. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00441.x
- Castronovo, V., Van Den Brûle, F. A., Jackers, P., Clausse, N., Liu, F. T., Gillet, C., & Sobel, M. E. (1996). Decreased expression of galectin-3 is associated with progression of human breast cancer. *J Pathol*, *179*(1), 43-48. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9896(199605)179:1<43::Aid-path541>3.0.Co;2-n
- Cengiz, T., Türkboyları, S., Gençler, O. S., & Anlar, Ö. (2019). The roles of galectin-3 and galectin-4 in the idiopatic Parkinson disease and its progression. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg*, 184, 105373. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2019.105373
- Cerliani, J. P., Blidner, A. G., Toscano, M. A., Croci, D. O., & Rabinovich, G. A. (2017). Translating the 'Sugar Code' into Immune and Vascular Signaling Programs. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 42(4), 255-273. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2016.11.003
- Chader, G. J., & Taylor, A. (2013). Preface: The aging eye: normal changes, age-related diseases, and sight-saving approaches. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 54(14), Orsf1-4. doi:10.1167/iovs.13-12993
- Chakravarthy, U., Wong, T. Y., Fletcher, A., Piault, E., Evans, C., Zlateva, G., . . . Mitchell, P. (2010). Clinical risk factors for age-related macular degeneration: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Ophthalmol*, *10*, 31. doi:10.1186/1471-2415-10-31

- Chalasani, N., Abdelmalek, M. F., Garcia-Tsao, G., Vuppalanchi, R., Alkhouri, N., Rinella, M., . . . Traber, P. G. (2020). Effects of Belapectin, an Inhibitor of Galectin-3, in Patients With Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis With Cirrhosis and Portal Hypertension. *Gastroenterology*, 158(5), 1334-1345.e1335. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.296
- Chan, Y. C., Lin, H. Y., Tu, Z., Kuo, Y. H., Hsu, S. D., & Lin, C. H. (2018). Dissecting the Structure-Activity Relationship of Galectin-Ligand Interactions. *Int J Mol Sci*, 19(2). doi:10.3390/ijms19020392
- Checchin, D., Sennlaub, F., Levavasseur, E., Leduc, M., & Chemtob, S. (2006). Potential role of microglia in retinal blood vessel formation. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 47(8), 3595-3602. doi:10.1167/iovs.05-1522
- Chen, H. L., Liao, F., Lin, T. N., & Liu, F. T. (2014). Galectins and neuroinflammation. *Adv Neurobiol*, *9*, 517-542. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-1154-7_24
- Chen, M., Luo, C., Zhao, J., Devarajan, G., & Xu, H. (2019). Immune regulation in the aging retina. *Prog Retin Eye Res, 69*, 159-172. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2018.10.003
- Chen, P., Lee, T. D., & Fong, H. K. (2001). Interaction of 11-cis-retinol dehydrogenase with the chromophore of retinal g protein-coupled receptor opsin. *J Biol Chem*, 276(24), 21098-21104. doi:10.1074/jbc.M010441200
- Chen, W. S., Cao, Z., Leffler, H., Nilsson, U. J., & Panjwani, N. (2017). Galectin-3 Inhibition by a Small-Molecule Inhibitor Reduces Both Pathological Corneal Neovascularization and Fibrosis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 58(1), 9-20. doi:10.1167/iovs.16-20009
- Chen, W. W., Zhang, X., & Huang, W. J. (2016). Role of neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases (Review). *Mol Med Rep, 13*(4), 3391-3396. doi:10.3892/mmr.2016.4948
- Chen, X., Rong, S. S., Xu, Q., Tang, F. Y., Liu, Y., Gu, H., . . . Zhao, C. (2014). Diabetes mellitus and risk of age-related macular degeneration: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS One*, *9*(9), e108196. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0108196
- Cherry, J. D., Meng, G., Daley, S., Xia, W., Svirsky, S., Alvarez, V. E., . . . Stein, T. D. (2020). CCL2 is associated with microglia and macrophage recruitment in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *J Neuroinflammation*, 17(1), 370. doi:10.1186/s12974-020-02036-4
- Cicinelli, M. V., Rabiolo, A., Sacconi, R., Carnevali, A., Querques, L., Bandello, F., & Querques, G. (2018). Optical coherence tomography angiography in dry age-related

macular degeneration. *Surv Ophthalmol,* 63(2), 236-244. doi:10.1016/j.survophthal.2017.06.005

- Cockram, T. O. J., Puigdellívol, M., & Brown, G. C. (2019). Calreticulin and Galectin-3 Opsonise Bacteria for Phagocytosis by Microglia. *Front Immunol*, *10*, 2647. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.02647
- Cohen, S. Y., Dubois, L., Tadayoni, R., Delahaye-Mazza, C., Debibie, C., & Quentel, G. (2007). Prevalence of reticular pseudodrusen in age-related macular degeneration with newly diagnosed choroidal neovascularisation. *Br J Ophthalmol*, 91(3), 354-359. doi:10.1136/bjo.2006.101022
- Coleman, H. R., Chan, C. C., Ferris, F. L., 3rd, & Chew, E. Y. (2008). Age-related macular degeneration. *Lancet*, *372*(9652), 1835-1845. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(08)61759-6
- Colijn, J. M., Buitendijk, G. H. S., Prokofyeva, E., Alves, D., Cachulo, M. L., Khawaja, A. P., . . . Klaver, C. C. W. (2017). Prevalence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration in Europe: The Past and the Future. *Ophthalmology*, *124*(12), 1753-1763. doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2017.05.035
- Colton, C. A. (2009). Heterogeneity of microglial activation in the innate immune response in the brain. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol*, 4(4), 399-418. doi:10.1007/s11481-009-9164-4
- Combadière, C., Feumi, C., Raoul, W., Keller, N., Rodéro, M., Pézard, A., . . . Sennlaub, F. (2007). CX3CR1-dependent subretinal microglia cell accumulation is associated with cardinal features of age-related macular degeneration. *J Clin Invest*, 117(10), 2920-2928. doi:10.1172/jci31692
- Congdon, N., O'Colmain, B., Klaver, C. C., Klein, R., Muñoz, B., Friedman, D. S., . . . Mitchell, P. (2004). Causes and prevalence of visual impairment among adults in the United States. Arch Ophthalmol, 122(4), 477-485. doi:10.1001/archopht.122.4.477
- Cooper, D. N. W. (2002). Galectinomics: finding themes in complexity. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects*, 1572(2), 209-231. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4165(02)00310-0
- Cooper, D. N. W., & Barondes, S. H. (1999). God must love galectins; He made so many of them2. *Glycobiology*, *9*(10), 979-984. doi:10.1093/glycob/9.10.979
- Curcio, C. A. (2001). Photoreceptor topography in ageing and age-related maculopathy. *Eye* (*Lond*), 15(Pt 3), 376-383. doi:10.1038/eye.2001.140

- Curcio, C. A., Medeiros, N. E., & Millican, C. L. (1996). Photoreceptor loss in age-related macular degeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, *37*(7), 1236-1249.
- Curti, B. D., Koguchi, Y., Leidner, R. S., Rolig, A. S., Sturgill, E. R., Sun, Z., . . . Redmond,
 W. L. (2021). Enhancing clinical and immunological effects of anti-PD-1 with belapectin, a galectin-3 inhibitor. *J Immunother Cancer*, 9(4). doi:10.1136/jitc-2021-002371
- Damani, M. R., Zhao, L., Fontainhas, A. M., Amaral, J., Fariss, R. N., & Wong, W. T. (2011). Age-related alterations in the dynamic behavior of microglia. *Aging Cell*, 10(2), 263-276. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00660.x
- Daneman, R., & Prat, A. (2015). The blood-brain barrier. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 7(1), a020412. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a020412
- Danguy, A., Camby, I., & Kiss, R. (2002). Galectins and cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1572(2-3), 285-293. doi:10.1016/s0304-4165(02)00315-x
- Danis, R. P., Lavine, J. A., & Domalpally, A. (2015). Geographic atrophy in patients with advanced dry age-related macular degeneration: current challenges and future prospects. *Clin Ophthalmol*, *9*, 2159-2174. doi:10.2147/opth.S92359
- de Boer, R. A., Voors, A. A., Muntendam, P., van Gilst, W. H., & van Veldhuisen, D. J. (2009). Galectin-3: a novel mediator of heart failure development and progression. *Eur J Heart Fail*, *11*(9), 811-817. doi:10.1093/eurjhf/hfp097
- de Hoz, R., Rojas, B., Ramírez, A. I., Salazar, J. J., Gallego, B. I., Triviño, A., & Ramírez, J. M. (2016). Retinal Macroglial Responses in Health and Disease. *BioMed Research International*, 2016, 2954721. doi:10.1155/2016/2954721
- DeAngelis, M. M., Owen, L. A., Morrison, M. A., Morgan, D. J., Li, M., Shakoor, A., . . . Farrer, L. A. (2017). Genetics of age-related macular degeneration (AMD). *Hum Mol Genet*, 26(R1), R45-r50. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddx228
- Deckert, M., Sedgwick, J. D., Fischer, E., & Schlüter, D. (2006). Regulation of microglial cell responses in murine Toxoplasma encephalitis by CD200/CD200 receptor interaction. *Acta Neuropathol*, *111*(6), 548-558. doi:10.1007/s00401-006-0062-z
- Delacour, D., Koch, A., Ackermann, W., Eude-Le Parco, I., Elsässer, H. P., Poirier, F., & Jacob, R. (2008). Loss of galectin-3 impairs membrane polarisation of mouse enterocytes in vivo. J Cell Sci, 121(Pt 4), 458-465. doi:10.1242/jcs.020800
- Delgado-Bonal, A., & Martín-Torres, J. (2016). Human vision is determined based on information theory. *Sci Rep, 6*, 36038. doi:10.1038/srep36038

- Dhande, O. S., & Huberman, A. D. (2014). Retinal ganglion cell maps in the brain: implications for visual processing. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 24(1), 133-142. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2013.08.006
- Dhirapong, A., Lleo, A., Leung, P., Gershwin, M. E., & Liu, F. T. (2009). The immunological potential of galectin-1 and -3. *Autoimmun Rev*, 8(5), 360-363. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2008.11.009
- Di Lella, S., Sundblad, V., Cerliani, J. P., Guardia, C. M., Estrin, D. A., Vasta, G. R., & Rabinovich, G. A. (2011). When Galectins Recognize Glycans: From Biochemistry to Physiology and Back Again. *Biochemistry*, 50(37), 7842-7857. doi:10.1021/bi201121m
- Dietz, A. B., Bulur, P. A., Knutson, G. J., Matasić, R., & Vuk-Pavlović, S. (2000). Maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells studied by microarray hybridization. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 275(3), 731-738. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2000.3372
- Domercq, M., & Matute, C. (2004). Neuroprotection by tetracyclines. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 25(12), 609-612. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2004.10.001
- Dorothée, G. (2018). Neuroinflammation in neurodegeneration: role in pathophysiology, therapeutic opportunities and clinical perspectives. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)*, *125*(5), 749-750. doi:10.1007/s00702-018-1880-6
- Dumic, J., Dabelic, S., & Flögel, M. (2006). Galectin-3: an open-ended story. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1760*(4), 616-635. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2005.12.020
- Ebert, S., Weigelt, K., Walczak, Y., Drobnik, W., Mauerer, R., Hume, D. A., . . . Langmann, T. (2009). Docosahexaenoic acid attenuates microglial activation and delays early retinal degeneration. *J Neurochem*, *110*(6), 1863-1875. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06286.x
- Ebrey, T., & Koutalos, Y. (2001). Vertebrate photoreceptors. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 20(1), 49-94. doi:10.1016/s1350-9462(00)00014-8
- Eisenstein, T. K. (2019). The Role of Opioid Receptors in Immune System Function. *Front Immunol*, 10, 2904. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.02904
- Elmore, M. R., Najafi, A. R., Koike, M. A., Dagher, N. N., Spangenberg, E. E., Rice, R. A., ... Green, K. N. (2014). Colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor signaling is necessary for microglia viability, unmasking a microglia progenitor cell in the adult brain. *Neuron*, 82(2), 380-397. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.040

- Erblich, B., Zhu, L., Etgen, A. M., Dobrenis, K., & Pollard, J. W. (2011). Absence of colony stimulation factor-1 receptor results in loss of microglia, disrupted brain development and olfactory deficits. *PLoS One*, 6(10), e26317. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0026317
- Espinosa-Heidmann, D. G., Suner, I. J., Catanuto, P., Hernandez, E. P., Marin-Castano, M. E., & Cousins, S. W. (2006). Cigarette smoke-related oxidants and the development of sub-RPE deposits in an experimental animal model of dry AMD. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 47(2), 729-737. doi:10.1167/iovs.05-0719
- Espinosa-Oliva, A. M., García-Miranda, P., Alonso-Bellido, I. M., Carvajal, A. E., González-Rodríguez, M., Carrillo-Jiménez, A., . . . de Pablos, R. M. (2021).
 Galectin-3 Deletion Reduces LPS and Acute Colitis-Induced Pro-Inflammatory Microglial Activation in the Ventral Mesencephalon. *Front Pharmacol*, *12*, 706439. doi:10.3389/fphar.2021.706439
- Espinosa, B., Zenteno, R., Mena, R., Robitaille, Y., Zenteno, E., & Guevara, J. (2001). O-Glycosylation in sprouting neurons in Alzheimer disease, indicating reactive plasticity. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 60(5), 441-448. doi:10.1093/jnen/60.5.441
- Fain, G. L., & Dowling, J. E. (1973). Intracellular recordings from single rods and cones in the mudpuppy retina. *Science*, 180(4091), 1178-1181. doi:10.1126/science.180.4091.1178
- Ferreira, R., Santos, T., Cortes, L., Cochaud, S., Agasse, F., Silva, A. P., . . . Malva, J. O. (2012). Neuropeptide Y inhibits interleukin-1 beta-induced microglia motility. J Neurochem, 120(1), 93-105. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07541.x
- Fleckenstein, M., Mitchell, P., Freund, K. B., Sadda, S., Holz, F. G., Brittain, C., ... Ferrara,
 D. (2018). The Progression of Geographic Atrophy Secondary to Age-Related
 Macular Degeneration. *Ophthalmology*, 125(3), 369-390.
 doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2017.08.038
- Flotte, T. J., Springer, T. A., & Thorbecke, G. J. (1983). Dendritic cell and macrophage staining by monoclonal antibodies in tissue sections and epidermal sheets. Am J Pathol, 111(1), 112-124.
- Fowlis, D., Colnot, C., Ripoche, M. A., & Poirier, F. (1995). Galectin-3 is expressed in the notochord, developing bones, and skin of the postimplantation mouse embryo. *Dev Dyn*, 203(2), 241-251. doi:10.1002/aja.1002030211
- Francis, P. J., Hamon, S. C., Ott, J., Weleber, R. G., & Klein, M. L. (2009). Polymorphisms in C2, CFB and C3 are associated with progression to advanced age related macular degeneration associated with visual loss. J Med Genet, 46(5), 300-307. doi:10.1136/jmg.2008.062737

- François, A., Terro, F., Janet, T., Rioux Bilan, A., Paccalin, M., & Page, G. (2013). Involvement of interleukin-1β in the autophagic process of microglia: relevance to Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroinflammation*, 10, 151. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-151
- Fredriksson, R., & Schiöth, H. B. (2005). The repertoire of G-protein-coupled receptors in fully sequenced genomes. *Mol Pharmacol*, 67(5), 1414-1425. doi:10.1124/mol.104.009001
- Freund, K. B., Engelbert, M., & Fine, H. F. (2015). Individualizing the intravitreal anti-VEGF dosing regimen for long-term management of neovascular AMD. *Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retina*, 46(5), 508-512. doi:10.3928/23258160-20150521-01
- Frigeri, L. G., Zuberi, R. I., & Liu, F. T. (1993). Epsilon BP, a beta-galactoside-binding animal lectin, recognizes IgE receptor (Fc epsilon RI) and activates mast cells. *Biochemistry*, 32(30), 7644-7649. doi:10.1021/bi00081a007
- Fritsche, L. G., Fariss, R. N., Stambolian, D., Abecasis, G. R., Curcio, C. A., & Swaroop, A. (2014). Age-related macular degeneration: genetics and biology coming together. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet*, 15, 151-171. doi:10.1146/annurev-genom-090413-025610
- Fritsche, L. G., Igl, W., Bailey, J. N., Grassmann, F., Sengupta, S., Bragg-Gresham, J. L., . . . Heid, I. M. (2016). A large genome-wide association study of age-related macular degeneration highlights contributions of rare and common variants. *Nat Genet*, 48(2), 134-143. doi:10.1038/ng.3448
- Fritsche, L. G., Loenhardt, T., Janssen, A., Fisher, S. A., Rivera, A., Keilhauer, C. N., & Weber, B. H. (2008). Age-related macular degeneration is associated with an unstable ARMS2 (LOC387715) mRNA. *Nat Genet*, 40(7), 892-896. doi:10.1038/ng.170
- Fujimura, S., Takahashi, H., Yuda, K., Ueta, T., Iriyama, A., Inoue, T., . . . Yanagi, Y. (2012). Angiostatic Effect of CXCR3 Expressed on Choroidal Neovascularization. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 53(4), 1999-2006. doi:10.1167/iovs.11-8232
- Furtak, V., Hatcher, F., & Ochieng, J. (2001). Galectin-3 mediates the endocytosis of beta-1 integrins by breast carcinoma cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 289(4), 845-850. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.6064
- Galea, I., Bechmann, I., & Perry, V. H. (2007). What is immune privilege (not)? *Trends in Immunology*, 28(1), 12-18. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2006.11.004
- Garrido-Mesa, N., Zarzuelo, A., & Gálvez, J. (2013). Minocycline: far beyond an antibiotic. *Br J Pharmacol*, *169*(2), 337-352. doi:10.1111/bph.12139

- Giblin, J. P., Comes, N., Strauss, O., & Gasull, X. (2016). Ion Channels in the Eye: Involvement in Ocular Pathologies. *Adv Protein Chem Struct Biol*, 104, 157-231. doi:10.1016/bs.apcsb.2015.11.006
- Ginhoux, F., Greter, M., Leboeuf, M., Nandi, S., See, P., Gokhan, S., . . . Merad, M. (2010). Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science*, 330(6005), 841-845. doi:10.1126/science.1194637
- Ginhoux, F., & Guilliams, M. (2016). Tissue-Resident Macrophage Ontogeny and Homeostasis. *Immunity*, 44(3), 439-449. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.024
- Glass, C. K., Saijo, K., Winner, B., Marchetto, M. C., & Gage, F. H. (2010). Mechanisms underlying inflammation in neurodegeneration. *Cell*, 140(6), 918-934. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.016
- Godinho, L., Mumm, J. S., Williams, P. R., Schroeter, E. H., Koerber, A., Park, S. W., ...
 Wong, R. O. (2005). Targeting of amacrine cell neurites to appropriate synaptic laminae in the developing zebrafish retina. *Development*, 132(22), 5069-5079. doi:10.1242/dev.02075
- Green, W. R., McDonnell, P. J., & Yeo, J. H. (1985). Pathologic features of senile macular degeneration. *Ophthalmology*, *92*(5), 615-627.
- Grimm, C., Wenzel, A., Hafezi, F., & Remé, C. E. (2000). Gene expression in the mouse retina: the effect of damaging light. *Mol Vis*, *6*, 252-260.
- Gupta, N., Brown, K. E., & Milam, A. H. (2003). Activated microglia in human retinitis pigmentosa, late-onset retinal degeneration, and age-related macular degeneration. *Exp Eye Res*, *76*(4), 463-471. doi:10.1016/s0014-4835(02)00332-9
- Gupta, S. K., Masinick, S., Garrett, M., & Hazlett, L. D. (1997). Pseudomonas aeruginosa lipopolysaccharide binds galectin-3 and other human corneal epithelial proteins. *Infect Immun*, 65(7), 2747-2753. doi:10.1128/iai.65.7.2747-2753.1997
- Handa, J. T., Bowes Rickman, C., Dick, A. D., Gorin, M. B., Miller, J. W., Toth, C. A., . . . Farrer, L. A. (2019). A systems biology approach towards understanding and treating non-neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 3347. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11262-1
- Harrison, S. A., Marri, S. R., Chalasani, N., Kohli, R., Aronstein, W., Thompson, G. A., . . . Traber, P. G. (2016). Randomised clinical study: GR-MD-02, a galectin-3 inhibitor, vs. placebo in patients having non-alcoholic steatohepatitis with advanced fibrosis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 44(11-12), 1183-1198. doi:10.1111/apt.13816

- Hashimoto, D., Chow, A., Noizat, C., Teo, P., Beasley, M. B., Leboeuf, M., . . . Merad, M. (2013). Tissue-resident macrophages self-maintain locally throughout adult life with minimal contribution from circulating monocytes. *Immunity*, 38(4), 792-804. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.004
- Hickman, S. E., Kingery, N. D., Ohsumi, T. K., Borowsky, M. L., Wang, L. C., Means, T. K., & El Khoury, J. (2013). The microglial sensome revealed by direct RNA sequencing. *Nat Neurosci*, 16(12), 1896-1905. doi:10.1038/nn.3554
- Hinojosa, A. E., Garcia-Bueno, B., Leza, J. C., & Madrigal, J. L. M. (2011). CCL2/MCP-1 modulation of microglial activation and proliferation. *J Neuroinflammation*, 8(1), 77. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-77
- Hirani, N., MacKinnon, A. C., Nicol, L., Ford, P., Schambye, H., Pedersen, A., . . . Maher, T. M. (2021). Target inhibition of galectin-3 by inhaled TD139 in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Eur Respir J*, 57(5). doi:10.1183/13993003.02559-2020
- Hoeffel, G., Wang, Y., Greter, M., See, P., Teo, P., Malleret, B., . . . Ginhoux, F. (2012). Adult Langerhans cells derive predominantly from embryonic fetal liver monocytes with a minor contribution of yolk sac-derived macrophages. *J Exp Med*, 209(6), 1167-1181. doi:10.1084/jem.20120340
- Hoek, R. M., Ruuls, S. R., Murphy, C. A., Wright, G. J., Goddard, R., Zurawski, S. M., ... Sedgwick, J. D. (2000). Down-regulation of the macrophage lineage through interaction with OX2 (CD200). *Science*, 290(5497), 1768-1771. doi:10.1126/science.290.5497.1768
- Hoon, M., Okawa, H., Della Santina, L., & Wong, R. O. (2014). Functional architecture of the retina: development and disease. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 42, 44-84. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2014.06.003
- Horst, C. J., Johnson, L. V., & Besharse, J. C. (1990). Transmembrane assemblage of the photoreceptor connecting cilium and motile cilium transition zone contain a common immunologic epitope. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*, 17(4), 329-344. doi:10.1002/cm.970170408
- Hu, F., Ku, M. C., Markovic, D., Dzaye, O., Lehnardt, S., Synowitz, M., . . . Kettenmann, H. (2014). Glioma-associated microglial MMP9 expression is upregulated by TLR2 signaling and sensitive to minocycline. *Int J Cancer*, 135(11), 2569-2578. doi:10.1002/ijc.28908

- Huang, T., Cui, J., Li, L., Hitchcock, P. F., & Li, Y. (2012). The role of microglia in the neurogenesis of zebrafish retina. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 421(2), 214-220. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.03.139
- Huang, Y., Xu, Z., Xiong, S., Sun, F., Qin, G., Hu, G., . . . Peng, B. (2018). Repopulated microglia are solely derived from the proliferation of residual microglia after acute depletion. *Nat Neurosci*, 21(4), 530-540. doi:10.1038/s41593-018-0090-8
- Hume, D. A., Perry, V. H., & Gordon, S. (1983). Immunohistochemical localization of a macrophage-specific antigen in developing mouse retina: phagocytosis of dying neurons and differentiation of microglial cells to form a regular array in the plexiform layers. *J Cell Biol*, 97(1), 253-257. doi:10.1083/jcb.97.1.253
- Hur, E. M., & Kim, K. T. (2002). G protein-coupled receptor signalling and cross-talk: achieving rapidity and specificity. *Cell Signal*, 14(5), 397-405. doi:10.1016/s0898-6568(01)00258-3
- Illes, P., Rubini, P., Ulrich, H., Zhao, Y., & Tang, Y. (2020). Regulation of Microglial Functions by Purinergic Mechanisms in the Healthy and Diseased CNS. *Cells*, 9(5). doi:10.3390/cells9051108
- Ingram, N. T., Sampath, A. P., & Fain, G. L. (2016). Why are rods more sensitive than cones? *J Physiol*, *594*(19), 5415-5426. doi:10.1113/jp272556
- Inoue, K. (2006). The function of microglia through purinergic receptors: Neuropathic pain and cytokine release. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 109(1), 210-226. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.07.001
- Jeon, S. B., Yoon, H. J., Chang, C. Y., Koh, H. S., Jeon, S. H., & Park, E. J. (2010). Galectin-3 exerts cytokine-like regulatory actions through the JAK-STAT pathway. J Immunol, 185(11), 7037-7046. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000154
- Jiang, K., Rankin, C. R., Nava, P., Sumagin, R., Kamekura, R., Stowell, S. R., . . . Nusrat, A. (2014). Galectin-3 regulates desmoglein-2 and intestinal epithelial intercellular adhesion. *J Biol Chem*, 289(15), 10510-10517. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.538538
- Joachim, N., Colijn, J. M., Kifley, A., Lee, K. E., Buitendijk, G. H. S., Klein, B. E. K., . . . Wang, J. J. (2017). Five-year progression of unilateral age-related macular degeneration to bilateral involvement: the Three Continent AMD Consortium report. *Br J Ophthalmol*, 101(9), 1185-1192. doi:10.1136/bjophthalmol-2016-309729
- Johnson, L. V., Leitner, W. P., Staples, M. K., & Anderson, D. H. (2001). Complement activation and inflammatory processes in Drusen formation and age related macular degeneration. *Exp Eye Res*, 73(6), 887-896. doi:10.1006/exer.2001.1094

- Joslin, C. E., Vajaranant, T. S., & Ulanski, L. J., 2nd. (2017). Age-Related Macular Degeneration and Mortality in the Age-Related Eye Disease Study (AREDS): The Effect of Sex and Time. *Ophthalmol Retina*, 1(1), 49-58. doi:10.1016/j.oret.2016.09.004
- Jurgens, H. A., & Johnson, R. W. (2012). Dysregulated neuronal-microglial cross-talk during aging, stress and inflammation. *Exp Neurol*, 233(1), 40-48. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2010.11.014
- Kadrofske, M. M., Openo, K. P., & Wang, J. L. (1998). The human LGALS3 (galectin-3) gene: determination of the gene structure and functional characterization of the promoter. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 349(1), 7-20. doi:10.1006/abbi.1997.0447
- Karlstetter, M., Ebert, S., & Langmann, T. (2010). Microglia in the healthy and degenerating retina: Insights from novel mouse models. *Immunobiology*, 215(9), 685-691. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2010.05.010
- Karlstetter, M., Kopatz, J., Aslanidis, A., Shahraz, A., Caramoy, A., Linnartz-Gerlach, B., .
 Neumann, H. (2017). Polysialic acid blocks mononuclear phagocyte reactivity, inhibits complement activation, and protects from vascular damage in the retina. *EMBO Mol Med*, 9(2), 154-166. doi:10.15252/emmm.201606627
- Karlstetter, M., Nothdurfter, C., Aslanidis, A., Moeller, K., Horn, F., Scholz, R., . . . Langmann, T. (2014). Translocator protein (18 kDa) (TSPO) is expressed in reactive retinal microglia and modulates microglial inflammation and phagocytosis. J *Neuroinflammation*, 11, 3. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-11-3
- Karlstetter, M., Scholz, R., Rutar, M., Wong, W. T., Provis, J. M., & Langmann, T. (2015). Retinal microglia: just bystander or target for therapy? *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 45, 30-57. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2014.11.004
- Kasai, K., & Hirabayashi, J. (1996). Galectins: a family of animal lectins that decipher glycocodes. *J Biochem*, 119(1), 1-8. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a021192
- Kasper, M., & Hughes, R. C. (1996). Immunocytochemical evidence for a modulation of galectin 3 (Mac-2), a carbohydrate binding protein, in pulmonary fibrosis. *J Pathol, 179*(3), 309-316. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9896(199607)179:3<309::Aid-path572>3.0.Co;2-d
- Khan, J. C., Thurlby, D. A., Shahid, H., Clayton, D. G., Yates, J. R., Bradley, M., ... Bird, A. C. (2006). Smoking and age related macular degeneration: the number of pack years of cigarette smoking is a major determinant of risk for both geographic atrophy and choroidal neovascularisation. *Br J Ophthalmol*, 90(1), 75-80. doi:10.1136/bjo.2005.073643

- Kierdorf, K., Erny, D., Goldmann, T., Sander, V., Schulz, C., Perdiguero, E. G., ... Prinz, M. (2013). Microglia emerge from erythromyeloid precursors via Pu.1- and Irf8-dependent pathways. *Nat Neurosci*, *16*(3), 273-280. doi:10.1038/nn.3318
- Killingsworth, M. C., Sarks, J. P., & Sarks, S. H. (1990). Macrophages related to Bruch's membrane in age-related macular degeneration. *Eye*, 4(4), 613-621. doi:10.1038/eye.1990.86
- Klein, R., Klein, B. E., & Linton, K. L. (1992). Prevalence of age-related maculopathy. The Beaver Dam Eye Study. *Ophthalmology*, 99(6), 933-943. doi:10.1016/s0161-6420(92)31871-8
- Knibbs, R. N., Agrwal, N., Wang, J. L., & Goldstein, I. J. (1993). Carbohydrate-binding protein 35. II. Analysis of the interaction of the recombinant polypeptide with saccharides. *J Biol Chem*, 268(20), 14940-14947.
- Komatsu, H. (2006). The neural mechanisms of perceptual filling-in. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 7(3), 220-231. doi:10.1038/nrn1869
- Kozhevnikova, O. S., Fursova, A. Z., Markovets, A. M., Telegina, D. V., Muraleva, N. A., & Kolosova, N. G. (2018). VEGF and PEDF levels in the rat retina: effects of aging and AMD-like retinopathy. *Adv Gerontol*, *31*(3), 339-344.
- Krześlak, A., & Lipińska, A. (2004). Galectin-3 as a multifunctional protein. *Cell Mol Biol Lett*, 9(2), 305-328.
- Kumar, A., Paul, M., Panda, M., Jayaram, S., Kalidindi, N., Sale, H., . . . Ghosh, K. (2021). Molecular mechanism of interspecies differences in the binding affinity of TD139 to Galectin-3. *Glycobiology*. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwab072
- Lalancette-Hébert, M., Swarup, V., Beaulieu, J. M., Bohacek, I., Abdelhamid, E., Weng, Y. C., . . . Kriz, J. (2012). Galectin-3 is required for resident microglia activation and proliferation in response to ischemic injury. *J Neurosci*, 32(30), 10383-10395. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1498-12.2012
- Lamb, T. D. (2016). Why rods and cones? *Eye* (*Lond*), 30(2), 179-185. doi:10.1038/eye.2015.236
- Langmann, T. (2007). Microglia activation in retinal degeneration. *J Leukoc Biol*, 81(6), 1345-1351. doi:10.1189/jlb.0207114
- Lee, J. J., Hsu, Y. C., Li, Y. S., & Cheng, S. P. (2021). Galectin-3 Inhibitors Suppress Anoikis Resistance and Invasive Capacity in Thyroid Cancer Cells. *Int J Endocrinol*, 2021, 5583491. doi:10.1155/2021/5583491

- Lei, F., Cui, N., Zhou, C., Chodosh, J., Vavvas, D. G., & Paschalis, E. I. (2020). CSF1R inhibition by a small-molecule inhibitor is not microglia specific; affecting hematopoiesis and the function of macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117(38), 23336-23338. doi:10.1073/pnas.1922788117
- Lew, D. S., Mazzoni, F., & Finnemann, S. C. (2020). Microglia Inhibition Delays Retinal Degeneration Due to MerTK Phagocytosis Receptor Deficiency. *Front Immunol*, 11, 1463. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.01463
- Li, F., Jiang, D., & Samuel, M. A. (2019). Microglia in the developing retina. *Neural Development*, 14(1), 12. doi:10.1186/s13064-019-0137-x
- Liu, F. T., Hsu, D. K., Zuberi, R. I., Kuwabara, I., Chi, E. Y., & Henderson, W. R., Jr. (1995). Expression and function of galectin-3, a beta-galactoside-binding lectin, in human monocytes and macrophages. *Am J Pathol*, 147(4), 1016-1028.
- Liu, F. T., & Rabinovich, G. A. (2010). Galectins: regulators of acute and chronic inflammation. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1183, 158-182. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05131.x
- Liu, F. T., Yang, R. Y., & Hsu, D. K. (2012). Galectins in acute and chronic inflammation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1253, 80-91. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06386.x
- Lively, S., & Schlichter, L. C. (2013). The microglial activation state regulates migration and roles of matrix-dissolving enzymes for invasion. *J Neuroinflammation*, 10, 75. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-75
- Lotz, M. M., Andrews, C. W., Jr., Korzelius, C. A., Lee, E. C., Steele, G. D., Jr., Clarke, A., & Mercurio, A. M. (1993). Decreased expression of Mac-2 (carbohydrate binding protein 35) and loss of its nuclear localization are associated with the neoplastic progression of colon carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90(8), 3466-3470. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.8.3466
- Luo, X. G., & Chen, S. D. (2012). The changing phenotype of microglia from homeostasis to disease. *Transl Neurodegener*, 1(1), 9. doi:10.1186/2047-9158-1-9
- Mackinnon, A. C., Gibbons, M. A., Farnworth, S. L., Leffler, H., Nilsson, U. J., Delaine, T.,
 . . . Sethi, T. (2012). Regulation of transforming growth factor-β1-driven lung fibrosis by galectin-3. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 185(5), 537-546. doi:10.1164/rccm.201106-0965OC
- Maeda, N., Kawada, N., Seki, S., Arakawa, T., Ikeda, K., Iwao, H., . . . Yoshizato, K. (2003). Stimulation of proliferation of rat hepatic stellate cells by galectin-1 and galectin-3

through different intracellular signaling pathways. J Biol Chem, 278(21), 18938-18944. doi:10.1074/jbc.M209673200

- Malfroy, B., Swerts, J. P., Guyon, A., Roques, B. P., & Schwartz, J. C. (1978). High-affinity enkephalin-degrading peptidase in brain is increased after morphine. *Nature*, 276(5687), 523-526. doi:10.1038/276523a0
- Malhotra, A., Minja, F. J., Crum, A., & Burrowes, D. (2011). Ocular Anatomy and Cross-Sectional Imaging of the Eye. *Seminars in Ultrasound, CT and MRI, 32*(1), 2-13. doi:https://doi.org/10.1053/j.sult.2010.10.009
- Marín-Teva, J. L., Dusart, I., Colin, C., Gervais, A., van Rooijen, N., & Mallat, M. (2004). Microglia promote the death of developing Purkinje cells. *Neuron*, 41(4), 535-547. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(04)00069-8
- Marinelli, S., Basilico, B., Marrone, M. C., & Ragozzino, D. (2019). Microglia-neuron crosstalk: Signaling mechanism and control of synaptic transmission. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, 94, 138-151. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2019.05.017
- Masland, R. H. (2001). The fundamental plan of the retina. *Nat Neurosci*, *4*(9), 877-886. doi:10.1038/nn0901-877
- McLeod, D. S., Grebe, R., Bhutto, I., Merges, C., Baba, T., & Lutty, G. A. (2009). Relationship between RPE and choriocapillaris in age-related macular degeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 50(10), 4982-4991. doi:10.1167/iovs.09-3639
- Meng, F., Yu, W., Duan, W., Wang, T., & Liu, Y. (2020). Dexmedetomidine attenuates LPSmediated BV2 microglia cells inflammation via inhibition of glycolysis. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, 34(3), 313-320. doi:10.1111/fcp.12528
- Menon, R. P., & Hughes, R. C. (1999). Determinants in the N-terminal domains of galectin-3 for secretion by a novel pathway circumventing the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi complex. *Eur J Biochem*, 264(2), 569-576. doi:10.1046/j.1432-1327.1999.00671.x
- Minten, C., Terry, R., Deffrasnes, C., King, N. J., & Campbell, I. L. (2012). IFN regulatory factor 8 is a key constitutive determinant of the morphological and molecular properties of microglia in the CNS. *PLoS One*, 7(11), e49851. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0049851
- Mitchell, P., Liew, G., Gopinath, B., & Wong, T. Y. (2018). Age-related macular degeneration. *The Lancet*, *392*(10153), 1147-1159. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31550-2
- Mullins, R. F., Aptsiauri, N., & Hageman, G. S. (2001). Structure and composition of drusen associated with glomerulonephritis: implications for the role of complement

activation in drusen biogenesis. *Eye (Lond)*, 15(Pt 3), 390-395. doi:10.1038/eye.2001.142

- Nahavandipour, A., Krogh Nielsen, M., Sørensen, T. L., & Subhi, Y. (2020). Systemic levels of interleukin-6 in patients with age-related macular degeneration: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Ophthalmol.* doi:10.1111/aos.14402
- Nakahara, S., Oka, N., & Raz, A. (2005). On the role of galectin-3 in cancer apoptosis. *Apoptosis*, 10(2), 267-275. doi:10.1007/s10495-005-0801-y
- Nathan, C., & Muller, W. A. (2001). Putting the brakes on innate immunity: a regulatory role for CD200? *Nat Immunol*, 2(1), 17-19. doi:10.1038/83124
- Nayak, D., Roth, T. L., & McGavern, D. B. (2014). Microglia development and function. *Annu Rev Immunol, 32*, 367-402. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120240
- Neal, M. L., Fleming, S. M., Budge, K. M., Boyle, A. M., Kim, C., Alam, G., ... Richardson, J. R. (2020). Pharmacological inhibition of CSF1R by GW2580 reduces microglial proliferation and is protective against neuroinflammation and dopaminergic neurodegeneration. *Faseb j*, 34(1), 1679-1694. doi:10.1096/fj.201900567RR
- Newman, A. M., Gallo, N. B., Hancox, L. S., Miller, N. J., Radeke, C. M., Maloney, M. A., ... Radeke, M. J. (2012). Systems-level analysis of age-related macular degeneration reveals global biomarkers and phenotype-specific functional networks. *Genome Med*, 4(2), 16. doi:10.1186/gm315
- Newman, E., & Reichenbach, A. (1996). The Müller cell: a functional element of the retina. *Trends Neurosci, 19*(8), 307-312. doi:10.1016/0166-2236(96)10040-0
- Nickle, B., & Robinson, P. R. (2007). The opsins of the vertebrate retina: insights from structural, biochemical, and evolutionary studies. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 64(22), 2917-2932. doi:10.1007/s00018-007-7253-1
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., & Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science*, *308*(5726), 1314-1318. doi:10.1126/science.1110647
- Nita-Lazar, M., Banerjee, A., Feng, C., & Vasta, G. R. (2015). Galectins regulate the inflammatory response in airway epithelial cells exposed to microbial neuraminidase by modulating the expression of SOCS1 and RIG1. *Mol Immunol*, 68(2 Pt A), 194-202. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2015.08.005
- Nomura, K., Vilalta, A., Allendorf, D. H., Hornik, T. C., & Brown, G. C. (2017). Activated Microglia Desialylate and Phagocytose Cells via Neuraminidase, Galectin-3, and

Mer Tyrosine Kinase. *J Immunol*, *198*(12), 4792-4801. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502532

- Nowak, J. Z. (2006). Age-related macular degeneration (AMD): pathogenesis and therapy. *Pharmacol Rep, 58*(3), 353-363.
- Orihuela, R., McPherson, C. A., & Harry, G. J. (2016). Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states. *Br J Pharmacol*, *173*(4), 649-665. doi:10.1111/bph.13139
- Pang, J., Rhodes, D. H., Pini, M., Akasheh, R. T., Castellanos, K. J., Cabay, R. J., . . . Fantuzzi, G. (2013). Increased adiposity, dysregulated glucose metabolism and systemic inflammation in Galectin-3 KO mice. *PLoS One*, 8(2), e57915. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057915
- Panjwani, N. (2014). Role of galectins in re-epithelialization of wounds. *Ann Transl Med*, 2(9), 89. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2014.09.09
- Paolicelli, R. C., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., . . . Gross, C. T. (2011). Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science*, 333(6048), 1456-1458. doi:10.1126/science.1202529
- Parekh, N., Voland, R. P., Moeller, S. M., Blodi, B. A., Ritenbaugh, C., Chappell, R. J., . . . Mares, J. A. (2009). Association between dietary fat intake and age-related macular degeneration in the Carotenoids in Age-Related Eye Disease Study (CAREDS): an ancillary study of the Women's Health Initiative. *Arch Ophthalmol*, 127(11), 1483-1493. doi:10.1001/archophthalmol.2009.130
- Park, J., Min, J. S., Kim, B., Chae, U. B., Yun, J. W., Choi, M. S., . . . Lee, D. S. (2015). Mitochondrial ROS govern the LPS-induced pro-inflammatory response in microglia cells by regulating MAPK and NF-κB pathways. *Neurosci Lett*, 584, 191-196. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.10.016
- Parkhurst, C. N., Yang, G., Ninan, I., Savas, J. N., Yates, J. R., 3rd, Lafaille, J. J., . . . Gan, W. B. (2013). Microglia promote learning-dependent synapse formation through brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Cell*, 155(7), 1596-1609. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.030
- Pejnovic, N. N., Pantic, J. M., Jovanovic, I. P., Radosavljevic, G. D., Milovanovic, M. Z., Nikolic, I. G., . . . Lukic, M. L. (2013). Galectin-3 deficiency accelerates high-fat diet-induced obesity and amplifies inflammation in adipose tissue and pancreatic islets. *Diabetes*, 62(6), 1932-1944. doi:10.2337/db12-0222

- Pelvig, D. P., Pakkenberg, H., Stark, A. K., & Pakkenberg, B. (2008). Neocortical glial cell numbers in human brains. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 29(11), 1754-1762. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.04.013
- Penfold, P. L., Madigan, M. C., Gillies, M. C., & Provis, J. M. (2001). Immunological and aetiological aspects of macular degeneration. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 20(3), 385-414. doi:10.1016/s1350-9462(00)00025-2
- Pennington, K. L., & DeAngelis, M. M. (2016). Epidemiology of age-related macular degeneration (AMD): associations with cardiovascular disease phenotypes and lipid factors. *Eye and Vision*, 3(1), 34. doi:10.1186/s40662-016-0063-5
- Persidsky, Y., Ghorpade, A., Rasmussen, J., Limoges, J., Liu, X. J., Stins, M., . . . Gendelman, H. E. (1999). Microglial and astrocyte chemokines regulate monocyte migration through the blood-brain barrier in human immunodeficiency virus-1 encephalitis. *Am J Pathol*, 155(5), 1599-1611. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)65476-4
- Poirier, F., & Robertson, E. J. (1993). Normal development of mice carrying a null mutation in the gene encoding the L14 S-type lectin. *Development*, *119*(4), 1229-1236.
- Provis, J. M. (2001). Development of the primate retinal vasculature. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 20(6), 799-821. doi:10.1016/s1350-9462(01)00012-x
- Provis, J. M., Dubis, A. M., Maddess, T., & Carroll, J. (2013). Adaptation of the central retina for high acuity vision: cones, the fovea and the avascular zone. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 35, 63-81. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2013.01.005
- Puigdellívol, M., Allendorf, D. H., & Brown, G. C. (2020). Sialylation and Galectin-3 in Microglia-Mediated Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 14, 162. doi:10.3389/fncel.2020.00162
- Purves, D., Lotto, R. B., Williams, S. M., Nundy, S., & Yang, Z. (2001). Why we see things the way we do: evidence for a wholly empirical strategy of vision. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 356(1407), 285-297. doi:10.1098/rstb.2000.0772
- Rabinovich, G. A., Baum, L. G., Tinari, N., Paganelli, R., Natoli, C., Liu, F.-T., & Iacobelli, S. (2002). Galectins and their ligands: amplifiers, silencers or tuners of the inflammatory response? *Trends in Immunology*, 23(6), 313-320. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02232-9
- Rabinovich, G. A., & Croci, D. O. (2012). Regulatory circuits mediated by lectin-glycan interactions in autoimmunity and cancer. *Immunity*, *36*(3), 322-335. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.03.004

- Rabinovich, G. A., & Toscano, M. A. (2009). Turning 'sweet' on immunity: galectin-glycan interactions in immune tolerance and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9(5), 338-352. doi:10.1038/nri2536
- Radu, R. A., Hu, J., Peng, J., Bok, D., Mata, N. L., & Travis, G. H. (2008). Retinal pigment epithelium-retinal G protein receptor-opsin mediates light-dependent translocation of all-trans-retinyl esters for synthesis of visual chromophore in retinal pigment epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, 283(28), 19730-19738. doi:10.1074/jbc.M801288200
- Raimond, J., Zimonjic, D. B., Mignon, C., Mattei, M., Popescu, N. C., Monsigny, M., & Legrand, A. (1997). Mapping of the galectin-3 gene (LGALS3) to human chromosome 14 at region 14q21-22. *Mamm Genome*, 8(9), 706-707. doi:10.1007/s003359900548
- Ramírez Hernández, E., Sánchez-Maldonado, C., Mayoral Chávez, M. A., Hernández-Zimbrón, L. F., Patricio Martínez, A., Zenteno, E., & Limón Pérez de León, I. D. (2020). The therapeutic potential of galectin-1 and galectin-3 in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 20(5), 439-448. doi:10.1080/14737175.2020.1750955
- Ramos-Martinez, I., Martínez-Loustalot, P., Lozano, L., Issad, T., Limón, D., Díaz, A., ... Zenteno, E. (2018). Neuroinflammation induced by amyloid β25-35 modifies mucintype O-glycosylation in the rat's hippocampus. *Neuropeptides*, 67, 56-62. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2017.11.008
- Rashid, K., Wolf, A., & Langmann, T. (2018). Microglia Activation and Immunomodulatory Therapies for Retinal Degenerations. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 12, 176. doi:10.3389/fncel.2018.00176
- Rathnasamy, G., Foulds, W. S., Ling, E. A., & Kaur, C. (2019). Retinal microglia A key player in healthy and diseased retina. *Prog Neurobiol*, 173, 18-40. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2018.05.006
- Rosenbauer, F., & Tenen, D. G. (2007). Transcription factors in myeloid development: balancing differentiation with transformation. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 7(2), 105-117. doi:10.1038/nri2024
- Rosin, J. M., Vora, S. R., & Kurrasch, D. M. (2018). Depletion of embryonic microglia using the CSF1R inhibitor PLX5622 has adverse sex-specific effects on mice, including accelerated weight gain, hyperactivity and anxiolytic-like behaviour. *Brain Behav Immun*, 73, 682-697. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2018.07.023
- Ruvolo, P. P. (2016). Galectin 3 as a guardian of the tumor microenvironment. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1863(3), 427-437. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.08.008

- Rymo, S. F., Gerhardt, H., Wolfhagen Sand, F., Lang, R., Uv, A., & Betsholtz, C. (2011). A two-way communication between microglial cells and angiogenic sprouts regulates angiogenesis in aortic ring cultures. *PLoS One*, 6(1), e15846. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015846
- Saada, A., Reichert, F., & Rotshenker, S. (1996). Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor produced in lesioned peripheral nerves induces the up-regulation of cell surface expression of MAC-2 by macrophages and Schwann cells. *J Cell Biol*, 133(1), 159-167. doi:10.1083/jcb.133.1.159
- Santos, A. M., Calvente, R., Tassi, M., Carrasco, M. C., Martín-Oliva, D., Marín-Teva, J. L., . . Cuadros, M. A. (2008). Embryonic and postnatal development of microglial cells in the mouse retina. *J Comp Neurol*, 506(2), 224-239. doi:10.1002/cne.21538
- Schafer, D. P., Lehrman, E. K., Kautzman, A. G., Koyama, R., Mardinly, A. R., Yamasaki,
 R., . . . Stevens, B. (2012). Microglia sculpt postnatal neural circuits in an activity
 and complement-dependent manner. *Neuron*, 74(4), 691-705.
 doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.026
- Schmidl, D., Garhöfer, G., & Schmetterer, L. (2015). Nutritional supplements in age-related macular degeneration. *Acta Ophthalmol, 93*(2), 105-121. doi:10.1111/aos.12650
- Scholz, R., Caramoy, A., Bhuckory, M. B., Rashid, K., Chen, M., Xu, H., . . . Langmann, T. (2015a). Targeting translocator protein (18 kDa) (TSPO) dampens pro-inflammatory microglia reactivity in the retina and protects from degeneration. J Neuroinflammation, 12(1), 201. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0422-5
- Scholz, R., Sobotka, M., Caramoy, A., Stempfl, T., Moehle, C., & Langmann, T. (2015b). Minocycline counter-regulates pro-inflammatory microglia responses in the retina and protects from degeneration. *J Neuroinflammation*, *12*, 209. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0431-4
- Schroeder, J. T., Adeosun, A. A., & Bieneman, A. P. (2020). Epithelial Cell-Associated Galectin-3 Activates Human Dendritic Cell Subtypes for Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines. *Front Immunol*, 11, 524826. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.524826
- Schubert, T., Huckfeldt, R. M., Parker, E., Campbell, J. E., & Wong, R. O. (2010). Assembly of the outer retina in the absence of GABA synthesis in horizontal cells. *Neural Dev*, 5, 15. doi:10.1186/1749-8104-5-15
- Sciacchitano, S., Lavra, L., Morgante, A., Ulivieri, A., Magi, F., De Francesco, G. P., ... Ricci, A. (2018). Galectin-3: One Molecule for an Alphabet of Diseases, from A to Z. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 19(2), 379.

- Seetharaman, J., Kanigsberg, A., Slaaby, R., Leffler, H., Barondes, S. H., & Rini, J. M. (1998). X-ray crystal structure of the human galectin-3 carbohydrate recognition domain at 2.1-A resolution. J Biol Chem, 273(21), 13047-13052. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.21.13047
- Shi, C. S., Shenderov, K., Huang, N. N., Kabat, J., Abu-Asab, M., Fitzgerald, K. A., . . . Kehrl, J. H. (2012). Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1β production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. *Nat Immunol*, *13*(3), 255-263. doi:10.1038/ni.2215
- Shin, T. (2013). The pleiotropic effects of galectin-3 in neuroinflammation: a review. *Acta Histochem*, *115*(5), 407-411. doi:10.1016/j.acthis.2012.11.010
- Shochet, G. E., Pomerantz, A., Shitrit, D., Bardenstein-Wald, B., Ask, K., Surber, M., . . . Zitman-Gal, T. (2020). Galectin-3 levels are elevated following nintedanib treatment. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis*, 11, 2040622320968412. doi:10.1177/2040622320968412
- Sierra, A., Encinas, J. M., Deudero, J. J., Chancey, J. H., Enikolopov, G., Overstreet-Wadiche, L. S., . . . Maletic-Savatic, M. (2010). Microglia shape adult hippocampal neurogenesis through apoptosis-coupled phagocytosis. *Cell Stem Cell*, 7(4), 483-495. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2010.08.014
- Sierra, A., Gottfried-Blackmore, A. C., McEwen, B. S., & Bulloch, K. (2007). Microglia derived from aging mice exhibit an altered inflammatory profile. *Glia*, 55(4), 412-424. doi:10.1002/glia.20468
- Siew, J. J., Chen, H. M., Chen, H. Y., Chen, H. L., Chen, C. M., Soong, B. W., . . . Chern, Y. (2019). Galectin-3 is required for the microglia-mediated brain inflammation in a model of Huntington's disease. *Nat Commun*, 10(1), 3473. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11441-0
- Silverman, S. M., & Wong, W. T. (2018). Microglia in the Retina: Roles in Development, Maturity, and Disease. Annu Rev Vis Sci, 4, 45-77. doi:10.1146/annurev-vision-091517-034425
- Simpson, D. S. A., & Oliver, P. L. (2020). ROS Generation in Microglia: Understanding Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in Neurodegenerative Disease. *Antioxidants* (*Basel*), 9(8). doi:10.3390/antiox9080743
- Singh, N., Srinivasan, S., Muralidharan, V., Roy, R., V, J., & Raman, R. (2017). Prevention of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila), 6(6), 520-526. doi:10.22608/apo.2017416
- Sirko, S., Irmler, M., Gascón, S., Bek, S., Schneider, S., Dimou, L., . . . Götz, M. (2015). Astrocyte reactivity after brain injury-: The role of galectins 1 and 3. *Glia*, 63(12), 2340-2361. doi:10.1002/glia.22898
- Smetana, K., Holíková, Z., Klubal, R., Bovin, N. V., Dvoránková, B., Bartůnková, J., . . . Gabius, H. J. (1999). Coexpression of binding sites for A(B) histo-blood group trisaccharides with galectin-3 and Lag antigen in human Langerhans cells. *J Leukoc Biol*, 66(4), 644-649. doi:10.1002/jlb.66.4.644
- Spangenberg, E., Severson, P. L., Hohsfield, L. A., Crapser, J., Zhang, J., Burton, E. A., ... Green, K. N. (2019). Sustained microglial depletion with CSF1R inhibitor impairs parenchymal plaque development in an Alzheimer's disease model. *Nat Commun*, 10(1), 3758. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11674-z
- St-Gelais, J., Denavit, V., & Giguère, D. (2020). Efficient synthesis of a galectin inhibitor clinical candidate (TD139) using a Payne rearrangement/azidation reaction cascade. *Org Biomol Chem*, 18(20), 3903-3907. doi:10.1039/d0ob00910e
- Stapleton, J. A., Endo, K., Fujita, Y., Hayashi, K., Takinoue, M., Saito, H., & Inoue, T. (2012). Feedback Control of Protein Expression in Mammalian Cells by Tunable Synthetic Translational Inhibition. ACS Synthetic Biology, 1(3), 83-88. doi:10.1021/sb200005w
- Starossom, S. C., Mascanfroni, I. D., Imitola, J., Cao, L., Raddassi, K., Hernandez, S. F., . . . Rabinovich, G. A. (2012). Galectin-1 deactivates classically activated microglia and protects from inflammation-induced neurodegeneration. *Immunity*, 37(2), 249-263. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.023
- Streit, W. J., Conde, J. R., Fendrick, S. E., Flanary, B. E., & Mariani, C. L. (2005). Role of microglia in the central nervous system's immune response. *Neurol Res*, 27(7), 685-691. doi:10.1179/016164105X49463a
- Swaroop, S., Mahadevan, A., Shankar, S. K., Adlakha, Y. K., & Basu, A. (2018). HSP60 critically regulates endogenous IL-1β production in activated microglia by stimulating NLRP3 inflammasome pathway. *J Neuroinflammation*, 15(1), 177. doi:10.1186/s12974-018-1214-5
- Tao, C. C., Cheng, K. M., Ma, Y. L., Hsu, W. L., Chen, Y. C., Fuh, J. L., . . . Lee, E. H. Y. (2020). Galectin-3 promotes Aβ oligomerization and Aβ toxicity in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Cell Death Differ*, 27(1), 192-209. doi:10.1038/s41418-019-0348-z

- Teng, Y. D., Choi, H., Onario, R. C., Zhu, S., Desilets, F. C., Lan, S., . . . Friedlander, R. M. (2004). Minocycline inhibits contusion-triggered mitochondrial cytochrome c release and mitigates functional deficits after spinal cord injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A, 101(9), 3071-3076. doi:10.1073/pnas.0306239101
- Thakkinstian, A., Dmitrienko, S., Gerbase-Delima, M., McDaniel, D. O., Inigo, P., Chow, K. M., . . . Attia, J. (2008). Association between cytokine gene polymorphisms and outcomes in renal transplantation: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. *Nephrol Dial Transplant, 23*(9), 3017-3023. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfn185
- Tian, N., & Copenhagen, D. R. (2003). Visual stimulation is required for refinement of ON and OFF pathways in postnatal retina. *Neuron*, 39(1), 85-96. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00389-1
- Tian, Y., Lv, W., Lu, C., Jiang, Y., Yang, X., & Song, M. (2020). Galectin-3 inhibition attenuates doxorubicin-induced cardiac dysfunction by upregulating the expression of peroxiredoxin-4. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 98(10), 700-707. doi:10.1139/cjpp-2019-0700
- Trompet, S., Jukema, W., Mooijaart, S. P., Ford, I., Stott, D. J., Westendorp, R. G., & de Craen, A. J. (2012). Genetic variation in galectin-3 gene associates with cognitive function at old age. *Neurobiol Aging*, 33(9), 2232.e2231-2232.e2239. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.05.001
- Truong, M. J., Gruart, V., Kusnierz, J. P., Papin, J. P., Loiseau, S., Capron, A., & Capron, M. (1993a). Human neutrophils express immunoglobulin E (IgE)-binding proteins (Mac-2/epsilon BP) of the S-type lectin family: role in IgE-dependent activation. J *Exp Med*, 177(1), 243-248. doi:10.1084/jem.177.1.243
- Truong, M. J., Gruart, V., Liu, F. T., Prin, L., Capron, A., & Capron, M. (1993b). IgEbinding molecules (Mac-2/epsilon BP) expressed by human eosinophils. Implication in IgE-dependent eosinophil cytotoxicity. *Eur J Immunol*, 23(12), 3230-3235. doi:10.1002/eji.1830231228
- van den Brûle, F., Califice, S., & Castronovo, V. (2002). Expression of galectins in cancer: a critical review. *Glycoconj J*, *19*(7-9), 537-542. doi:10.1023/B:GLYC.0000014083.48508.6a
- Van den Brûle, F. A., Fernandez, P. L., Buicu, C., Liu, F. T., Jackers, P., Lambotte, R., & Castronovo, V. (1997). Differential expression of galectin-1 and galectin-3 during first trimester human embryogenesis. *Dev Dyn, 209*(4), 399-405. doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0177(199708)209:4<399::Aid-aja7>3.0.Co;2-d

- Vecino, E., Rodriguez, F. D., Ruzafa, N., Pereiro, X., & Sharma, S. C. (2016). Glia–neuron interactions in the mammalian retina. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 51, 1-40. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2015.06.003
- Vlassara, H., Li, Y. M., Imani, F., Wojciechowicz, D., Yang, Z., Liu, F. T., & Cerami, A. (1995). Identification of galectin-3 as a high-affinity binding protein for advanced glycation end products (AGE): a new member of the AGE-receptor complex. *Mol Med*, 1(6), 634-646.
- Volarevic, V., Markovic, B. S., Bojic, S., Stojanovic, M., Nilsson, U., Leffler, H., ... Lukic, M. L. (2015). Gal-3 regulates the capacity of dendritic cells to promote NKT-cell-induced liver injury. *Eur J Immunol*, 45(2), 531-543. doi:10.1002/eji.201444849
- Wake, H., Moorhouse, A. J., Miyamoto, A., & Nabekura, J. (2013). Microglia: actively surveying and shaping neuronal circuit structure and function. *Trends Neurosci*, 36(4), 209-217. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2012.11.007
- Wang, X., Zhao, L., Zhang, J., Fariss, R. N., Ma, W., Kretschmer, F., . . . Wong, W. T. (2016). Requirement for Microglia for the Maintenance of Synaptic Function and Integrity in the Mature Retina. J Neurosci, 36(9), 2827-2842. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3575-15.2016
- Wässle, H. (2004). Parallel processing in the mammalian retina. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 5(10), 747-757. doi:10.1038/nrn1497
- Wenzel, A., Grimm, C., Samardzija, M., & Remé, C. E. (2005). Molecular mechanisms of light-induced photoreceptor apoptosis and neuroprotection for retinal degeneration. *Prog Retin Eye Res, 24*(2), 275-306. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2004.08.002
- Winkler, B. S., Boulton, M. E., Gottsch, J. D., & Sternberg, P. (1999). Oxidative damage and age-related macular degeneration. *Mol Vis*, *5*, 32.
- Wolf, A., Herb, M., Schramm, M., & Langmann, T. (2020). The TSPO-NOX1 axis controls phagocyte-triggered pathological angiogenesis in the eye. *Nat Commun*, 11(1), 2709. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-16400-8
- Wollenberg, A., de la Salle, H., Hanau, D., Liu, F. T., & Bieber, T. (1993). Human keratinocytes release the endogenous beta-galactoside-binding soluble lectin immunoglobulin E (IgE-binding protein) which binds to Langerhans cells where it modulates their binding capacity for IgE glycoforms. *J Exp Med*, 178(3), 777-785. doi:10.1084/jem.178.3.777

- Wraith, D. C., & Nicholson, L. B. (2012). The adaptive immune system in diseases of the central nervous system. *J Clin Invest*, *122*(4), 1172-1179. doi:10.1172/jci58648
- Wu, Y., Dissing-Olesen, L., MacVicar, B. A., & Stevens, B. (2015). Microglia: Dynamic Mediators of Synapse Development and Plasticity. *Trends Immunol*, 36(10), 605-613. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.08.008
- Xu, H., Chen, M., & Forrester, J. V. (2009). Para-inflammation in the aging retina. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 28(5), 348-368. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2009.06.001
- Yan, Y. P., Lang, B. T., Vemuganti, R., & Dempsey, R. J. (2009). Galectin-3 mediates postischemic tissue remodeling. *Brain Res, 1288*, 116-124. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.06.073
- Yang, F., Zhang, F., Ji, X., Jiang, X., Xue, M., Yu, H., ... Bao, Z. (2020). Secretory galectin-3 induced by glucocorticoid stress triggers stemness exhaustion of hepatic progenitor cells. *J Biol Chem*, 295(49), 16852-16862. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA120.012974
- Yang, Y., Zhou, Z., He, S., Fan, T., Jin, Y., Zhu, X., . . . Huang, Y. (2012). Treatment of prostate carcinoma with (galectin-3)-targeted HPMA copolymer-(G3-C12)-5-Fluorouracil conjugates. *Biomaterials*, 33(7), 2260-2271. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.12.007
- Yazar, T., Olgun Yazar, H., & Cihan, M. (2021). Evaluation of serum galectin-3 levels at Alzheimer patients by stages: a preliminary report. *Acta Neurol Belg*, 121(4), 949-954. doi:10.1007/s13760-020-01477-1
- Yilmaz, H., Cakmak, M., Inan, O., Darcin, T., & Akcay, A. (2015). Increased levels of galectin-3 were associated with prediabetes and diabetes: new risk factor? *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, 38(5), 527-533. doi:10.1007/s40618-014-0222-2
- Yin, Q., Chen, J., Ma, S., Dong, C., Zhang, Y., Hou, X., . . . Liu, B. (2020). Pharmacological Inhibition of Galectin-3 Ameliorates Diabetes-Associated Cognitive Impairment, Oxidative Stress and Neuroinflammation in vivo and in vitro. J Inflamm Res, 13, 533-542. doi:10.2147/jir.S273858
- Yip, P. K., Carrillo-Jimenez, A., King, P., Vilalta, A., Nomura, K., Chau, C. C., . . . Burguillos, M. A. (2017). Galectin-3 released in response to traumatic brain injury acts as an alarmin orchestrating brain immune response and promoting neurodegeneration. *Sci Rep*, 7, 41689. doi:10.1038/srep41689
- Yoo, H. I., Kim, E. G., Lee, E. J., Hong, S. Y., Yoon, C. S., Hong, M. J., . . . Song, D. Y. (2017). Neuroanatomical distribution of galectin-3 in the adult rat brain. *J Mol Histol*, 48(2), 133-146. doi:10.1007/s10735-017-9712-9

- Yoshimura, T., Sonoda, K. H., Sugahara, M., Mochizuki, Y., Enaida, H., Oshima, Y., . . .
 Ishibashi, T. (2009). Comprehensive analysis of inflammatory immune mediators in vitreoretinal diseases. *PLoS One*, 4(12), e8158. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008158
- Yu, H., Yang, F., Zhong, W., Jiang, X., Zhang, F., Ji, X., . . . Bao, Z. (2021). Secretory Galectin-3 promotes hepatic steatosis via regulation of the PPARγ/CD36 signaling pathway. *Cell Signal*, 84, 110043. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2021.110043
- Yuan, X., Gu, X., Crabb, J. S., Yue, X., Shadrach, K., Hollyfield, J. G., & Crabb, J. W. (2010). Quantitative proteomics: comparison of the macular Bruch membrane/choroid complex from age-related macular degeneration and normal eyes. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 9(6), 1031-1046. doi:10.1074/mcp.M900523-MCP200
- Zhao, L., Zabel, M. K., Wang, X., Ma, W., Shah, P., Fariss, R. N., . . . Wong, W. T. (2015). Microglial phagocytosis of living photoreceptors contributes to inherited retinal degeneration. *EMBO Mol Med*, 7(9), 1179-1197. doi:10.15252/emmm.201505298
- Zhou, W., Chen, X., Hu, Q., Chen, X., Chen, Y., & Huang, L. (2018). Galectin-3 activates TLR4/NF-κB signaling to promote lung adenocarcinoma cell proliferation through activating lncRNA-NEAT1 expression. *BMC Cancer*, *18*(1), 580. doi:10.1186/s12885-018-4461-z
- Zusso, M., Lunardi, V., Franceschini, D., Pagetta, A., Lo, R., Stifani, S., . . . Moro, S. (2019). Ciprofloxacin and levofloxacin attenuate microglia inflammatory response via TLR4/NF-kB pathway. *J Neuroinflammation*, *16*(1), 148. doi:10.1186/s12974-019-1538-9
- Zusso, M., Methot, L., Lo, R., Greenhalgh, A. D., David, S., & Stifani, S. (2012). Regulation of postnatal forebrain amoeboid microglial cell proliferation and development by the transcription factor Runx1. J Neurosci, 32(33), 11285-11298. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.6182-11.2012

6. Danksagung

Hier an dieser Stelle möchte ich mich bei allen beteiligen Personen bedanken, die mich bei der Anfertigung und Bearbeitung meiner Dissertation unterstützt haben.

An erster Stelle möchte ich meinen Doktorvater Herrn Prof. Dr. Thomas Langmann einen großen Dank aussprechen, der mir die Möglichkeit gegeben hat an diesem Thema zu arbeiten und die wissenschaftliche Betreuung dieser Arbeit übernommen hat, mich bei der Umsetzung und Durchführung enorm unterstützt hat. Ein großer Dank geht auch an Prof. Dr. Hoppe für die bereitwillige Übernahme des Zweitgutachtens und an Herrn Prof. Doehlemann für die Übernahme des Prüfungsvorsitzes.

Ich möchte mich außerdem herzlich bei Prof. Dr. Heping Xu und Dr. Mei Chen bedanken, mit deren Hilfe als Kooperationspartner die gewonnenen Daten validiert wurden. Außerdem gilt mein Dank der Rühling-Stiftung und Brunenbusch-Stein Stiftung, mit deren finanzieller Unterstützung das Projekt realisiert werden konnte.

Frau Dr. Anne Wolf danke ich für die zahlreichen Gespräche und konstruktive offene Kritik und Ihre Ratschläge und Anmerkungen, die mich auf dem Weg zur Anfertigung immer unterstützt haben. Auch die nichtwissenschaftlichen und motivierenden Gespräche haben meine Arbeit vorangebracht. Allen ehemaligen und aktuellen Mitarbeitern der Arbeitsgruppe ist ebenfalls ein großer Dank auszusprechen. Für die zahlreiche Unterstützung, angenehme Arbeitsatmosphäre und Zusammenarbeit richte ich ein herzliches Dankeschön an Verena Behnke, Isha Akhtar-Schäfer, Nils Laudenberg, Mandy Hector, Urbanus Kinuthia, Sarva Keihani, Khalid Rashid, Carsten Balser, Amir Khan, Moyinoluwa Taiwo, Moran Homola, Eva Scheiffert, Claudia Bismar, Ulrike Esendik und Anja Volkmann.

Nicht zuletzt möchte ich mich bei meinen Freunden bedanken, die mich zu jeder Zeit unterstützt haben, hinter mir standen, nötigen Freiraum und Ablenkung gegeben haben. Hervorzuheben ist hier Sarah Goemann, die nicht nur bei dieser Arbeit, sondern auch bei allen anderen zuvor eine große Stütze war.

Besonders möchte ich mich an dieser Stelle auch bei meiner Familie bedanken: meinen Eltern Marion und Peter Tabel, meinen Großelter Else und Willi, sowie meinen Schwestern Tina und Nena. Für die unermüdliche Stärkung und Motivation, sowie stets ein offenes Ohr und die uneingeschränkte Unterstützung, die ich erhalten habe.

7. Erklärung

Ich versichere, dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbständig angefertigt, die benutzten Quellen und Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben und die Stellen der Arbeit – einschließlich Tabellen, Karten und Abbildungen –, die anderen Werken im Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen sind, in jedem Einzelfall als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht habe; dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; dass sie – abgesehen von unten angegebenen Teilpublikationen – noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist, sowie, dass ich eine solche Veröffentlichung vor Abschluss des Promotionsverfahrens nicht vornehmen werde. Die Bestimmungen der Promotionsordnung sind mir bekannt. Die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation ist von Prof. Dr. Thomas Langmann betreut worden.

Köln, 15. November 2021

Jabel

(Mona Tabel)